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Quicksilver Resources Inc is an independent exploration and production company

focused on identifying acquiring and developing natural gas and oil located

onshore in North America Based in Fort Worth Texas the company is widely

recognized as leader in the development and production of unconventional

reservoirs including gas from shales coal beds and tight sands The companys core

developments are located in the shales of the Fort Worth Basin and the coals in the

Canadian province of Alberta In addition the company is pursuing high-potential

exploratory opportunities in the Horn River Basin of northeast British Columbia

the Green River Basin of north central Colorado and the Southern Alberta Basin of

western Montana

As of December 31 2010 the company had estimated proved reserves of

approximately 2.9 trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalents of which 99 percent

were natural gas or natural gas liquids and 68 percent were proved developed As

of February 2011 the company also owned approximately 27 percent of BreitBurn

Energy Partners L.P an exploration and production limited partnership

Quicksilver is net asset value company which focuses on growth by the drill

bit through finding and developing long-life unconventional natural gas and oil

reservoirs as low-cost producer The companys common shares are traded on the

New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol KWK



7T.aL/Jo/U2Ilcl\\yi\ciILwuaiL1annus
LrpLU.ftrr_TI4SOD\\O1110LUppiILlLhLJ11O.iSL11

.iIiqTflsiC0.1IPS3tI1jJ3nbiun

LLOSS-4-1LJ.CL1LUszLLlSftj

.LLrOJSjppLEOfllUiCrry
LI

141U1
S.Ti1O

X1ii.ur31itsuuopauojzn
-uflo-LflSCLUOLIJIlpOJClz\U40Lu\\

Sftj

L1SSSJJNSUUZI4IJOUOflO1IS13IHui11

rodUOfttLSod01jJ.11tc4ii1rLTEtoddonoptiwz.uL13SZUdstpq
._1R.ctdIls

prI1riJzOjTztcipJjS4lSSDX3ULsop-U.JJO1ucq04

114qupoiUI-sf-epI1Jj\\All-edwoDSLL1301SLiI1--9JOTiLftJJ4pJOL.f4sui.iuu

-LULIOpLrrrop1.IicusTOIj40flOUlO-UOìSJ10t1ptIU014eLL41UIU1Ju

ILWSOpILUis\l3-ö1W1U4SLp4LLLH1JzipATIL

P01-ftLJ-1CrjUI1\\dAiSC\zU4IILU0111UIJdLUOJ

iftJ0KOIX143dOcii\JrsiunöLTlUtOJ1OL44t41S113.LLI1JSL
1U4isiLI

.SrLLIZ\UL144LLtSUfl1J0LTP1U
St

Jlonpoidpuupirt04450JJ44\oTq
Uii4140L1SUtIJJtt1LDCSi

JI1pO4C1JL11JtiICLiZIIAS.siz\.fl

iC1IiSS2IiliqL1L1LUs\ifS
i1OUCSL

UiL\OJii

siL4ZL4Tdi3043.Ll3Utdpue.t-ti4U4nudziii5IL1
Sr

uqii1oJCJyi4J3C41
LLIi4iLSCLiiAiSpfSpZiUJJLIiSL.iiUnOJSiL

JiIiJJo10A5sAipcu101SJflODpLiJ_bO1-1OJflOA4OLIUii

oicooiiicpLiJiUez11LI3LsiLuwjoit1
IIlfJ13LU.1jO4lJUi5\iilOSiLULI

IIZIDUpWQi5siinpoiJiLj44UliiAJr1Ziq-jO\SiWIi\UOILM1DO.tdssiUiUiiOJ04LSIiJ1J4

OjsUC1ULWiSJACr
5\sci.sisnqiLpLUS4CaSiJLIdA\OjOSiLJ44i4SU.Ii.r

09iiSOJOJOJSFqiwv4nopwuouiqcljiiiw..iui11fl4iCsoiuudwoLiliossiIisnpLlq2
Ii1011i.IC

..iisn.purLiUiit4lUTSWU4ju1JiP0fbC3jj\SIPLOTUjCLLIiOuSI
Lr.ICUluTC4

vu1dUL1TJ\TicupiSiLIOLJJLUiSIjJui1Jpu0.0
JJOJ51314SJLUtrduicOijOICYI..IC.5

OJIZ3LULLU1SSO4WAS.1519sill3LI.\UITdLL41Ii50.101SILLUOpLl33iiAlTl
01311.003OSSJ33JJ.lSI

UC
14S

IC
CjONii

II3UIIJ.ICUISlU.LIALHUJi143114I3AJ5ltiSUOI1ITLU.1043ICLIS
i3LU.U1.1il3

i111PijLUO.9

.lJiIO.idSI
LjJOJ0.40.IS3.tLOL01UJnpOidJC4O431AJ.ICJO3LLidSLnwLioCu.Iq0.1OjOIILjJ3440LIOIJUflJSt

LUu3lLrz1u.rudSpurubi131j43S1JIwf1iJsS331II434C5jIL3LkLU-WJONLUSCWnlUOjdc1S.1ASO1U3.UU3cLIJ

.I3PUUsi1oid.1OI14OjdV33A13143AcJUlp1113jilTUt13.111.1131.11
ISO1

prnbr1SC0.0.1431103531435.100JoSCb-Wi314314.015uRNLU33191LLUO43L
Lii513.0

3ip
3130JO133iuo.idSi.13

jtSp1I1.1L10jLrOiLSLWdL10343A

55509LSCJ10011ift1t1131p3.IdillUppc1QUI3AU313.WC1113-WS3JIAJ.3SS54.13S111IL13

10413J\1iid0099033501109311p0.1dUrC3.u-14rLUiLUI4SJ.13UIS.13V40314353L

pu.1Duo.IduCdu103144TOQC
.13.50

pu$puL3\CL355zfLIULULIdSCLioninpiSilifjiLliC3.01

-0913
si10010iiiodSJijdiijnwpLICS.I3SI113333U3sipASoIcLJOJjJJIJ131

C9QS4OlClZ13LTU
$IU3O$JL3SB$.1110

.TOJS.1ai5530.IOJIL.0L1OIIIIU/S0.4Iqipp3311p3.I3.0SL3331453JUBIBLI

0431ILU3LIO1LLIC333UL1333JnpidU1Q5013351.1iLjIU1sodu.1C3p003A.3A14CLOS.i3AftSlIto

BdLUOJ11401irro.uni.modnlpCnb01B11u3Iod
343

391331
C\13d13pLC.TOIB.Ld0.1soi

pUCuo.1stLJsUBCi11Si331.9LIIU14SB$153J.13up3403z0.O4rIuiOLj4u11133.113JJ\jB.Uh1
SIIi13UiprxiCXqrIJddCL

lCuddCiouloidsT.lJ53S133IU3LUdOsupICOA-003301153095111.1LIJwdOSC$SOJ-A\OJ

usi3i0031330jdX3.1.13131311oooocroo.i\OiSC\jIsplrLdo3OUCIJSIp0319UuiSiul319IIOIUC

tui.i\OU34_i.IOL\0
sjjzsss030W31.143

Lb
oUq

3313s.iuqLIOU34JA.Ld
6YISJLiSOUOlis00313UC

CR1LUI1LISLILII.j1SC3Lj.101.1UI051311133JIT10041UiIIldOjiSSYJ.31
IJ1LftJ

LII313L10r330p0.IC.1133.5
343

133.1133U3LUdO.1$IBjJS3S\3U.1110UILIOLlJnpalClJOcjpo3CuppucopA3pnou.oiicii
p314ISSI3

Sr39133.1313
11311131113133qu.iuupnospliColLIliprujssjosILrJs3$JououJ31411LIO1J610.1l3

OOL1O-JU011.ILTCJLIITCLL1IOJOLjI4053L10ECLLI\JsA\o.i.SO.13..407SJAJSO.jpusC3.IJLU
AUBdLIIOJ

34101OZ

UILI3I55.5133.503.1003131L1CLULOT3353104.113LLIIIIOjJ.Cjd503-0j433Ssjt11111111
0.1

pioLlur03

400031133.iU4513311103500.10.153113111
OCL33SpLIt54313314053.43031d031

eanpodeqOTTueLuLom\ua

Lfl01pC2eJ3S2Lu02u1qw03914LTOflPOJdicjddnsAoUrpueUOISSC3CJepiMppOM

Aqpae4jnqueeq924AJIU11039143LUS2I2Jr42U.04Tell12WaLITSTflGISJELLii



fl illons except per sare prouctkn
and producl price data

Total revenue 832.7 800.6 561.3 390.4

Net ncome loss atributabie to Quicki1ver 55.5 378.3 475.4 90.0

ITet income loss pe th ted share 3.30 2.33 2.87 0.58

Dilutea eighted sverage number of shares

outstanding for he periods 69.0 62 68.0 166.3

Tiotalassets 612.9 4498.7 2773.8 1881.1

Long-term debt 2427 2586 788.5 887.9

Totaiequir 696.8 1211 119.5 602

Ncj gis pioduedon Mnicf 8C040 68128 59619 53266
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DEFINITIONS

As used in this Annual Report unless the context otherwise requires

ABR means alternate base rate

AMT means alternative minimum tax in the U.S

AOCI means accumulated other comprehensive income

Bbl or Bbls means barrel or barrels

Bbld means barrel or barrels per day

Bcf means billion cubic feet

Bcfd means billion cubic feet
per day

Bcfe means Bcf of natural gas equivalents

Canada means our oil and natural gas operations located in Canada

DDA means Depletion Depreciation and Accretion

GHG means greenhouse gas

GPT means gathering processing and transportation expense

LIBOR means London Interbank Offered Rate

MBb1 or MBbls means thousand barrels

MBbld means thousand barrels per day

MMBbIs means million barrels

MMBtu means million British Thermal Units measure of heating value and is approximately equal to

Mcf of natural gas

MMBtud means million Btu per day

Mcf means thousand cubic feet

Mcfe means Mcf natural gas equivalents calculated as one Bbl of oil or NGLs equaling six Mcf of
gas

MMcf means million cubic feet

MMcfd means million cubic feet per day

MMcfe means MMcf of natural gas equivalents

MMcfed means MMcfe per day

NGL or NGLs means natural gas liquids

NYMEX means New York Mercantile Exchange

NYSE means New York Stock Exchange

OCI means other comprehensive income

Oil includes crude oil and condensate

RSU means restricted stock unit

Tcfe means trillion cubic feet of natural
gas equivalents

COMMONLY USED TERMS

Other commonly used terms and abbreviations include

Alliance Acquisition means the 2008 purchase of Alliance Leasehold and midstream assets in the Alliance

airport area of the Barnett Shale

Alliance Leasehold means the natural
gas

leasehold and royalty interests acquired in the Alliance

Acquisition and developed thereafter

Alliance Midstream Assets means the natural
gas gathering system and processing facilities purchased by

KGS from Quicksilver in January 2010

Barnett Shale Asset means our operations and our assets in the Barnett Shale located in the Fort Worth

Basin of North Texas

BBEP means BreitBurn Energy Partners L.P

BBEP Unit means BBEP limited partner unit

CERCLA means the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act

Crestwood means Crestwood Holdings LLC



Crestwood Transaction means the sale to Crestwood of all our interests in KGS consisting of 100% of the

general partner units including incentive distribution rights all of our common and subordinated units

and the subordinated note due from KGS

Eni means either or both Eni Petroleum US LLC and Eni US Operating Co Inc which are subsidiaries of

Eni SpA
Eni Production means production attributable to Eni pursuant to the Eni Transaction

Eni Transaction means the 2009 conveyance of 27.5% interest in our Alliance Leasehold

EPA means the U.S Environmental Protection Agency

FASB means the Financial Accounting Standards Board which promulgates accounting standards in the U.S

FASC means the FASB Accounting Standards Codflcation which is the single source of authoritative

U.S GAAP not promulgated by the SEC

GAAP means accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S

Gas Purchase Commitment means the commitment pursuant to the Eni Transaction to purchase the Eni

Production at fixed price and which expired on December 31 2010

Greater Green River Asset means our operations and our assets in the Greater Green River Basin located

in Colorado and southern Wyoming
HCDS means Hill County Dry System gas gathering system in Hill County Texas within the Barnett Shale

Horn River Asset means our operations and our assets in the Horn River Basin of Northeast British Columbia

Horseshoe Canyon Asset means our operations and our assets in Horseshoe Canyon the coalbed methane

fields of southern and central Alberta

IRS means the U.S Internal Revenue Service

KGS means Quicksilver Gas Services LP publicly-traded partnership which we formerly owned that

traded under the ticker symbol of KGS and subsequent to the Crestwood Transaction renamed itself

Crestwood Midstream Partners LP and trades under the ticker symbol CMLP
KGS Credit Agreement means the KGS senior secured revolving credit facility

KGS Secondary Offering means the public offering of 4000000 KGS common units in 2009 and the

underwriters purchase of an additional 549200 KGS common units in 2010

Lake Arlington Project means our natural gas leasehold interests in the Lake Arlington area of the Barnett

Shale

Mercury means Mercury Exploration Company which is owned by members of the Darden family

Michigan Sales Contract means the
gas supply contract which expired in 2009 under which we agreed to

deliver 25 MMcfd at floor price of $2.49 per
Mcf

SEC means the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission

Senior Secured Credit Facility means our U.S senior secured revolving credit facility and our Canadian

senior secured revolving credit facility

Senior Secured Second Lien Facility means our $700 million five-year senior secured second lien facility

which we entered into pursuant to the Alliance Transaction that we subsequently repaid and terminated in

June 2009

Southern Alberta Asset means our operations and our assets in the Southern Alberta Basin of northern

Wyoming and Montana including our Cutbank field operations and assets
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Forward-Looking Information

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report and other materials we file with the SEC or in other

written or oral statements made or to be made by us other than statements of historical fact are forward

looking statements as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Forward-looking

statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events Words such as may assume

forecast position predict strategy expect intend plan estimate anticipate believe

project budget potential or continue and similar expressions are used to identify forward-looking

statements They can be affected by assumptions used or by known or unknown risks or uncertainties

Consequently no forward-looking statements can be guaranteed Actual results may vary materially You are

cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements You should also understand that it

is not possible to predict or identify all such factors and should not consider the following list to be

complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties Factors that could cause our actual results to differ

materially from the results contemplated by such forward-looking statements include

changes in general economic conditions

fluctuations in natural gas NGL and oil prices

failure or delays in achieving expected production from exploration and development projects

uncertainties inherent in estimates of natural gas NGL and oil reserves and predicting natural gas

NGL and oil reservoir performance

effects of hedging natural gas NGL and oil prices

fluctuations in the value of certain of our assets and liabilities

competitive conditions in our industry

actions taken or non-performance by third parties including suppliers contractors operators

processors transporters customers and counterparties

changes in the availability and cost of capital

delays in obtaining oilfield equipment and increases in drilling and other service costs

operating hazards natural disasters weather-related delays casualty losses and other matters beyond

our control

the effects of existing and future laws and governmental regulations including environmental and

climate change requirements

the effects of existing or future litigation

failure to receive proposal for transaction to pursue strategic alternatives for us or that any

transaction will be approved or consummated

costs and
expense

associated with our consideration of potential strategic alternatives including

without limitation any
related litigation expense and

certain factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report

This list of factors is not exhaustive and new factors may emerge or changes to these factors may occur

that would impact our business Additional information regarding these and other factors may be contained in

our filings with the SEC especially on Forms 10-K 10-Q and 8-K All such risk factors are difficult to

predict and are subject to material uncertainties that may affect actual results and may be beyond our control

The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are made only as of the date of this Annual

Report and we undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements to reflect

subsequent events or circumstances except to the extent required by applicable law

All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by the foregoing cautionary

statements



PART

ITEM Business

GENERAL

We are Fort Worth-based independent oil and
gas company engaged primarily in the acquisition

exploration development exploitation and production of natural gas NGLs and oil onshore in North America

We focus primarily on unconventional reservoirs where hydrocarbons may be found in challenging geological

conditions such as fractured shales coal beds and tight sands We own producing oil and natural
gas

properties in the U.S principally in Texas Colorado Wyoming and Montana and in Canada in Alberta and

British Columbia We have total proved reserves of more than 2.9 Tcfe at December 31 2010 Our

development and production areas include the following regions

the Barnett Shale

the Cutbank Field in the Southern Alberta Basin and

Horseshoe Canyon

We also have significant exploration activities in North America most notably in the following regions

Horn River Basin

Greater Green River Basin and

Southern Alberta Basin

In addition our new ventures team actively studies other basins in North America which may yield future

exploration opportunities As of December 31 2010 we also own 29% of BBEP publicly-traded oil and

natural
gas exploration and production master limited partnership

Our common stock trades under the symbol KWK on the New York Stock Exchange BBEP Units are

traded on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol BBEP

FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS

We were organized as Delaware corporation in 1997 and became public company in 1999 As of

February 16 2011 members of the Darden family and entities controlled by them beneficially own

approximately 32% of our outstanding common stock

STRATEGIC TRANSACTIONS IN THE LAST FIVE YEARS

In October 2010 we sold all of our interests in KGS to Crestwood We received $700 million in cash

net of transaction costs and recognized gain of $473 million We believe the sale of these midstream assets

allowed us to better focus on the development of our natural
gas properties while redeploying the associated

capital into projects with higher expected returns

In May 2010 we acquired an additional 25% working interest in the Lake Arlington Project that was

previously owned by our partner representing 125 Bcf of proved reserves for $62 million in cash and

3.6 million BBEP Units

In January 2010 we completed the sale of our Alliance Midstream Assets to KGS for $95 million KGS

funded the purchase primarily with proceeds from the KGS Secondary Offering which reduced our ownership

in KGS from 73% to 61%

In June 2009 we completed the sale of 27.5% working interest in our Alliance Leasehold representing

121 Bcf of proved reserves to Eni for $280 million In addition to the Alliance Leasehold which then

included approximately 13000 acres in the Barnett Shale we and Eni formed strategic alliance for

acquisition development and exploitation of unconventional natural gas resources in an area covering

approximately 270000 acres surrounding the Alliance Leasehold

In December 2008 we sold the gathering system in our Lake Arlington Project to KGS for $42 million



In August 2008 we completed the $1.3 billion Alliance Acquisition that consisted of producing and non-

producing leasehold royalty and midstream assets in the Barnett Shale Consideration in the transaction was

$1 billion in cash and $262 million of our common stock We funded the cash portion of the transaction by

incurring additional debt

In 2007 we sold all of our oil and gas properties in Michigan Indiana and Kentucky to BBEP for

$750 million in cash and 21.3 million BBEP Units valued at $724 million at the closing of the transaction

BUSINESS STRATEGY

We have multi-pronged strategy to increase share value through cost-effective growth in production and

reserves by focusing on unconventional resource plays onshore in North America This strategy takes

advantage of our proven record and expertise in identifying and developing properties containing fractured

shale coalbed methane and tight sands reservoirs Our strategy includes the following key elements

Focus on core areas of repeatable low-risk development We believe that operating in concentrated areas

allows us to more efficiently deploy our resources manage costs and leverage our technical expertise We

currently have two core development areas the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe Canyon where we have large

inventory of repeatable low-risk projects In 2011 we expect to concentrate our development drilling

primarily on our Bamett Shale Asset

Pursue disciplined organic growth opportunities We typically plan to spend 10% of our capital program

on high-potential longer cycle-time exploration projects to replenish our inventory of development projects for

the future Through our activities in multiple unconventional resource basins we have significant expertise

and demonstrated history of identifying developing and producing fractured shales coal seams and tight

sands We are focused on identifing and evaluating additional opportunities that allow us to apply this

expertise and experience to the development and operation of other unconventional reservoirs in North

America In 2011 we will continue to focus our exploratory activities on our Horn River Asset where we

hold exploratory licenses covering more than 130000 net prospective acres and in our Greater Green River

Asset where we hold approximately 150000 net acres We also expect to pursue new potential horizons on

our existing acreage in our Hom River Asset and Southern Alberta Asset We may also seek to acquire

similaracreage positions for future exploration activities

Enhance profitability through control and marketing of our equity natural gas and oil We generally seek

to maximize profitability by exercising control over the delivery of our production to distribution pipelines

owned by third parties We seek to achieve this by continuing to improve upon and add to our gathering and

processing infrastructure during the infrastructures development phase We believe this allows us to better

manage the physical movement of our production and the costs of our operations by decreasing dependency on

third parties We also monitor the spot markets for commodities and seek to sell our uncommitted production

into the most attractive markets In 2011 we expect to deploy capital to begin construction of midstream

assets for our Horn River Asset While the Crestwood Transaction caused decrease in our control of the

midstream operations in the Barnett Shale the backbone of the infrastructure is in place and has been built to

our design and the proceeds from this transaction enabled us to significantly improve our capital structure

Maintain flexible financial profile We believe that flexible financial structure enables us to capitalize

on opportunities and to limit our financial risk For example our BBEP Units provide us with additional

financial flexibility while enabling us to participate in BBEPs expected growth in market value In addition

to increase the predictability of the prices we receive for our natural gas and NGL production we hedge the

commodity price of substantial portion of our expected production with financial derivative instruments We

regularly review the credit-worthiness of our hedging counterparties and our hedging program is spread

among numerous financial institutions all of which participate in our Senior Secured Credit Facility Further

we may enter into long-term hedges to provide such predictability over longer periods



BUSINESS STRENGTHS

High-quality asset base with long reserve 4fe Our proved reserves totaled more than 2.9 Tcfe as of

December 31 2010 and 68% were proved developed Our Barnett Shale Asset has 90% of our proved

reserves and 9% are located in our Horseshoe Canyon Asset These areas have long histories of proven well

performance and have established infrastructure to deliver our production to sales markets We believe our

reserves are characterized by long lives and predictable well production profiles Based on our annualized

fourth-quarter 2010 average production from these properties our implied reserve life proved reserves divided

by annualized fourth-quarter 2010 production was 20.4 years and our implied proved developed reserve life

proved developed reserves divided by annualized fourth-quarter 2010 production was 13.8 years As of

December 31 2010 97% of our proved reserves are from properties we operate

Multi-year inventory of development and exploitation drilling projects As of December 31 2010 we

owned leases covering more than 470000 net acres in our two core areas of which 78% were classified as

held by production which reflects 93% and 46% of our net acreage held by production in Horseshoe Canyon

and the Barnett Shale respectively Within our Barnett Shale Asset alone we have identified approximately

800 remaining drilling locations which provide us with more than 10-year inventory of drilling locations at

the 2011 anticipated drilling rate Our drilling success rate has averaged more than 99% during the past three

years We use 3D seismic data to enhance our ongoing drilling and development efforts as well as to identify

new targets in both new and existing fields and our seismic library covers more than 90% of our acreage in

the Barnett Shale

We have also identified exploratory opportunities that provide meaningful exposure to additional oil and

gas resources As of December 31 2010 we have successfully drilled and completed four wells in our Horn

River Asset Our total recognized reserves in our Horn River Asset are 16.4 Bcfe At December 31 2010

37% of our licensed acreage has been validated and 3% of our licensed acreage is held by production After

completing our planned 2011 exploratory activities in the Horn River Basin we expect to have 80% of our

license acreage validated

Proven record of organic growth in reserves and production During the past three years our proved

reserves have grown 88% as we added 1.4 Tcfe of proved reserves from organic development activities We

supplemented this activity with acquisitions in the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe Canyon which combined

total 447 Bcf of acquired proved reserves We also sold 121 Bcf of proved reserves in the Eni Transaction in

2009 We have organically replaced 398% of our production during the three years ended December 31 2010

Our growth has resulted from our ability to acquire attractive undeveloped acreage
and to apply our technical

expertise to find develop and produce reserves In recent years we have demonstrated this ability through our

accomplishments in our two core areas We believe our current acreage position provides opportunities to

continue our organic growth of reserves and production

Experienced management and technical team Our CEO Glenn Darden and our Chairman Thomas

Darden are founding members of our company and have held executive positions with us since our formation

They both have been in the oil and natural gas business their entire professional careers Since our formation

they along with an experienced executive management team have successfully implemented disciplined

growth strategy with primary focus on net asset value growth through the development of unconventional

reservoirs Our executive management team is supported by core team of technical operational and

financial managers who have significant industry experience including experience in drilling and completing

horizontal wells in unconventional reservoirs and in strategic transactions

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS

The consolidated financial statements included in Item of this Annual Report contain information on

our segments and geographical areas which is incorporated herein by reference



PROPERTIES

Substantially all of our properties consist of interests in developed and undeveloped oil and natural gas

leases In addition we expect to develop midstream assets including gathering and treating systems in the

Horn River Basin We also indirectly own interests in other oil and natural gas properties through our

ownership of approximately 29% of BBEP as of December 31 2010

OIL AND NATURAL GAS OPERATIONS

Our oil and natural gas operations are focused onshore in North America primarily in plays containing

unconventional reservoirs Our current production and development operations are concentrated in our two

core areas the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe Canyon At December 31 2010 we had total proved reserves of

more than 2.9 Tcfe of which 76% were natural gas and 23% were NGLs For 2010 we had average

production of 355.2 MMcfed based upon our total production of 129.6 Bcfe Since going public in 1999 we

have grown our reserves and production at an approximate compound annual growth rate of 23% and 18%

respectively

We believe development of our leasehold interests in our core area in the Barnett Shale and our

exploration activities in the Horn River Basin and the Greater Green River Basin will drive our 2011 and 2012

reserve and production growth We may also pursue acquisitions of additional interests which could allow for

further capitalization on our proven expertise in unconventional resource plays Details of our 2011 capital

program and our projected production levels can be found in Item of this Annual Report

Texas

Our Barnett Shale Asset contains 90% of our total proved reserves and had 79% of our total average

daily production in 2010 In the fourth quarter of 2010 our net production from our Barnett Shale Asset

wells was 309.2 MMcfed We expect 84% of our 2011 production to come from our Bamett Shale Asset

At December 31 2010 our Barnett Shale Asset includes more than 155000 net acres of which

approximately 46% is currently held by production Much of our acreage
in Hood and Somervell counties

contains high-Btu natural gas NGLs within high-Btu natural gas stream are extracted through midstream

system that we developed and is now owned by third party In the current pricing environment where NGLs

trade at premium to methane we are able to increase our revenue per Mcf of natural
gas production by

extracting and separately selling NGLs

During 2010 we drilled 99 82.0 net wells in our Bamett Shale Asset primarily from multi-well drilling

pads On these multi-well pads all the wells are drilled prior to initiating completion activities At

December 31 2010 we had drilled total of 973 809.5 net wells in our Barnett Shale Asset since we began

exploration and development operations in 2003 In 2010 we completed 163 gross 119.3 net wells and

brought online 144 101.0 net wells which gives us remaining gross inventory of drilled-but-uncompleted

wells of 121 109.9 net at December 31 2010 At December 31 2010 we had three drilling rigs operating in

our Barnett Shale Asset but we expect to utilize only two rigs in this area during most of 2011

Rocky Mountain Region

Our Rocky Mountain assets are located in the Southern Alberta Basin and the Greater Green River Basin

Production from our Southern Alberta Asset is primarily oil from depths ranging from 1000 feet to

17000 feet We have approximately 175000 net acres in our Southern Alberta Asset 60% of which are held

by production At December 31 2010 proved reserves from these properties were 2.7 MMBbls of oil and

NGLs and 0.9 Bcf of natural gas for total equivalent reserves of 17.0 Bcfe

We also hold approximately 150000 net acres in the Greater Green River Basin where we are currently

conducting exploratory activities and have two producing wells Total proved reserves in our Greater Green

River Basin Asset are 0.3 Bcfe at December 31 2010

Daily production from all our properties in the Rocky Mountain region averaged 4.0 MMcfed for 2010



Canada

At December 31 2010 Canadian proved reserves were 266 Bcfe of which 94% were attributable to our

Horseshoe Canyon Asset Canadian production averaged 69.2 MMcfed representing 19% of our total 2010

production Production from all Canadian properties averaged 76.5 MMcfed during the fourth quarter of 2010

due to new wells brought online in our Horn River Asset and minor acquisition of additional producing

properties in Horseshoe Canyon

In Horseshoe Canyon as of December 31 2010 we had approximately 38000 21000 net undeveloped

acres During 2010 we spent $14.2 million for the drilling of 14 9.9 net productive wells and brought online

54 36.6 net wells During 2011 we expect to drill and complete 29 23 net wells and similar to 2010 we

expect to completely fund these activities with operating cash flows from our Horseshoe Canyon Asset

We also have exploratory licenses with working interests in more than 130000 net acres in the Horn

River Basin During 2010 we spent $57.9 million for drilling and completion costs on our Horn River Asset

where we drilled and cased three wells and completed two wells As of December 31 2010 we had four

wells producing and one well drilled and awaiting completion in the Horn River Basin We have gathering

and processing contracts in the Horn River Basin that run until 2018 Volume under these contracts began at

MMcfd and ultimately increases to 100 MMcfd We also have transportation contracts in place that span

from 2012 to 2017 Transportation volume under the contracts begins at 30 MMcfd and ultimately increases

up to 54 MMcfd Our total proved reserves in our Horn River Asset were 16.4 Bcfe as of December 31
2010

OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES

In December 2008 the SEC adopted its final rule for Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting The

most significant changes incorporated into our proved reserve process and related disclosures for 2010 and

2009 include

the use of an unweighted average of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices for

determination of proved reserve values included in calculating full cost ceiling limitations and for annual

proved reserve disclosures

limitations regarding the types of technologies that may be used to reliably establish the classification of

proved reserves

reporting of investments and progress made during the year to convert proved undeveloped reserves to

proved developed reserves and

reporting on the independence and qualifications of our personnel and independent petroleum engineers

who are responsible for the preparation of our reserve estimates

Our proved reserve estimates and related disclosures for 2010 and 2009 are presented in compliance with

the new rule Our 2008 proved reserve estimates and related disclosures were prepared in compliance with the

SEC guidance then in effect

The process of estimating natural gas NGLs and oil reserves is complex In order to
prepare

these

estimates we developed maintain and monitor our internal processes and controls for estimating and

recording reserves in compliance with the SEC rule Compliance with the SEC reserve guidelines is the

primary responsibility of our reservoir engineering team We require that reserve estimates be made by

qualified reserve estimators as defined by the Society of Petroleum Engineers standards Our reservoir

engineering team participates in continuing education to maintain current understanding of SEC reserve

reporting requirements

Our reservoir engineering team led by our Vice President Engineering is responsible for preparation

and maintenance of our engineering data and review of proved reserve estimates with our independent

petroleum engineers Our Vice President Engineering has over 15
years experience in the oil and gas

industry The engineering team reports directly to our Executive Vice President Operations and is otherwise

independent from management for our operating areas Throughout the year the reservoir engineering team
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analyzes the performance of producing properties for each operating area identifies reserve additions and

revisions and prepares internal proved reserve estimates In addition they are responsible for maintaining all

reserve engineering data Integrity of reserve engineering data is enhanced by restricting full access to only

the members of our reservoir engineering team Limited other personnel have read-only access with no ability

to modify reserve engineering data

Our U.S and Canadian proved reserves and future net cash flows have been prepared by Schiumberger

Data and Consulting Services Schlumberger and LaRoche Petroleum Consultants Ltd LaRoche
respectively The Schlumberger technical team responsible for calculating our U.S reserves has extensive

experience in reservoir evaluation and reserve analysis for tight gas sand fractured shale and coalbed methane

projects The LaRoche technical team responsible for calculating our Canadian reserves has extensive

experience in international reservoir evaluation and reserve analysis including fractured shales coalbeds and

tight sands Prior to finalizing their reserve estimates the independent petroleum engineers results are

reviewed in detail by our internal reservoir engineering team Reports of our proved reserves prepared by

these independent petroleum engineers have been reviewed by our Vice President Engineering and executive

management team

The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors meets with executive management our Vice President

Engineering and the independent petroleum engineers to discuss the process and results of reserve estimation

Our analytical review of reserve estimates includes comparisons of our ending proved undeveloped estimates

to our average ending ultimate recoverable reserves for each of our operating areas and sub-areas We also

conduct additional reviews of drilling results and proved undeveloped estimates with our executive

management team and our Audit Committee

Proved oil and natural
gas reserves are the estimated quantities of oil natural gas and NGLs which

through analysis of geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in

future years from known reservoirs under existing economic conditions and operating methods The term

reasonable certainty connotes high degree of confidence that the quantities of oil natural gas and NGLs

actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate To achieve reasonable certainty the technologies used in

the estimation process have been demonstrated to yield results with consistency and repeatability Proved

developed oil and natural gas reserves are expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing

equipment and operating methods Proved undeveloped oil and natural gas reserves are expected to be

recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage
Proved reserves for undrilled wells are estimated only where

it can be demonstrated that there is continuity of production from the existing productive formation To

achieve reasonable certainty of our proved reserve estimates our reservoir engineering team assumes

continued use of technologies with demonstrated success of yielding expected results including the use of

drilling results well performance well logs seismic data geologic maps well stimulation techniques well test

data and reservoir simulation modeling

The proved reserve data we disclose are estimates and are subject to inherent uncertainties The

determination of oil and natural gas reserves is based on estimates that are highly complex and interpretive

Reserve engineering is subjective process
that depends upon the quality of available data and on engineering

and geological interpretation and judgment Although we believe the reserve estimates contained in this

Annual Report are reasonable reserve estimates are imprecise and are expected to change as additional

information becomes available Additional information regarding risks associated with estimating our proved

oil and gas reserves may be found in Item lA of this Annual Report

11



The following table summarizes our proved reserves at December 31 2010 and 2009 in accordance with

the rule recently established by the SEC Our estimates of proved oil and gas reserves at December 31 2008

were prepared in compliance with SEC requirements then in effect

Proved Developed Reserves Proved Undeveloped Reserves Total Proved Reserves

For the Years Ended December 31 For the Years Ended December 31 For the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2098 2010 2009 2008

Natural gas MMCI
U.s 1312777 1044140 756191 628946 511894 550306 1941723 1556034 1306497

Canada 242941 223300 278668 22947 29753 53903 265888 253053 332571

Total 1555718 1267440 1034859 651893 541647 604209 2207611 1809087 1639068

NGL MBbI
U.S 64908 60997 56181 47536 37264 35746 112444 98261 91927

Canada 12 13 12 13

Total 64920 61010 56189 47536 37264 35746 112456 98274 91935

Oil MBb1
U.S 2775 2467 2509 533 392 405 3308 2859 2914

Canada

Total 2775 2467 2509 533 392 405 3308 2859 2914

Total MMcfe
U.S 1718875 1424924 1108331 917357 737830 767212 2636232 2162754 1875543

Canada 243017 223378 278716 22947 29753 53903 265964 253131 332619

Total 1961892 1648302 1387047 940304 767583 821115 2902196 2415885 2208162

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Representative prices

Natural gasHenry Hub 4.38 3.87 5.71

Natural gas AECO 4.08 3.76 5.44

NGLMontBelvieu Texas 37.56 24.94 21.65

OilWTI Cushing 79.43 61.18 44.60

Standardized measure of discounted future net

cash flows after income tax in millions 1788.2 1182.7 1794.3

The natural
gas

and oil prices as of December 31 2008 were based respectively on last

day-of-the-year prices for NYMEX Henry Hub and AECO per MMBtu and NYMEX price per

Bbl adjusted to reflect local differentials

Determined based on year-end unescalated costs in accordance with the guidelines of the SEC
discounted at 10% per annum

PROVED UNDEVELOPED RESERVES

Our 2010 drilling and completion activities related to our proved undeveloped locations as of

December 31 2009 were as follows

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Drilled Completions Producing

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Barnett Shale 43.0 38.1 29.0 25.5 27.0 23.5

Horseshoe Canyon 4.0 3.3 4.0 3.3 2.0 1.3

Total 47.0 41.4 33.0 28.8 29.0 24.8
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Costs incurred in 2010 relating to the drilling and completion activities related to our proved undeveloped

locations as of December 31 2009 were $99.3 million

Our gross capital costs for Barnett Shale Asset well from preparation of the multi-well drilling pad

through the initiation of production generally range from $2.5 million to $6.5 million depending on factors

such as the area the depth and lateral length of each well number of stages of fracture stimulation and its

distance to central facilities On each multi-well drilling pad we drill all the wells prior to initiation of

completion activities As result we maintain an inventory of drilled wells awaiting completion

In Horseshoe Canyon the gross capital costs for typical well from pre-drilling preparation through the

initiation of production generally range from $0.2 million to $0.3 million depending upon number of coal

seams depth and distance to gathering system As our drilling and completion operations are limited by the

restriction of the movement of rigs and other equipment due to wet weather and spring thaw we expect to

maintain an inventory of drilled wells awaiting completion and completed wells awaiting tie-in to sales lines

In the Horn River Basin we are still in the exploratory phase and costs are higher than we anticipate

them to be in full development In full development we expect gross capital costs per
well from preparation

of the multi-well drilling pad through the initiation of production generally to range from $7 million to

$8 million depending on factors such as the depth and lateral length of each well number of stages of fracture

stimulation and its distance to central facilities

As of December 31 2010 we had total proved undeveloped reserves of 940.3 Bcfe primarily comprised

of 917.4 Bcfe in our Barnett Shale Asset on 360 well locations and 22.9 Bcfe in our Horseshoe Canyon Asset

on 165 well locations All of the 525 well locations are scheduled for development before the end of 2015

Regionally we estimate that our proved undeveloped well locations will be developed on the following

timeline

Barnett Horseshoe

Shale Canyon Total

2011 44 44

2012 66 38 104

2013 111 61 172

2014 89 60 149

2015 50 56

Total 360 165 525

During 2011 we expect to spend $227.1 million to drill complete and tie-in wells on proved locations

Estimated future development costs on proved locations as of December 31 2010 are projected to be

$215.5 million for 2012 $286.3 million for 2013 $321.1 million for 2014 $192.7 million for 2015

At December 31 2010 none of our inventory of proved undeveloped drilling locations has been

recognized as proved reserves for five years or longer Currently we anticipate that our proved undeveloped

reserves will be developed within five years

Proved undeveloped reserves in our Barnett Shale Asset have increased 24% from 2009 due to drilling

results in areas that we had no or limited proved undeveloped well locations at December 31 2009 and that

resulted in the first recognition of proved undeveloped reserves on offset locations plus acquisitions of

additional acreage at our Lake Arlington Project and Alliance Leasehold

DEVELOPMENT AND EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES AT YEAR END

At December 31 2010 we had three drilling rigs operating in our Barnett Shale Asset including two rigs

operating on proved undeveloped locations and one rig operating on an unproved location Additionally

completion work was in progress on 60 proved wells in our Barnett Shale Asset with 121 109.9 net wells

awaiting completion or tie-in to sales lines
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One drilling rig was operating on an unproved location in our Horn River Asset and 154 wells 105.8 net

in our Horseshoe Canyon Asset were awaiting completion or tie-in to sales lines

DRILLING ACTIVITY

During the periods indicated we drilled the following exploratory and development wells

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Development

U.S

Productive 97.0 80.5 154.0 93.2 292.0 255.7

Non-productive 2.0 1.5 1.0 1.0

Canada

Productive 18.0 9.9 141.0 36.1 372.0 155.9

Non-productive 1.0 1.0

Total 117.0 91.9 295.0 129.3 666.0 413.6

Exploratory

U.S

Productive 4.0 4.0 5.0 4.1

Non-productive 2.0 2.0

Canada

Productive 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0

Non-productive

Total 2.0 2.0 6.0 6.0 7.0 6.1

Total

Productive 117.0 92.4 301.0 135.3 669.0 415.7

Non-productive 2.0 1.5 4.0 4.0

Total 119.0 93.9 301.0 135.3 673.0 419.7

U.S development drilling includes non-operated drilling of wells 0.4 net 37 wells 3.0 net and

36 wells 16.1 net for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Canadian development drilling includes non-operated drilling of wells 0.4 net 88 wells 8.1 net

and 170 wells 15.3 net for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

VOLUME SALES PRICES AND OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION EXPENSE

The discussion of volume produced from revenue generated by and cost associated with operating our

properties included in Managements Discussion and Analysis in Item of this Annual Report is incorporated

herein by reference
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DELIVERY COMMITMENTS AND PURCHASERS OF NATURAL GAS NGLs AND OIL

We have contracts with third parties that require we provide minimum daily natural gas or NGL volume

for gathering fractionation and transportation as determined on monthly basis or pay for any deficiencies at

specified reservation fee rate We believe our available supply including royalty volume and other third-

party volume will satisfy the required volume under the commitments below

Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter

In thousands

Gathering

Barnett Shale 11981 2281 2288 2281 2281 2281 569

Horn River 96683 7220 12146 16451 16131 13557 31178

Processing and Fractionation

Barnett Shale 22785 7588 7609 7588

Horn River 120450 4127 11515 17973 19732 20336 46767

Transportation

Barnett Shale 129089 19571 20196 18378 15715 15468 39761

Horseshoe Canyon 8344 3528 3163 1623 10 10 10

Horn River 24972 2088 4686 5467 5467 7264

Total GPT obligations 414304 44315 59005 $68980 $59336 57119 $125549

We have dedicated substantially all natural gas production from our Barnett Shale Asset for gathering and

compression to KGS through 2020 The rates charged by KGS are fixed for each system but vary by system

and range from $0.71 to $0.74 per Mcf of gathered volume but are subject to annual inflationary increases

Processing fees are fixed at $0.54 per Mcf but are also subject to annual inflationary increases We are not

obligated to guarantee KGS any minimum volume

We sell natural gas NGLs and oil to variety of customers including utilities major oil and natural gas

companies or their affiliates industrial companies large trading and energy marketing companies and other

users of petroleum products Because our products are commodity products sold primarily on the basis of

price and availability we are not dependent upon one purchaser or small group of purchasers Accordingly

the loss of any single purchaser would not materially affect our revenue During 2010 Louis Dreyfus Natural

Gas Corp and Targa Liquids Marketing and Trade the largest purchasers of our products accounted for 17%

and 12% of our total natural gas NGL and oil sales respectively
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ACQUISITION EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The following table summarizes our acquisition exploration and development costs incurred

U.S Canada Consolidated

In thousands

2010

Proved acreage 125647 19271 144918

Unproved acreage 44271 827 45098

Development costs 378056 14182 392238

Exploration costs 9385 57896 67281

Total 557359 92176 649535

2009

Proved acreage 118 118

Unproved acreage 11300 2658 13958

Development costs 341658 24179 365837

Exploration costs 32798 59402 92200

Total 385874 86239 472113

2008

Proved acreage 787172 787172

Unproved acreage 484770 54048 538818

Development costs 836032 68629 904661

Exploration costs 30161 10280 40441

Total 2138135 132957 2271092

PRODUCTIVE OIL AND GAS WELLS

The following table summarizes productive wells

As of December 31 2010

Natural Gas Oil

Gross Net Gross Net

U.S 977.0 807.4 198.0 194.0

Canada 2861.0 1401.7 2.0 0.1

Total 3838.0 2209.1 200.0 194.1

OIL AND GAS ACREAGE

Our principal natural
gas and oil properties consist of non-producing and producing oil and gas leases

and mineral acreage including reserves of natural gas and oil in place Developed acres are defined as

acreage
allocated to wells that are producing or capable of producing Undeveloped acres are acres on which

wells are not to point that would permit the production of commercial reserves regardless of whether such

acreage contains proved reserves Gross acres are the total number of acres in which we have working

interest Net acres are the sum of our fractional interests owned in the
gross acres
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The following table indicates our interest in developed and undeveloped acreage

As of December 31 2010

Developed Acreage Undeveloped Acreage

Gross Net Gross Net

Barnett Shale 80353 71850 104792 83649

Other Texas 2432 2234 144921 106154

Greater Green River Basin 7439 4687 182908 143849

Southern Alberta Basin 110990 103776 87366 71724

U.S 201214 182547 519987 405376

Horseshoe Canyon 470123 295083 38021 21087

Horn River Basin 3900 3900 152897 152897

Canada 474023 298983 190918 173984

Total 675237 481530 710905 579360

The following table summarizes information regarding the total number of net undeveloped acres as of

December 31 2010

2011 Expirations 2012 Expirations 2013 Expirations

Net Net Acres with Net Acres Net Acres with

Undeveloped Options with Options Net Options

Acres Net Acres to Extend Net Acres to Extend Acres to Extend

Texas 189803 52097 998 19203 144 12752 552

Rockies 215573 28797 5308 17956 388 29357 3817

Canada 173984 34428 1701 66637 359 4994

Total 579360 115322 8007 103796 891 47103 4369

All of the acreage scheduled to expire can be held through drilling and producing operations We believe

that we have the ability to retain substantially all of the expiring acreage
that we feel will provide economic

production either through drilling activities or through the exercise of extension options

COMPETITION

We compete for acquisitions of prospective oil and natural gas properties and oil and
gas reserves We

also compete for drilling rigs and equipment used to drill for and produce oil and gas Our competitive

position is dependent upon our ability to recruit and retain geological engineering and management expertise

We believe that the location of our leasehold acreage our exploration and production expertise and the

experience and knowledge of our management team enable us to compete effectively in our core operating

areas However we face competition from substantial number of other companies many of which have

larger technical staffs and greater financial and operational resources than we do and from companies in other

but potentially related industries

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION

Our operations are affected from time to time in varying degrees by political developments and U.S and

Canadian federal state provincial and local laws and regulations In particular natural gas and oil production

and related operations are or have been subject to price controls taxes and other laws and regulations relating

to the industry Failure to comply with such laws and regulations can result in substantial penalties The

regulatory burden on the industry increases our cost of doing business and affects our profitability We do not

anticipate any significant challenges in complying with laws and regulations applicable to our operations
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SAFETY REGULATION

We are subject to number of federal provincial and state laws and regulations whose
purpose

is to

protect the health and safety of workers both generally and within our industry Regulations overseen by

OSHA the EPA and other agencies require among other matters that information be maintained concerning

hazardous materials used or produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees

state and local government authorities and citizens We are also subject to safety regulations which are

designed to prevent or minimize the
consequences of catastrophic releases of toxic reactive flammable or

explosive chemicals

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

We are subject to stringent and complex U.S and Canadian federal state provincial and local

environmental laws regulations and permits and international environmental conventions including those

relating to the generation storage handling use disposal movement and remediation of natural gas NGLs
oil and other hazardous materials the emission and discharge of such materials to the ground air and water

wildlife protection the storage use and treatment of water and the placement operation and reclamation of

wells These requirements are significant consideration for us as our operations involve the generation

storage handling use disposal movement and remediation of natural gas NGLs oil and other hazardous or

regulated materials and the emission and discharge of such materials to the environment If we violate these

requirements or fail to obtain and maintain the
necessary permits we could be subject to sanctions including

the imposition of fines and penalties and orders enjoining future operations Pursuant to such laws

regulations and permits we have made and expect to continue to make capital and other compliance

expenditures

We could be liable for any environmental contamination at our or our predecessors currently or formerly

owned or operated properties or third-party waste disposal sites Certain environmental laws including

CERCLA more commonly known as Superfund impose joint and several strict liability for releases of

hazardous substances at such properties or sites without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct

In addition to potentially significant investigation and remediation costs environmental contamination can give

rise to claims from governmental authorities and other third parties for fines or penalties natural resource

damages personal injury and property damage Regulators in Texas are also becoming increasingly focused

on air emissions from our industry including volatile organic compound emissions This increased scrutiny

could lead to heightened enforcement of existing regulations as well as the imposition of new measures to

control our emissions curtail our operations or otherwise increase our compliance costs

Environmental laws regulations and permits and the enforcement and interpretation thereof change

frequently and generally have become more stringent over time For example various U.S federal and state

initiatives have been implemented or are under development or further investigate the environmental impacts

of hydraulic fracturing In particular the EPA has commenced study to determine the environmental and

health impacts of hydraulic fracturing Such initiatives could require us or third parties including our service

providers to disclose the chemicals we use in the fracturing process which disclosure may result in increased

scrutiny or third-party claims or otherwise result in operational delays liabilities and increased costs In

addition from time to time initiatives are proposed that could further regulate certain exploration and

production by-products as hazardous wastes and subject them to more stringent requirements If enacted such

initiatives could require us to incur substantial costs for compliance

GHG emission regulation is also becoming more stringent We are currently required to implement

GHG recordkeeping and reporting program due to issuance of the EPAs subpart regulation which will

require significant effort to quantify sources at all of our production sites and beginning in 2012 we will be

required to report our GHG emissions from operations In addition the EPA has begun regulating GHG
emissions from stationary sources pursuant to the Prevention of Significant Deterioration and Title

provisions of the federal Clean Air Act as result of which we might be required to obtain permits to

construct modify or operate facilities on account of and implement emission control measures for our GHG
emissions Also regulatory authorities are considering or have developed energy or emission measures to
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reduce GHG emissions Any limitation or further regulation of GHG emissions including through

cap-and-trade system technology mandate emissions tax reporting requirement or other program could

restrict our operations and subject us to significant costs including those relating to emission credits pollution

control equipment monitoring and reporting Although there is still significant uncertainty surrounding the

scope timing and effect of GHG regulation any such regulation could have material adverse impact on our

business financial condition reputation and operating performance

In addition to the extent climate change results in warmer temperatures or more severe weather our

operations may be disrupted For example storms in the Gulf of Mexico could damage downstream pipeline

infrastructure causing decrease in takeaway capacity and potentially requiring us to curtail production In

addition warmer temperatures might shorten the time during winter months when we can access certain

remote production areas resulting in decreased exploration and production activity

AVAILABILITY OF REPORTS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS

We make available for free on our internet website www.qrinc.com our Annual Reports on Form 10-K

Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or

furnished pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file or furnish such material to the SEC Additionally charters for the

committees of our Board and our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

can be found on our internet website under the heading Corporate Governance Our website and the

information contained therein or connected thereto shall not be deemed to be incorporated into this Annual

Report

EMPLOYEES

As of February 15 2011 we had 452 employees none of whom have collective bargaining agreements

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following information is provided with respect to our executive officers as of February 15 2011

Name Age Positions

Thomas Darden 57 Director Chairman of the Board

Glenn Darden 55 Director President and Chief Executive Officer

Anne Darden Self 53 Director Vice President Human Resources

Jeff Cook 54 Executive Vice President Operations

Philip Cook 49 Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

John Cirone 61 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Stan Page 53 Senior Vice President U.S Operations

John Regan 41 Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

Chris Mundy 38 Vice President Engineering

John Rushford 50 Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer Quicksilver

Resources Canada Inc

Officers are elected by our Board of Directors and hold office at the pleasure of the Board until their

successors are elected and qualified Thomas Darden Glenn Darden and Anne Darden Self are siblings

Messrs Jeff Cook and Philip Cook are not related The following biographies describe the business

experience of our executive officers

THOMAS DARDEN has served on our Board of Directors since December 1997 and became

Chairman of the Board in March 1999 He has served as director of Crestwood Gas Services GP LLC

formerly known as Quicksilver Gas Services GP LLC since July 2007 Mr Darden was previously employed

by Mercury Exploration Company for 22 years in various executive level positions
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GLENN DARDEN has served on our Board of Directors since December 1997 and became our Chief

Executive Officer in December 1999 He served as our Vice President until he was elected President and

Chief Operating Officer in March 1999 Prior to that time he served with Mercury for 18 years the last five

as Executive Vice President Mr Darden previously worked as geologist for Mitchell Energy Company LP

subsequently merged with Devon Energy He served as director of Crestwood Gas Services GP LLC

formerly known as Quicksilver Gas Services GP LLC from March 2007 to October 2010

ANNE DARDEN SELF has served on our Board of Directors since August 1999 and became our Vice

President Human Resources in July 2000 She is also currently President of Mercury where she has worked

since 1992 From 1988 to 1991 she was employed by Banc PLUS Savings Association in Houston Texas

initially as Marketing Director and for three years thereafter as Vice President of Human Resources She

worked from 1987 to 1988 as an Account Executive for NW Ayer Advertising Agency Prior to 1987 she

spent several years in real estate management

JEFF COOK became our Executive Vice President Operations in January 2006 after serving as our

Senior Vice President Operations since July 2000 From 1979 to 1981 he held the position of Operations

Supervisor with Western Company of North America In 1981 he became District Production

Superintendent for Mercury Production Company and became Vice President of Operations in 1991 and

Executive Vice President in 1998 of Mercury Production Company before joining us

PHILIP COOK became our Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer in October 2005 From

October 2004 until October 2005 Mr Cook served as President and Chief Financial Officer of private

chemical company From August 2001 until September 2004 he served as Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer of private oilfield service company From August 1993 to July 2001 he served in various executive

capacities with Burlington Resources Inc subsequently merged with ConocoPhillips public independent

oil and gas company engaged in exploration development production and marketing

JOHN CIRONE was named as our Senior Vice President and General Counsel in January 2006

after serving as our Vice President and General Counsel since July 2002 Mr Cirone served as our Secretary

from July 2002 to November 2010 Mr Cirone was employed by Union Pacific Resources subsequently

merged with Anadarko Petroleum Corporation from 1978 to 2000 During that time he served in various

positions in the Law Department and from 1997 to 2000 he was the Manager of Land and Negotiations In

2000 he became Assistant General Counsel of Union Pacific Resources After leaving Union Pacific

Resources in August 2000 Mr Cirone was engaged in the private practice of law prior to joining us in July

2002

STAN PAGE became our Senior Vice President U.S Operations in June 2010 after serving as our Vice

President U.S Operations since October 2007 Mr Page joined us from BP America formerly known as

Amoco Production Company where he held various management positions of increasing responsibility from

1979 to 2007 including Operations Center Manager for East Texas Operations from 2005 to 2007

JOHN REGAN became our Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting Officer in September

2007 He is Certified Public Accountant with more than 15 years of combined public accounting corporate

finance and financial reporting experience Mr Regan joined us from Flowserve Corporation where he held

various management positions of increasing responsibility from 2002 to 2007 including Vice President of

Finance for the Flow Control Division and Director of Financial Reporting He was also senior manager

specializing in the energy industry in the audit practice of PricewaterhouseCoopers where he was employed

from 1994 to 2002

CHRIS MUNDY became our Vice President Engineering responsible for corporate reserves in

August 2010 after serving as our Senior Director Engineering from January 2010 to August 2010 Director

Engineering from May 2009 to January 2010 and Manager Engineering from October 2008 to May 2009

Mr Mundy previously served as Manager Corporate Projects for Quicksilver Resources Canada Inc where

he led the Horseshoe Canyon development program and was responsible for project planning and budgeting

from September 2004 to September 2006 Prior to re-joining us in 2008 Mr Mundy served as Manager
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Engineering at Twin Butte Energy where he was responsible for corporate reserves and numerous acquisition

and divestiture evaluations from September 2006 to October 2008

JOHN RUSHFORD became Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Quicksilver

Resources Canada Inc in August 2010 He is Professional Engineer with more than 25 years of oil and gas

experience in project development and business unit management Mr Rushford joined us from Cenovus

Energy Inc where he served as the Vice President of Business Services supporting Cenovus business unit

operations from 2005 to 2010 Prior to Cenovus he had more than 15 years of increasingly senior

management positions at PanCanadian Petroleum Ltd and EnCana Corp including Vice President of the

Chinook Business Unit that commercialized coalbed methane in Canada and as Vice President of the

Fort Nelson Business Unit

ITEM 1A Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors together with all of the other information

included in this Annual Report including the financial statements and related notes when deciding to invest

in us You should be aware that the occurrence of
any

of the events described in this Risk Factors section and

elsewhere in this Annual Report could have material adverse effect on our business financial position

results of operations and cash flows

Natural gas NGL and oil prices fluctuate widely and low prices could have material adverse impact on

our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our revenue profitability and future growth depend in part on prevailing natural gas NGL and oil prices

These prices also affect the amount of cash flow available to service our debt fund our capital program and

our other liquidity needs as well as our ability to borrow raise additional capital and comply with the terms

of our debt agreements Among other things the amount we can borrow under our Senior Secured Credit

Facility is subject to periodic redetermination based in part on expected future prices Lower prices may also

reduce the amount of natural gas NGLs and oil that we can economically produce

While prices for natural gas NGLs and oil may be favorable at any point in time they fluctuate widely

particularly as evidenced by price movements between 2008 and 2010 Among the factors that can cause

these fluctuations are

domestic and foreign demand for natural gas NGLs and oil

the level and locations of domestic and foreign natural gas NGLs and oil supplies

the quality price and availability of alternative fuels

the quantity of natural
gas

in storage

weather conditions

domestic and foreign governmental regulations

impact of trade organizations such as OPEC

political conditions in oil NGLs and natural gas producing regions

speculation by investors in oil and natural gas and

worldwide economic conditions

Due to the volatility of natural gas and oil prices and the inability to control the factors that influence

them we cannot predict future pricing levels

If natural gas NGL or oil prices decrease our exploration and development efforts are unsuccessful or our

costs increase substantially we may be required to recognize impairment of our oil and gas properties

which could have material adverse effect on our financial condition our results of operations and our

ability to borrow under and comply with our debt agreements

We employ the full cost method of accounting for our oil and gas properties which among other things

imposes limits to the capitalized cost for each country Each capitalized cost pool cannot exceed the net

present value of the underlying natural gas NGL and oil reserves We recognized impairment to the carrying
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value of our oil and gas properties in each of the three years
ended December 31 2010 and could recognize

future impairments if natural gas NGL or oil prices utilized in determining reserve value cause the value of

our reserves to decrease Increased operating and capitalized costs without incremental increases in reserves

value could also trigger impairment based on decreased value of our reserves In the event of impairment of

our oil and gas properties we reduce their carrying value and recognize non-cash expense which could be

material and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and our ability to borrow

under and comply with the terms of our debt agreements

Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may turn out to be inaccurate and any material

inaccuracies in these reserve estimates or underlying assumptions may materially affect the quantities and

present value of our reserves

The process of estimating natural gas NGL and oil reserves is complex In order to prepare these

estimates we and our independent reserve engineers must project future production rates and the timing and

amount of future development expenditures We and the engineers must also analyze available geological

geophysical production and engineering data and the extent quality and reliability of this data can vary In

addition to interpreting available technical data we must also analyze other various assumptions including

assumptions relating to economic factors Any significant inaccuracies in these interpretations or assumptions

could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of reserves disclosed in our filings with the

SEC

Actual future production natural gas NGL and oil prices and revenue taxes development expenditures

operating expense and quantities of recoverable natural
gas

and oil reserves most likely will vary from our

estimates Any significant variance could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of

reserves disclosed in our filings with the SEC In addition we may adjust estimates of proved reserves to

reflect production history results of exploration and development prevailing petroleum prices and other

factors which may be beyond our control

At December 31 2010 32% of our proved reserves were undeveloped Recovery of undeveloped

reserves requires additional capital expenditures and successful drilling and completion operations Our

reserve estimates assume that we will make significant capital expenditures to develop our reserves Although

we have prepared estimates of our reserves using SEC specifications actual prices and costs may vary from

these estimates development may not occur as scheduled or actual results may not be as estimated prior to

drilling

The present value of future net cash flows disclosed in Item of our Annual Report on Form 10-K is not

necessarily the fair value of our proved natural
gas

and oil reserves In accordance with SEC requirements

the discounted future net cash flows from proved reserves are based on prices determined on an unweighted

average of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices adjusted for local differentials and operating

and development costs as of period end Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or lower than

the prices and costs used in our estimate Any changes in consumption by natural gas NGL and oil

purchasers or in governmental regulations or taxation will also affect actual future net cash flows The timing

of both the production and the costs from the development and production of natural gas and oil properties

will affect the timing of actual future net cash flows from proved reserves and their present value In addition

the 10% discount factor which is specified by the SEC is not necessarily the most appropriate discount

factor The effective interest rate at various times and the risks associated with our business or the oil and

natural
gas industry in general will affect the appropriateness of the 10% discount factor in arriving at our

reserves actual fair value

Our production is concentrated in small number of geographic areas

Our Barnett Shale Asset and Horseshoe Canyon Asset account for 79% and 17% of our 2010 production

respectively Because of our concentration in these geographic areas any regional events that increase costs

reduce or disrupt availability of equipment or supplies reduce demand or limit production including weather

22



and natural disasters may impact us more significantly than if our operations were more geographically

diversified

Our Canadian operations present unique risks and uncertainties different from or in addition to those we

face in our U.S operations

In addition to the various risks associated with our U.S operations risks associated with our operations in

Canada where we have substantial operations include among other things
risks related to increases in taxes

and governmental royalties aboriginal claims changes in laws and policies governing operations
of foreign-

based companies currency restrictions and exchange rate fluctuations and compliance with U.S and Canadian

laws and regulations
such as the U.S Foreign Corrupt Practices Act For example in addition to federal

regulation each province has legislation and regulations which govern
land tenure royalties production rates

and other matters The royalty regime is significant factor in the profitability
of oil and natural gas

production Royalties payable on production from lands other than Crown lands are determined by

negotiations between the mineral owner and the lessee Crown royalties are determined by government

regulation and are generally calculated as percentage of the value of the gross production and the rate of

royalties payable generally depends in part on prescribed reference prices well productivity geographical

location field discovery date and the type or quality of the petroleum product produced Laws and policies of

the U.S affecting foreign trade and taxation may also adversely affect our Canadian operations

In addition the level of activity in the Canadian oil and natural gas industry is influenced by seasonal

weather patterns
Wet weather and spring thaw may make the ground unstable Consequently municipalities

and provincial transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and other heavy

equipment thereby reducing our activity levels Also certain of our oil and natural gas producing areas are

located in areas that are inaccessible other than during the winter months because the ground surrounding the

sites in these areas consists of swampy terrain Therefore seasonal factors and unexpected weather patterns

may lead to declines in exploration and production activity

If we are unable to obtain needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms our ability to replace our

reserves or to maintain current production levels may be limited

Historically we have used our cash flow from operations borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit

Facility and issuances of debt to fund our capital program working capital needs and acquisitions Our capital

program may require additional financing above the level of cash generated by our operations to fund our

growth If our cash flow from operations decreases as result of lower petroleum prices or otherwise our

ability to expend the capital necessary to replace our reserves or to maintain current production may be

limited resulting in decreased production over time If our cash flow from operations is insufficient to satisfy

our financing needs we cannot be certain that additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms

or at all Our ability to obtain bank financing or to access the capital markets for future equity or debt

offerings may be limited by our financial condition or general economic conditions at the time of any such

financing or offering Even if we are successful in obtaining the necessary funds the terms of such financings

could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition If

additional capital resources are unavailable we may curtail our activities or be forced to sell some of our

assets on an untimely or unfavorable basis

Our business involves many hazards and operational risks some of which may not be insured or insurable

The occurrence of significant
accident or other event that is not insured or not adequately insured could

curtail our operations and have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and

financial condition

Our operations are subject to many risks inherent in the oil and natural gas industry including operating

hazards such as well blowouts explosions uncontrollable flows of oil natural gas or well fluids fires

formations with abnormal pressures treatment plant downtime pipeline ruptures or spills pollution releases

of toxic gas and other environmental hazards and risks any of which could cause us to experience substantial

losses Also the availability of ready market for our production depends on the proximity of reserves to
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and the capacity of natural gas and oil gathering systems treatment plants pipelines and trucking or terminal
facilities

U.S and Canadian federal state local and provincial regulation relating to oil and natural
gas production

and transportation tax and energy policies changes in supply and demand and general economic conditions
could adversely affect our ability to produce and market our natural gas NGLs and oil

As result of operating hazards regulatory risks and other uninsured risks we could incur substantial

liabilities to third parties or governmental entities We maintain insurance against some but not all of such
risks and losses in accordance with customary industry practice We are not insured against all environmental

incidents claims or damages that might occur Any significant accident or event that is not adequately
insured could adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition In addition we may
be unable to economically obtain or maintain the insurance that we desire As result of market conditions
premiums and deductibles for certain of our insurance policies could escalate further In some instances
certain insurance could become unavailable or available only at reduced

coverage levels Any type of

catastrophic event could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial
condition

The failure to replace our reserves could adversely affrct our production and cash flows

Our future success depends upon our ability to find develop or acquire additional reserves that are

economically recoverable Our proved reserves will generally decline as reserves are produced except to the

extent that we conduct successful exploration or development activities or purchase proved reserves In order
to increase reserves and production we must continue our development drilling or undertake other

replacement activities We strive to maintain our focus on low-cost operations while
increasing our reserve

base and production through exploration and development of our existing properties Our planned exploration
or development projects or any acquisition activities that we may undertake might not result in meaningful
additional reserves and we might not have

continuing success drilling productive wells Even in the event that

our exploration and development projects do result in meaningful additional commercially viable reserves
midstream infrastructure may not exist or may not be constructed either of which could adversely impact our
ability to benefit from those reserves If our exploration and development efforts are unsuccessful our leases

covering acreage that is not already held by production could expire If they do expire and if we are unable to

renew the leases on acceptable terms we will lose the right to conduct drilling activities and the resulting
economic benefits associated therewith Furthermore while our revenue may increase if prevailing petroleum
prices increase materially our finding and operating costs also could increase

We have risk through our investment in BBER

As of December 31 2010 we owned an approximate 29% interest in BBEP through our ownership of
BBEP Units but have no management oversight over BBEP its financial condition its operating results or its

financial reporting process and are subject to the risks associated with BBEPs business and operations
Moreover the management of BBEP has discretion over the amount if any that they distribute to unitholders
In 2009 BBEP suspended distributions and did not resume distributions until the distribution for the first

quarter of 2010

The nature of our ownership interest in publicly-traded entity subjects us to market risks associated with
most ownership interests traded on public exchange Sales of substantial amounts of BBEP Units or

perception that such sales could occur and various other factors including BBEP suspending distributions on
its units could adversely affect the market price of BBEP Units We recognized impairment to the carrying
value of our BBEP Units in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 and we could recognize
future impairments if the market price for BBEP Units declines In the event of impairment of our BBEP
Units we reduce the carrying value of our BBEP Units and recognize non-cash expense which could be
material and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations
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We cannot control the operations of gas processing liquids fractionation and transportation facilities we do

not own or operate

We deliver our production to market through gathering fractionation and transportation systems that we
do not own The marketability of our production depends in part on the availability proximity and capacity of

pipeline systems owned by third parties portion of our production could be interrupted or shut in from

time to time for numerous reasons including as result of weather conditions accidents loss of pipeline or

gathering system access field labor issues or strikes maintenance of third-party facilities or capital constraints

that limit the ability of third parties to construct gathering systems processing facilities or interstate pipelines

to transport our production Disruption of our production could negatively impact our ability to market
fractionate and deliver our production Since we do not own or operate these assets their continuing operation

is not within our control If any of these pipelines and other facilities becomes unavailable or capacity

constrained or if further planned development of such assets is delayed or abandoned it could have material

adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

The loss of key personnel could adversely affrct our ability to operate

Our operations are dependent on relatively small group of key management personnel including our

executive officers There is risk that the services of all of these individuals may not be available to us in the

future Because competition for experienced personnel in our industry can be intense we may be unable to

find acceptable replacements with comparable skills and experience and their loss could adversely affect our

ability to operate our business

Competition in our industry is intense and we are smaller and have more limited operating history than

many of our competitors

We compete with major and independent oil and natural
gas companies for property acquisitions and for

the equipment and labor required to develop and operate our properties Many of our competitors have

substantially greater financial and other resources than we do In addition larger competitors may be better

able to absorb the burden of any changes in federal state provincial and local laws and regulations than we

can which would adversely affect our competitive position These competitors may be able to pay more for

exploratory prospects and producing properties and may be able to define evaluate bid for and purchase

greater number of properties and prospects than we can Our ability to explore for natural gas and oil

prospects and to acquire additional properties in the future will depend on our ability to conduct operations to

evaluate and select suitable properties and to complete transactions in this highly competitive environment

Furthermore the oil and natural
gas industry competes with other industries in supplying the energy and fuel

needs of industrial commercial and other consumers

Hedging our production may result in losses or limit our ability to benefit from price increases

To reduce our exposure to hydrocarbon price fluctuations we have entered into financial hedging

arrangements which may limit the benefit we would receive from increases in hydrocarbon prices These

hedging arrangements also expose us to risk of financial losses in some circumstances including the

following

our production could be materially less than expected or

the other parties to the hedging contracts could fail to perform their contractual obligations

If market prices for our production exceed collar ceilings or swap prices we would be required to make

monthly cash payments which could materially adversely affect our liquidity If we choose not to engage in

hedging arrangements in the future we could be more affected by changes in natural gas NGL and oil prices

than our competitors who
engage in hedging arrangements
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Delays in obtaining oil field equipment and increases in drilling and other service costs could adversely

affect our ability to pursue our drilling program and our results of operations

As natural gas NGL and oil prices increase demand and costs for drilling equipment crews and

associated supplies equipment and services can increase significantly We cannot be certain that in higher

petroleum price environment we would be able to obtain necessary drilling equipment and supplies in timely

manner or on satisfactory terms and we could experience difficulty in obtaining or material increases in the

cost of drilling equipment crews and associated supplies equipment and services In addition drilling

operations may be curtailed delayed or canceled as result of unexpected drilling conditions including urban

drilling and possible title issues Any such delays and price increases could adversely affect our ability to

execute our drilling program and our results of operations and financial condition

Our activities are regulated by complex laws and regulations that can adversely affect the cost manner or

feasibility of doing business

Our operations are subject to various U.S and Canadian federal state provincial and local government

laws and regulations that could change in response to economic or political conditions Matters that are

typically regulated include

discharge permits for drilling operations

water obtained for drilling purposes

drilling permits and bonds

reports concerning operations

spacing of wells

disposal wells

unitization and pooling of properties and

taxation

From time to time regulatory agencies have imposed price controls and limitations on production by

restricting the rate of flow of natural gas and oil wells below actual production capacity to conserve supplies

of natural gas and oil We also are subject to changing and extensive tax laws the effects of which cannot be

predicted

Legal and tax requirements frequently are changed and subject to interpretation and we are unable to

predict the ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or their effect on our operations

We cannot assure you that existing laws or regulations as currently interpreted or reinterpreted in the

future or future laws or regulations will not materially adversely affect our business results of operations and

financial condition

We are subject to environmental laws regulations and permits including greenhouse gas requirements that

may expose us to significant costs liabilities and obligations

We are subject to stringent and complex U.S and Canadian federal state provincial and local

environmental laws regulations and permits and international environmental conventions relating to among

other things the generation storage handling use disposal gathering movement and remediation of natural

gas NGLs oil and other hazardous materials the emission and discharge of such materials to the ground air

and water wildlife protection the storage use and treatment of water the placement operation and

reclamation of wells and the health and safety of our employees Failure to comply with these environmental

requirements may result in our being subject to litigation fines or other sanctions including the revocation of

permits and suspension of operations We expect to continue to incur significant capital and other compliance

costs related to such requirements

We could be liable for any environmental contamination at our or our predecessors currently or formerly

owned or operated properties or third-party waste disposal sites Certain environmental laws including

CERLA more commonly know as Superfund impose joint and several strict liability for releases of hazardous

substances at such properties or sites without regard to fault or the legality of the original contract In
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addition to potentially significant investigation and remediation costs such matters can give rise to claims

from governmental authorities and other third parties for fines or penalties natural resource damages personal

injury and property damage Regulators are also becoming increasingly focused on air emissions from our

industry including volatile organic compound emissions This increased scrutiny could lead to heightened

enforcement of existing regulations as well as the imposition of new measures to control our emissions or

curtail our operations

These laws regulations and permits and the enforcement and interpretation thereof change frequently

and generally have become more stringent over time For example GHG emission regulation is becoming

more stringent We are currently required to report annual GHG emissions from certain of our operations and

additional GHG emission related requirements have been implemented or are in various stages of

development The EPA has begun regulating GHG emissions from stationary sources pursuant to the federal

Clean Air Act as result of which we might be required to obtain permits to construct modify or operate

facilities on account of and implement emission control measures for our GHG emissions Also regulatory

authorities are considering or have developed energy or emission measures to reduce GHG emissions for oil

and gas operations Any limitation of or further regulation of GHG emissions including through

cap-and-trade system technology mandate emissions tax reporting requirement or other program could

adversely affect our business financial condition reputation operating performance and product demand In

addition to the extent climate change results in warmer temperatures or more severe weather our or our

customers operations may be disrupted which could curtail our exploration and production activity increase

operating costs and reduce product demand

In addition various U.S federal and state initiatives have been implemented or are under development to

regulate or further investigate the environmental impacts of hydraulic fracturing practice that involves the

pressurized injection of water chemicals and other substances into rock formations to stimulate hydrocarbon

production In particular the EPA has commenced study to determine the environmental and health impacts

of hydraulic fracturing Such initiatives could require the public disclosure of chemicals used in the fracturing

process which disclosure may result in increased scrutiny or third-party claims or otherwise result in

operational delays liabilities and increased costs

Our costs liabilities and obligations relating to environmental matters could have material adverse

effect on our business reputation results of operations and financial condition

The risks associated with our debt could adversely affect our business financial condition and results of

operations and the value of our securities

Subject to the limits contained in our various debt agreements we may incur additional debt Our ability

to incur additional debt and to comply with the terms of our debt agreements is affected by variety of

factors including natural gas NGL and oil prices and their effects on our proved reserves financial condition

results of operations and cash flows Among other things our ability to borrow under our Senior Secured

Credit Facility is subject to the quantity and value of our proved reserves and other assets If we incur

additional debt or fail to increase the quantity and value of our proved reserves the risks that we now face as

result of our indebtedness could intensify

We have demands on our cash resources in addition to interest expense including operating expense

principal payments under our debt and funding of our capital expenditures Our level of debt the value of our

oil and gas properties and other assets the demands on our cash resources and the provisions of our debt

agreements could have important effects on our business and on the value of our securities For example they

could

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt

require us to dedicate substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our debt

thereby reducing the amount of our cash flow available for working capital capital expenditures

acquisitions and other general corporate purposes

require us to make principal payments if the quantity and value of our proved reserves are insufficient to

support our level of borrowings
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limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in the oil and natural gas industry

place us at competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors who may have lower debt service

obligations and greater financing flexibility than we do

limit our financial flexibility including our ability to borrow additional funds

increase our interest expense on our variable rate borrowings if interest rates increase

limit our ability to make capital expenditures to develop our properties

increase our vulnerability to exchange risk associated with Canadian dollar denominated indebtedness

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and

result in default or event of default under our debt agreements which if not cured or waived could

adversely affect our financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our ability to pay principal and interest on our debt to otherwise comply with the provisions of our debt

agreements and to refinance our debt may be affected by economic and capital markets conditions and other

factors that may be beyond our control If we are unable to service our debt and fund our other liquidity

needs we will be forced to adopt alternative strategies that may include

reducing or delaying capital expenditures

seeking additional debt financing or equity capital

selling assets

restructuring or refinancing debt or

reorganizing our capital structure

We cannot assure you that we would be able to implement any of these strategies on satisfactory terms if

at all and our inability to do so could cause the holders of our securities to experience partial or total loss

of their investment in us

The provisions of our debt agreements and the risks associated with our debt could adversely affect our

business financial condition and results of operations

Our debt agreements restrict our ability to among other things

incur additional debt

pay dividends on or redeem or repurchase capital stock

make certain investments

incur or permit certain liens to exist

enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates

merge consolidate or amalgamate with another company

transfer or otherwise dispose of assets including capital stock of subsidiaries and

redeem subordinated debt

Our debt agreements among other things require the maintenance of financial covenants that are more

fully described in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements found in Item of this Annual Report

Our ability to comply with the covenants and other provisions of our debt agreements may be affected by

events beyond our control and we may be unable to comply with all aspects of our debt agreements in the

future In addition our ability to borrow under our Senior Secured Credit Facility is dependent upon the

quantity and value of our proved reserves and other assets

The provisions of our debt agreements may affect the manner in which we obtain future financing pursue

attractive business opportunities and plan for and react to changes in business conditions In addition failure

to comply with the provisions of our debt agreements could result in an event of default which could enable

the applicable creditors to declare the outstanding principal and accrued interest to be immediately due and

payable Moreover any
of our debt agreements

that contain cross-default or cross-acceleration provision

could also be subject to acceleration If we were unable to repay
the accelerated amounts the creditors could

proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure such debt If the payment of our debt is accelerated

we may have insufficient assets to repay such debt in full and the holders of our securities could experience

partial or total loss of their investment
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Parties with whom we do business may become unable or unwilling to timely perform their obligations to us

We enter into contracts and transactions with various third parties including contractors suppliers

customers lenders and counterparties to hedging arrangements under which such third parties incur

performance or payment obligations to us Any delay or failure on the part of one or more of such third

parties to perform their obligations to us could depending upon the nature and magnitude of such failure or

failures have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

small number of existing stockholders exercise significant control over our company which could limit

your ability to influence the outcome of stockholder votes

As of February 16 2011 members of the Darden family together with entities controlled by them
beneficially own approximately 32% of our outstanding common stock As result they are generally able to

significantly affect the outcome of stockholder votes including votes concerning the election of directors the

adoption or amendment of provisions in our charter or bylaws and the approval of mergers and other

significant corporate transactions

large number of our outstanding shares and shares to be issued upon conversion of our outstanding

convertible debentures or exercise of our outstanding options may be sold into the market in the future
which could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly even if our business is

performing well

Our shares that are eligible for future sale may adversely affect the price of our common stock There

were more than 170 million shares of our common stock outstanding at December 31 2010 In addition

when the conditions permitting conversion of our convertible debentures are satisfied the holders could elect

to convert such debentures Based on the applicable conversion rate at December 31 2010 the holders

election to convert such debentures could result in an aggregate of 9.8 million shares of our common stock

being issued We also had options outstanding to purchase approximately 3.3 million shares of our common
stock at December 31 2010

Sales of substantial amounts of common stock or perception that such sales could occur and the

existence of conversion and option rights to acquire shares of common stock at prices that may be below the

then current market price of the common stock could adversely affect the market price of our common stock

and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of our equity securities

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation restated bylaws and stockholder rights plan contain

provisions that could discourage an acquisition or change of control without our board of directors

approval

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws contain provisions that could

discourage an acquisition or change of control without our board of directors approval In this regard

our board of directors is authorized to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval

our board of directors is classified and

advance notice is required for director nominations by stockholders and actions to be taken at annual

meetings at the request of stockholders

In addition we have adopted stockholder rights plan which could also impede merger consolidation

takeover or other business combination involving us even if that change of control might be beneficial to

stockholders thus increasing the likelihood that incumbent directors will retain their positions In certain

circumstances the fact that corporate devices are in place that will inhibit or discourage takeover attempts

could reduce the market value of our common stock

If we do not make acquisitions on economically acceptable terms our future growth will be limited

In addition to expanding production from our current reserves we may pursue acquisitions If we are

unable to make these acquisitions because we are unable to identify attractive acquisition candidates to
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analyze acquisition opportunities successfully from an operational and financial point of view or to negotiate

acceptable purchase contracts with them unable to obtain financing for these acquisitions on economically

acceptable terms or outbid by competitors then our future growth could be limited Furthermore even if

we do make acquisitions these acquisitions may not result in an increase in the cash generated by operations

Any acquisition involves potential risks including among other things

mistaken assumptions about volume revenue and costs including synergies

an inability to integrate successfully the assets we acquire

the assumption of unknown liabilities

limitations on rights to indemnity from the seller

mistaken assumptions about the overall costs of equity or debt

the diversion of managements and employees attention from other business matters

unforeseen difficulties operating in new product areas with new customers or new geographic

areas and

customer or key employee losses at the acquired businesses

The absence of an acquisition proposal would likely have an adverse impact on the market price of our

common stock

On October 18 2010 we announced that our Board of Directors had received letter from Quicksilver

Energy L.P an entity controlled by members of the Darden family indicating that group
of investors

consisting of Quicksilver Energy L.P and members of the Darden family the Darden Investor Group is

interested in exploring strategic alternatives for us which might include take private transaction On the

last trading day prior to this announcement our common stock closed at $12.61 per share At the closing on

the day of the announcement the stock price had risen to $14.65 per
share On February 2011 the Darden

Investor Group publicly indicated that it had confidence in the executability of transaction that valued our

common stock at price in excess of $16 per share and would be interested in submitting proposal subject

to certain conditions described in its February 2011 letter to our Board of Directors On February 23 2011

we amended our Amended and Restated Rights Agreement in connection with request from the Darden

Investor Group The amendment permits the Darden Investor Group to engage in discussions with potential

co-investor regarding possible acquisition of the Company If no proposal is forthcoming from the Darden

Investor Group or from any other potential acquirer the stock price might retreat from its current trading

range There can be no assurance that any proposal for transaction will be received or that any transaction

will be approved or consummated

The difficulties associated with any attempt to gain control of our company may discourage other potential

bidders from emerging

As of February 16 2011 the Darden Investor Group beneficially owns shares representing approximately

30% of the outstanding shares of our common stock The Darden Investor Group has substantial influence

over the likelihood of consummating change in control transaction for us

Uncertainty regarding the future of our company may divert the attention of our management and

employees and impact our relationships with counterparties

The announcement that the Darden Investor Group is interested in exploring strategic alternatives for the

Company may divert the attention of our management and employees from our day-to-day operations and

impact our relationships with counterparties

We could incur material costs and expense in connection with any proposal for transaction

Our board of directors has formed Transaction Committee of independent directors to consider any

transaction that may be proposed by the Darden Investor Group as well as alternative transactions The costs

and expenses of the Transaction Committee including the fees and expenses of the Transaction Committees

independent financial and legal advisors will be payable by us whether or not any proposal is received or any
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transaction is consummated and these costs and expense could be material In addition shortly after the

announcement with respect to the Darden Investor Group number of law firms announced that they are

investigating potential claims against us and our directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties If any such

lawsuits are filed we will incur additional costs and expenses

Consummation of transaction that results in substantially more debt to us could have an adverse effect on

us such as downgrade of the ratings of our debt securities

We can provide no assurance that the consummation of any particular transaction will not result in

incurrence of substantial additional debt by us Such additional debt could have significant adverse effects on

us such as further restricting our flexibility negatively affecting our liquidity and downgrade in the ratings

of our debt securities

ITEM lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

ITEM
Properties

detailed description of our significant properties and associated 2010 developments can be found in

Item of this Annual Report which is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM Legal Proceedings

Information required with respect to this item is set forth in Note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements included in Item of this Annual Report which is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM Reserved
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PART II

ITEM Market For Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchase of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol KWK
The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices of our common stock for the

periods indicated below

HIGH LOW

2010

Fourth Quarter
15.88 12.12

Third Quarter
14.47 10.65

Second Quarter

First Quarter

2009

Fourth Quarter 16.55 11.78

Third Quarter 15.10 7.93

Second Quarter

First Quarter

As of February 15 2011 there were approximately 760 common stockholders of record

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock and intend to retain our cash flow from

operations for the future operation and development of our business In addition we have debt agreements

that restrict payments of dividends

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Quicksilver

common stock with the Standard Poors 500 Stock Index the SP 500 Index and the Standard Poors

500 Exploration and Production Index the SP 500 EP Index for the period from December 31 2005 to

December 31 2010 assuming an initial investment of $100 and the reinvestment of all dividends if any

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

$150

$100

$50

$0

2005
2010

15.45

16.59

10.53

12.82

13.35

8.89

5.29

3.98

2006 2007 2008 2009

4KWK 4f SP Oil Gas Index SP 500 Index
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of

Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly

Announced Plan

Maximum Number of

Shares that May Yet

Be Purchased Under

the Plan

December 2010

Total 4411 13.41

Represents shares of common stock surrendered by employees to satisfy the income tax withholding

obligations arising upon the vesting of restricted stock issued under our stock plans

We do not have publicly announced plan for repurchasing our common stock

The following table summarizes our repurchases of Quicksilver common stock during the quarter ended

December 31 2010

Period

October 2010

November 2010

Total Number of

Shares Average Price

Purchased Paid per Share

3088 12.75

1323 14.96
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ITEM Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth as of the dates and for the periods indicated our selected financial

information and is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for such periods The

information should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in

this Annual Report The following information is not necessarily indicative of our future results

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands except for per share data and ratios

Operating Results Information

Total revenue 928331 832735 800641 561258 390362

Operating income loss 787985 613873 249697 803581 174196

Income loss before income taxes 697679 836856 585077 730806 126248

Net income loss 444793 545239 373622 476445 90097

Net income loss attributable to Quicksilver 435069 557473 378276 475390 90006

Diluted earnings loss per common share 2.45 3.30 2.33 2.87 0.58

Dividends paid per share

Financial Condition Information

Property plant and equipment net $3067845 $2542845 $3298830 $1866540 $1546823

Midstream assets held for sale net 27178 548508 492733 280768 139465

Total assets 3512334 3612882 4498208 2773751 1881052

Long-term debt 1746716 2427523 2586045 788518 887917

All other long-term obligations 243110 121877 282101 434190 191627

Total equity 1059408 696822 1211563 1192468 602119

Cash Flow Information

Cash provided by operating activities 397720 612240 456566 319104 242186

Purchases of property plant and equipment 695114 693838 1286715 1020684 619061

Per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect two-for-one stock split effected in the form of

stock dividend in January 2008

Operating income for 2010 includes gains of $473.2 million and $57.6 million from the sales of

KGS and BBEP Units respectively Operating income also includes charges for impairment of

$28.6 million and $19.4 million for our HCDS and Canadian oil and gas properties respectively

Operating loss for 2009 includes charges of $786.9 million and $192.7 million for impairments

associated with our U.S and Canadian oil and gas properties respectively Net loss also includes

$75.4 million of income attributable to our proportionate ownership of BBEP and charge of

$102.1 million for impairment of that investment

Operating loss for 2008 includes charge of $633.5 million for impairment associated with our U.S

oil and gas properties Net loss also includes $93.3 million for pre-tax income attributable to our

proportionate ownership of BBEP and pre-tax charge of $320.4 million for impairment of that

investment

Operating income and net income for 2007 include gain of $628.7 million recognized from the

divestiture of our Michigan Indiana and Kentucky oil and
gas properties and other assets and

charge of $63.5 million associated with natural gas fixed-price sales contract that expired in March

2009 under which we no longer delivered natural gas produced from properties owned or operated by

us
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ITEM Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Managements Discussion and Analysis MDA is intended to help readers of our

financial statements understand our business results of operations financial condition liquidity and capital

resources MDA is provided as supplement to and should be read in conjunction with the other sections

of this Annual Report Until the sale of all of our interests in KGS we conducted our operations in two

segments our more dominant exploration and production segment and our significantly smaller

gathering and processing segment Except as otherwise specifically noted or as the context requires

otherwise and except to the extent that differences between these segments or our geographic segments are

material to an understanding of our business taken as whole we present this MDA on consolidated basis

Our MDA includes the following sections

Overview general description of our business the value drivers of our business measurements and

opportunities challenges and risks

2010 Highlights summary of significant activities and events affecting Quicksilver

2011 Capital Program summary of our planned capital expenditures during 2011

Financial Risk Management information about debt financing and financial risk management

Results of Operations an analysis of our consolidated results of operations for the three years

presented in our financial statements

Liquidity Capital Resources and Financial Position an analysis of our cash flows sources and uses

of cash contractual obligations and commercial commitments

Critical Accounting Estimates discussion of critical accounting estimates that represent choices

between acceptable alternatives and/or require management judgments and assumptions

OVERVIEW

We are Fort Worth Texas-based independent oil and gas company engaged in the acquisition

exploration development exploitation and production of natural gas NGLs and oil We focus primarily on

unconventional reservoirs onshore in North America where hydrocarbons may be found in challenging

geological conditions such as fractured shales coal beds and tight sands We generate revenue income and

cash flows by producing and selling natural gas NGLs and oil We conduct acquisition exploration

development exploitation and production activities to replace the reserves that we produce

At December 31 2010 99% of our proved reserves were natural gas and NGLs Consistent with one of

our business strategies we continue to develop and apply our unconventional resources expertise to our

development projects in the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe Canyon Our Barnett Shale Asset and Horseshoe

Canyon Asset reserves made up 90% and 9% respectively of our proved reserves at December 31 2010 Our

acreage in the Horn River Basin provides us the most immediate additional opportunity for further application

of this expertise

We focus on three key value drivers

reserve growth

production growth and

maximizing our operating margin

Our reserve growth relies on our ability to apply our technical and operational expertise to explore

develop and exploit unconventional reservoirs We strive to increase reserves and production through

aggressive management of our operations and through relatively low-risk development and exploitation

drilling We will also continue to identify high-potential exploratory projects with comparatively higher levels

of financial risk All of our development and exploratory programs are aimed at providing us with

opportunities to develop and exploit unconventional reservoirs which align to our technical and operational

expertise
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Acreage that we hold in our core operating areas is well suited for production increases through

development and exploitation drilling We perform workover and infrastructure projects to reduce ongoing

operating costs and enhance current and future production rates We regularly review the properties we

operate to determine if steps can be taken to efficiently increase reserves and production

In evaluating the result of our efforts we consider the capital efficiency of our drilling program and also

measure the following key indicators organic reserve growth production volume cash flow from operating

activities and earnings per
share

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Organic reserve growth 19% 20% 29%

Production volume Bcfe 129.6 118.5 96.2

Cash flow from operating activities in millions 397.7 612.3 456.6

Diluted earnings loss per
share 2.45 3.30 2.33

This ratio is calculated by subtracting beginning of the year proved reserves from adjusted end of the

year proved reserves and dividing by beginning of the year proved reserves Adjusted end of the year

reserves are calculated by adding back divested reserves and production and deducting acquired

reserves from end of the year reserves

2010 HIGHLIGHTS

Strategic Alternatives for Quicksilver

In October 2010 members of the Darden family the Darden Investor Group sent letter to our board

of directors in which they expressed an interest in pursuing strategic alternatives for Quicksilver including

potentially taking us private In response our board of directors has formed committee of independent

directors to consider any
transaction that may be proposed by the Darden Investor Group as well as alternative

transactions The transaction committee retained independent legal and financial advisors On February

2011 the Darden Investor Group publicly indicated that it had confidence in the executability of transaction

that valued our common stock at price in excess of $16 per share and would be interested in submitting

proposal subject to certain conditions described in its February 2011 letter to our Board of Directors On

February 23 2011 we amended our Amended and Restated Rights Agreement in connection with request

from the Darden Investor Group The amendment permits the Darden Investor Group to engage in discussions

with potential co-investor regarding possible acquisition of the Company We are presently unable to

assess the most likely outcome from this process or its impact on our stock price financial position or results

of operations

Crestwood Transaction Hill County Dry System and Midstream Operations

We completed the sale of all our interests in our publicly traded midstream partnership to Crestwood in

October 2010 The Crestwood Transaction included our conveying

100% ownership interest in Quicksilver Gas Services Holdings LLC which owned

5696752 common units of KGS
11513625 subordinated units of KGS representing limited partner interests in KGS
100% of the outstanding membership interests in Quicksilver Gas Services GP LLC including

469944 general partner units in KGS and 100% of the outstanding incentive distribution rights

in KGS and

subordinated promissory note issued to us by KGS with carrying value of $58 million at

September 30 2010

We received $700 million from Crestwood including $8 million in November from KGS for third-quarter

distributions and transaction costs that we paid We recognized gain of $473 million We have the right to
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receive up to an additional $72 million in future earn-out payments in 2012 and 2013 although no amounts

attributable to the earn-out payments have been recognized through December 31 2010

Under the agreements governing the Crestwood Transaction both parties agreed for two years not to

solicit employees of the other party and we agreed not to compete with KGS with respect to the gathering

treating and processing of natural gas
and the transportation of natural gas liquids in Denton Hood

Somervell Johnson Tarrant Parker Bosque and Erath counties within the Barnett Shale Thomas Darden

continues as director to KGS general partners board of directors where he may serve until the later of

October 2012 or such time as we generate less than 50% of KGS consolidated revenue in any fiscal year

In connection with the closing of the Crestwood Transaction we are providing transitional services to

KGS through March 31 2011 on customary terms KGS and we also entered into an agreement for the joint

development of areas governed by certain of our existing commercial agreements and further we amended our

existing commercial agreements The most significant amendments include extending the terms of all

gathering agreements with KGS through 2020 and establishing fixed gathering rate of $0.55 per Mcf in the

gathering system in the Alliance Leasehold

In September 2010 our board of directors approved plan for disposal of our HCDS which gathers

natural gas and delivers it to unaffiliated pipelines for further transport and sale downstream As result of

the decision we conducted an impairment analysis of the HCDS and recognized impairment expense of

$28.6 million

We have continued to report our interests sold in the Crestwood Transaction and the HCDS as part of our

continuing operating results because our use of their midstream services subsequent to the closing of the

Crestwood Transaction constitutes continuation of service that precludes presentation of those businesses

as discontinued operations under GAAP The assets and liabilities of these operations have been reclassified

and are segregated in our consolidated balance sheets

The following summarizes the significant items related to our midstream operations

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Income loss before income taxes for

Midstream operations KGS 34339 42844 39053

Midstream operations HCDS 124 644 573
Midstream impairment expense 28611

Transaction costs 2555

Results of midstream operations before income tax 3297 42200 38480

Income tax expense 1265 15428 12836

Results of midstream operations net of income tax 2032 26772 25644

Lake Arlington Acquisition

In May 2010 we completed the acquisition of an additional 25% working interest in our company

operated Lake Arlington Project We acquired the additional working interests for which we conveyed

$62.1 million in cash and 3619901 of the BBEP Units that we owned The acquired interests include proved

natural gas reserves of 125 Bcf of which 82% were proved developed As result of our conveyance of

3.6 million BBEP Units for the acquired properties we recognized $35.4 million gain as other income in the

second quarter of 2010
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BBEP Update

In April 2010 we finalized global settlement agreement with BBEP and all other parties to our lawsuit

whereby we received $18.0 million in cash Pursuant to the agreement we retained full voting rights for our

units held in BBEP subject to the provisions of limited standstill agreement and have named two directors to

the board of directors of BBEPs general partner BBEP also agreed to the reinstitution of the BBEP quarterly

distributions and other governance
accommodations The $18.0 million settlement was recognized as other

income in the second quarter of 2010 We also received quarterly distributions totaling $20.9 million in 2010

Completion of the acquisition of additional working interests in the Lake Arlington Project in May 2010 and

the sale of 1.4 million BBEP Units in September 2010 reduced our ownership of to 31% In October 2010

we sold an additional 650000 BBEP Units and recognized gain of $7.7 million Subsequent to the October

unit sale our ownership of BBEP decreased to 29% as of December 31 2010

Horn River Basin Exploration

We brought two wells online in our Horn River Asset in the last half of 2009 In 2010 we spent

$81.5 million for exploration and infrastructure development to bring our third and fourth wells online during

the fourth quarter and to initiate construction on infrastructure to gather compress and deliver gas to third-

party processing facilities

Increase in Production

Daily production increased 9% during 2010 from 2009 The production increase is discussed further in

Results of Operations below

2011 CAPITAL PROGRAM

We have budgeted our 2011 capital program to be spent in the following areas

Greater

Green Southern

Barnett River Alberta Total Horn Horseshoe Total Total

Shale Basin Basin Other U.S River Canyon Other Canada Company

In millions except wells

Drilling and completion 234.2 10.8 0.3 245.3 26.9 7.9 34.8 280.1

Midstream infrastructure 32.9 32.9 52.4 52.4 85.3

Leasehold acquisition 20.6 11.2 0.2 32.0 3.6 3.6 35.6

Corporate and other assets 1.0 0.2 0.1 32.1 33.4 11.1 0.1 9.9 21.1 54.5

Total budgeted capital 288.7 22.2 0.6 32.1 343.6 90.4 11.6 9.9 111.9 455.5

Wells drilled net 33 36 23 27 63

Wells completed net 76 79 23 24 103

For all of 2011 we expect our average production to be greater than our fourth quarter 2010 average

production rate as we continue to develop our acreage in the Barnett Shale and conduct further exploration on

our Horn River Asset the Greater Green River Basin and the Southern Alberta Asset

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

We have established internal control policies and procedures for managing risk within our organization

The possibility of decreasing prices received for our natural gas NGL and oil production is among the several

risks that we face We seek to manage this risk by entering into derivative contracts which we strive to treat

as financial hedges We have mitigated the downside risk of adverse price movements through the use of

derivatives but in doing so have also limited our ability to benefit from favorable price movements This

commodity price strategy enhances our ability to execute our development exploitation and exploration

programs meet debt service requirements and pursue acquisition opportunities even in periods of price

volatility or depression Item 7A of this Annual Report contains details of our commodity price and interest

rate risk management
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Other U.S refers to the combined amounts for our Greater Green River Asset and Southern Alberta

Basin Asset

Revenue

Natural Gas NGL and Oil

Production Revenue

Barnett Shale

Other U.S

Hedging

Total U.S

Horseshoe Canyon

Horn River

Hedging

Total Canada

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009

$321.2 $236.6 $371.1 $160.6

2.3 0.5 0.8 0.5

250.2 213.1 2.4 24.1

573.7 450.2 369.5 137.0 135.8

90.4 88.0 182.7 0.2 0.1

10.6 2.5

22.7 98.0 0.2

123.7 188.5 182.5 0.2 0.1

_______ _______ _______

Total 697.4 638.7 552.0 $137.2 135.9
_______ _______ _______

$14.0 $30.4 $493.6 $386.1

8.0 14.8 12.8 8.8

_______
7.1 226.1 213.1

38.1 732.5 608.0

90.6 88.2

10.6 2.5

22.7 98.0

123.9 188.7

Average Daily Production Volume

Barnett Shale

Other U.S

Total U.S

Horseshoe Canyon

Horn River

Total Canada

Oil Equivalent Total

Bbld MMcfed

729 873 281.9 254.2 196.6

_______
434 447 4.0 3.4 3.2

1163 1320 285.9 257.6 199.8

61.2 64.9 63.0

8.0 2.0

69.2 66.9 63.0

830 1165 1320 355.1 324.5 262.8

Average Realized Price

Barnett Shale

Other U.S

Hedging

Total U.S

Horseshoe Canyon

Horn River

Hedging

Total Canada 54.66 $325.52

27.32 45.44

Natural Gas NGL Oil Total

In millions

135.5 198.1 11.8

0.3 0.8 10.0

2008 2010 2009 2008

8.6

190.3 21.8 22.0

0.4 0.1

0.4 0.1

599.6

16.4

18.1

597.9

183.1

0.2

182.9

Natural Gas NGL

190.7 $21.8 $22.1 $38.1 $856.4 $796.7 $780.8

MMcfd Bbld

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

207.9 168.3 122.8 11913 13598 11425 433

1.5 0.6 0.3 25 34 36 397

209.4 168.9 123.1 11938 13632 11461 830

61.2 64.9 63.0

8.0 2.0

69.2 66.9 63.0

Total 278.6 235.8 186.1 11946 13637 11464

Natural Gas NGL

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

per MCD per Bbl

Oil Equivalent Total

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

per BbI per Mefe

4.23 3.85 8.26 36.93 27.31 47.38 74.71

4.16 3.62 7.43 56.04 27.02 70.52 68.77

3.28 3.45 0.05 5.53 2.06

7.51 7.31 8.20 31.44 27.30 45.39 71.87

5.06 3.71 7.92 66.03 54.66 $325.52

3.64 3.43

52.62 95.16

50.53 89.41

14.72

51.84 78.83

54.80$ -$

0.90 4.01 0.01

4.90 7.72 7.91 66.03

Total 6.86 7.42 8.10 31.46

4.16

7.41

2.26

6.47

3.71

8.33

13.92

0.25

8.18

7.94

4.80

8.68

2.17

7.02

5.07

3.64

0.90

4.90

6.61

-$ 54.80$ -$

71.90 51.85 78.83

3.43

4.01 0.01

7.72 7.93

6.73 8.12
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The following table summarizes the changes in our natural gas NGL and oil revenue

Natural

Gas NGL Oil Total

In thousands

Revenue for 2008 552046 190666 38076 780788

Volume variances 145832 37093 5394 177531

Hedge settlement variances 313493 8648 7117 329258

Price variances 372666 100467 17746 490879

Revenue for 2009 638705 135940 22053 796698

Volume variances 59534 16840 6352 36342

Hedge settlement variances 37904 24113 62017

Price variances 37078 42174 6074 85326

Revenuefor20l0 697413 137161 21775 856349

Natural gas revenue for 2010 increased from 2009 as result of increases in production The increase in

natural gas volume from our Barnett Shale Asset was primarily the result of wells brought online during 2010

Canadian natural gas production increased as production from our Horn River Asset increased 6.0 MMcfd to

8.0 MMcfd for 2010 6% decrease in production from our Horseshoe Canyon Asset due to decreased

capital spending was partially offset by increased production from our Horn River Asset Higher market

prices for natural
gas

in 2010 increased revenue but the increase was offset by decrease from hedge

settlements

The increase in NGL revenue for 2010 was due to increased market prices partially offset by payments

made to settle hedges in 2010 and 12% decrease in production from our Barnett Shale Asset compared to

2009 NGL production decreased primarily because we have focused our capital spending in areas of the

Barnett Shale where dry natural gas is prevalent

Our natural gas revenue for 2009 increased from 2008 as result of increases in production partially

offset by decrease in realized prices Decreased market prices for natural gas in 2009 reduced revenue but

this reduction was largely offset by $313.5 million increase from hedge settlements The increase in

U.S natural gas volume is due to wells brought online principally in our Barnett Shale Asset during 2009

These increases were partially offset by lower volume resulting from the Eni Transaction in June and natural

production declines from existing wells in our Bamett Shale Asset Canadian natural gas production increased

due in part to wells placed into service during the third and fourth quarters of 2009 in our Horn River Asset

NGL revenue for 2009 decreased primarily due to lower realized NGL prices for 2009 as compared to

2008 Realized NGL prices decreased despite the absence of $8.6 million paid for hedge settlements in 2008

Partially offsetting the price decrease were increases in production Production in our Barnett Shale Asset

increased 19% due to wells brought online during 2009 lower field pressures and improved NGL recoveries

from the Corvette Plant which was placed into service by KGS during the first quarter of 2009

Oil revenue for 2009 was lower than 2008 due to decreases in market prices and oil production for 2009

as compared to 2008
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Sales of Purchased Natural Gas and Costs of Purchased Natural Gas

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Sales of purchased natural gas

Purchases from Eni 53340 11195

Purchases from others 10749 12459

Total 64089 23654

Costs of purchased natural gas sold

Purchases from Eni 61121 12268

Purchases from others 10825 11265

Unrealized valuation gain loss on Gas

Purchase Commitment 6625 6625

Total 65321 30158

Net sales and purchases of natural gas 1232 6504

Our purchase and sale of Enis natural
gas production for 2010 reflected full years activity as compared

to six months activity in 2009 Additionally production has increased in our Alliance Leasehold where Enis

working interests are located because of new wells brought online throughout 2010 The Gas Purchase

Commitment which expired on December 31 2010 is more fully described in Note to the consolidated

financial statements in Item of this Annual Report

Other Revenue

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Midstream revenue

KGS 6512 7153 12521

Canada 2373 2678 2247

Other U.S 1352 2683 2613

Total midstream revenue 10237 12514 17381

Gain loss from hedge

ineffectiveness 2629 131 1621

Other 285 851

Total 7893 12383 19853

Other revenue consisting primarily of revenue from the processing gathering and marketing of natural

gas and gains and losses attributable to hedge derivative ineffectiveness decreased $4.5 million as compared

to 2009 Midstream revenue was $2.3 million lower for 2010 primarily as result of the sale of our interests

in KGS in October 2010 reduction of marketing revenue and lower volume on our HCDS Losses

attributable to ineffectiveness of our production hedge derivatives were greater for 2010 as compared to 2009

We expect that midstream revenue will decrease in 2011 from 2010 levels due to the sale of significant

midstream operations in the Crestwood Transaction

Other revenue for 2009 was $7.5 million lower when compared to 2008 KGS third-party revenue for

2009 was $5.4 million less compared to 2008 Additionally 2008 gains attributable to ineffectiveness of

derivatives hedging our production were reduced to small loss for 2009
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Operating Expense

Lease Operating Expense

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per unit amounts

Per Per Per

Barnett Shale Mcfe Mcfe Mcfe

Cash expense 47231 0.46 41538 0.45 53136 0.73

Equity compensation 841 0.01 761 0.01 1130 0.02

48072 0.47 42299 0.46 54266 0.75

Other U.S

Cash expense 5945 4.05 6348 5.20 6275 5.31

Equity compensation 182 0.12 195 0.16 190 0.16

6127 4.17 6543 5.36 6465 5.47

Total U.S

Cash expense 53176 0.51 47886 0.51 59411 0.81

Equity compensation 1023 0.01 956 0.01 1320 0.02

54199 0.52 48842 0.52 60731 0.83

Horseshoe Canyon

Cash
expense 27221 1.21 27881 1.18 28350 1.23

Equity compensation 1271 0.06 2114 0.09 2146 0.09

28492 1.27 29995 1.27 30496 1.32

Horn River

Cash
expense 2145 0.74 190 0.26

Equity compensation

2145 0.74 190 0.26

Total Canada

Cash expense 29366 1.16 28071 1.15 28350 1.23

Equity compensation 1271 0.05 2114 0.09 2146 0.09

30637 1.21 30185 1.24 30496 1.32

Total Company

Cash
expense 82542 0.63 75957 0.64 87761 0.91

Equity compensation 2294 0.02 3070 0.03 3466 0.04

84836 0.65 79027 0.67 91227 0.95

Although U.S lease operating expense
for 2010 was 11% higher than 2009 lease operating expense per

Mcfe was unchanged from 2009 to 2010 Increased
expense was the result of an 11% increase in production

volume in our Bamett Shale Asset for 2010 as compared to 2009

Lease operating expense for 2010 in Canada was almost unchanged from 2009 despite 3% increase in

2010 production compared to 2009 Lease operating expense for 2010 on Canadian dollar basis increased

C$ 1.7 million or 4% from 2009 Canadian lease operating expense on Canadian dollar basis
per

Mcfe for

2010 increased less than 1% from 2009
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For all of 2011 we expect our lease operating expense to be less than our 2010 fourth-quarter rate per

Mcfe due to higher concentration of our production in our Barnett Shale Asset which features lower lease

operating costs on per Mcfe basis

U.S lease operating expense was lower for 2009 despite 29% production increase from 2008 primarily

due to cost containment efforts in our Barnett Shale Asset during 2009 Lease operating expense per Mcfe in

our Barnett Shale Asset for 2009 decreased from 2008 as result of lower saltwater disposal costs price

reductions and our stringent efforts to contain costs through vendor bidding processes bulk purchasing and

additional reliance on automation of well operations

Canadian lease operating expense for 2009 was unchanged from 2008 Canadian lease operating expense

per Mcfe for 2009 decreased because of production increases Lease operating expense on Canadian dollar

basis for 2009 compared to 2008 increased C$3.3 million or 9% due primarily to the Canadian production

increase

Gathering Processing and Transportation Expense

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per unit amounts

Per Per Per

Mcfe Mcfe Mcfe

Barnett Shale 82976 0.81 42678 0.46 37601 0.52

Other U.S 22 0.01 11 0.01 43 0.04

Total U.S 82998 0.80 42689 0.45 37644 0.51

Horseshoe Canyon 4867 0.22 4803 0.20 5431 0.24

Horn River 6143 2.11 1196 1.62

Total Canada 11010 0.44 5999 0.25 5431 0.24

Total 94008 0.73 48688 0.41 43075 0.45

GPT for 2010 compared to 2009 increased primarily due to the loss of fees earned by KGS for gathering

and processing production from our Barnett Shale Asset following the closing of the Crestwood Transaction

KGS revenue earned from gathering and processing production from our Barnett Shale Asset net of

associated operating expense averaged $18.5 million per quarter for the first three quarters of 2010 Fourth

quarter 2010 GPT consisted primarily of fees charged by KGS Canadian GPT increased for 2010 both in

total dollars and on per
Mcfe basis primarily as result of transportation fees associated with higher

production from our Horn River Asset for 2010

For all of 2011 we expect GPT to increase from the fourth quarter 2010 per
Mcfe rate due to anticipated

production increases in higher GPT cost areas and the sale of midstream operations in the Crestwood

Transaction

U.S GPT for 2009 were 13% higher than 2008 although 2009 U.S production increased 29% from 2008

On per Mcfe basis GPT decreased 11% as result of an increase in the production of dry gas from our

Lake Arlington Project and our Alliance Leasehold in 2009 as compared to 2008
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Production and Ad Valorem Taxes

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per unit amounts

Per Per Per

Production taxes Mcfe Mcfe Mcfe

U.S 9171 0.09 4746 0.05 8549 0.12

Canada 609 0.03 222 0.01 1387 0.06

Total production taxes 9780 0.07 4968 0.04 9936 0.10

Ad valorem taxes

U.S 21797 0.21 $16658 0.18 7450 0.10

Canada 2579 0.10 2255 0.09 1348 0.06

Total ad valorem taxes 24376 0.19 18913 0.16 8798 0.09

Total $34156 0.26 23881 0.20 $18734 0.19

Production taxes for 2010 reflect 15% increase in realized prices before hedge settlements for

production from our Barnett Shale Asset and an 11% increase in production volume from our Bamett Shale

Asset when compared to 2009 Higher U.S ad valorem taxes for 2010 reflect the addition of wells

particularly in areas with higher ad valorem tax rates and increases to ad valorem tax rates assessed by taxing

entities in Texas when compared to 2009

U.S production taxes for 2009 decreased by 44% from 2008 because of the 50% decrease in realized

prices before hedge settlements in our Barnett Shale Asset partially offset by increased production U.S ad

valorem taxes for 2009 reflect the addition of wells and midstream facilities in our Barnett Shale Asset during

2009 as compared to 2008

Depletion Depreciation and Accretion

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per unit amounts

Per Per Per

Depletion Mcfe Mcfe Mcfe

U.S 125243 $1.20 127888 $1.36 120845 $1.65

Canada 38825 1.54 33782 1.38 40337 1.75

Total depletion 164068 1.27 161670 1.36 161182 1.68

Depreciation of other fixed assets

U.S 30252 0.29 33329 0.35 21751 0.30

Canada 4698 0.19 3952 0.16 3780 0.16

Total depreciation 34950 0.27 37281 0.31 25531 0.27

Accretion 3585 0.03 2436 0.02 1483 0.01

Total 202603 1.56 201387 $1.70 188196 $1.96

U.S depletion expense for 2010 was less than 2009 as 12% decrease in the U.S depletion rate was

partially offset by an 11% increase in U.S production Changes in the U.S-Canadian dollar exchange rate

accounted for $3.7 million of the increase in Canadian depletion expense To lesser extent increased

Canadian production also contributed to the 15% increase in Canadian depletion expense Both our U.S and

Canadian depletion rates have been impacted by the impairment charges recognized during 2009 The
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Canadian depletion rate has been further impacted by evaluated Horn River Basin capital costs and future

development costs included in proved reserve estimates at December 31 2010

The decrease in 2010 U.S depreciation expense as compared to 2009 is the result of the sale of KGS
KGS depreciation expense through September 2010 was $15.9 million as compared to $18.8 million for all of

2009

Depletion expense
for 2009 was relatively unchanged from 2008 as production increases were almost

entirely offset by lower depletion rates Our U.S depletion expense increased due primarily to the 29%

increase in U.S production volume Both our U.S and Canadian depletion rates were impacted by impairment

charges U.S impairment charges were recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009

Canadian impairment charges were recognized in the first second and fourth quarters of 2009 Changes in

the U.S.-Canadian dollar exchange rate also contributed to lower Canadian depletion expense and the Canadian

depletion rate
per

Mcfe We expect that our consolidated depletion rate for 2011 will be comparable to that of

the 2010 fourth quarter

The change in the exchange rate decreased Canadian depletion $2.6 million when comparing 2009 to

2008 The $11.6 million increase in U.S depreciation for 2009 as compared to 2008 was primarily associated

with the addition of gathering and processing facilities in our Barnett Shale Asset

Impairment Expense

As required under GAAP we perform quarterly ceiling tests to assess impairment of our oil and
gas

properties We also assess our fixed assets reported outside the full-cost pool when circumstances indicate

impairment may have occurred Information detailing the calculation of
any impairment is more fully

described in our Critical Accounting Policies found below and in Note to the consolidated financial

statements in Item of this Annual Report

In 2010 we recognized impairment expense of $48.0 million As result of the decision by our board of

directors to approve plan for disposal of our HCDS we conducted an impairment analysis of the HCDS and

recognized $28.6 million non-cash charge for impairment We also recognized non-cash $19.4 million

charge for impairment of our Canadian oil and gas properties Our Canadian full-cost pool has undergone

significant change associated with the cost of bringing our initial Horn River Asset wells online and associated

field costs while the proved reserves recognized have been limited due to the lack of any substantial

production history for the area

We recognized non-cash charges totaling $979.6 million for impairments related to both our U.S and

Canadian oil and gas properties in 2009 The primary factor that caused the decrease in the future cash flows

from our proved oil and
gas reserves was lower benchmark natural gas prices at March 31 2009 for the

U.S and Canada and further Canadian price decreases at June 30 2009 Additionally reductions in the

expected Canadian capital investment for the following 12- and 18-month periods at June 30 2009 further

decreased Canadian future net cash flows from our proved oil and gas reserves At September 30 2009 the

unamortized cost of our Canadian oil and gas properties exceeded the full cost ceiling limitation by

$38.8 million As permitted by full cost accounting rules in effect at that date improvements in AECO spot

natural gas prices subsequent to September 30 2009 eliminated the necessity to record charge for

impairment Use of the unweighted average of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices as

required by the SEC effective December 31 2009 resulted in fourth quarter impairment of our Canadian oil

and gas properties

We recognized non-cash charge of $633.5 million for impairment related to our U.S oil and gas

properties in December 2008 The impairment charge was primarily result of significantly lower natural gas

and NGL prices at year-end 2008 when compared to year-end 2007 Additionally we determined that

exploration costs incurred for evaluation of the Delaware Basin of West Texas would become part of the

U.S full-cost pool and no longer be excluded from depletion As part of the evaluation of our activities in the

Delaware Basin we conducted an analysis of our midstream assets in West Texas for impairment We
recorded an impairment charge of $9.2 million to reduce the midstream assets to their estimated fair values
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General and Administrative Expense

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per unit amounts

Per Per Per

Mcfe Mcfe Mcfe

Cash expense 55313 0.43 55200 0.47 49982 0.52

Litigation settlement 2650 0.02 5000 0.04 9633 0.10

Equity compensation 22144 0.17 17043 0.14 12639 0.13

Total 80107 0.62 77243 0.65 72254 0.75

General and administrative expense for 2010 was $2.9 million greater than 2009 due to an increase in

stock-based compensation expense which included $3.6 million for the vesting of all of KGS unvested stock-

based compensation at the time of its sale Legal and professional fees for 2010 however were $5.9 million

lower than in 2009 primarily due to settlement of our litigation with BBEP in April 2010 and decrease in

litigation settlement costs These decreases were partially offset by $2.5 million incurred in 2010 for

transaction costs principally investment banking and legal fees related to the Crestwood Transaction

For all of 2011 we expect general and administrative expense per Mcfe to be less than the 2010 full year

rate due to the absence of expense
attributable to KGS prior to the Crestwood Transaction

Despite decrease in litigation resolution costs 2009 legal fees increased $6.1 million because of our

litigation with BBEP the Eni Transaction and various other corporate matters Non-cash expense for stock-

based compensation in 2009 increased $4.4 million when compared to 2008

Gain on Sale of KGS

In October 2010 we recognized $473.2 million gain upon closing of the Crestwood Transaction

Further information regarding the transaction can be found in Note to our consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this Annual Report

Income from Earnings of BBEP

We record our portion of BBEPs earnings during the quarter in which their financial statements become

publicly available As result our 2010 and 2009 annual results of operations include BBEPs earnings for

the 12 months ended September 30 2010 and 2009 respectively Our 2008 results of operations reflect

BBEPs earnings from November 2007 when we acquired BBEP Units through September 30 2008

We recognized income of $22.3 million for equity earnings from our investment in BBEP based upon its

reported earnings for the 12-month period ended September 30 2010 as compared to income of $75.4 million

recognized in 2009 BBEP continues to experience significant volatility in its net earnings primarily due to

changes in the value of its derivative instruments for which it does not employ hedge accounting

Additionally we reduced our ownership of BBEP Units in 2010 As of December 31 2010 we owned BBEP

Units representing 29% of total BBEP Units outstanding

During 2009 we recognized $75.4 million for equity earnings from our investment in BBEP The

increase in equity earnings recognized during 2009 compared with 2008 is primarily due to mark-to-market

accounting rendered by BBEP on its derivative portfolio

Impairment of Investment in BBEP

During the first quarter of 2009 we evaluated our investment in BBEP for impairment in response to

further decreases in prevailing commodity prices and the BBEP Unit price after December 31 2008 As

result of these decreases we made the determination that the decline in value was other-than-temporary

Accordingly our impairment analysis which utilized the March 31 2009 closing price of $6.53 per BBEP
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Unit resulted in aggregate fair value of $139.4 million for the portion of BBEP Units that we owned The

$139.4 million aggregate fair value was compared to the $241.5 million carrying value of our investment in

BBEP We recorded the difference of $102.1 million as an impairment charge during the first quarter of 2009

similar analysis was performed at each subsequent quarter-end of 2009 and 2010 which resulted in no

further impairment Note to our consolidated financial statements found in Item of this Annual Report

contains additional information regarding our investment in BBEP

During the fourth quarter of 2008 our management considered the fair value of the BBEP Units along

with the fair value trend of its peers the trend and future petroleum strip prices and the limited availability of

credit which occurred in the latter half of 2008 Based on these factors management determined that the

decrease in fair value of BBEP Units was other-than-temporary and recorded charge of $320.4 million to

reduce the carrying value of our investment in BBEP to its fair value

Other Income

In 2010 we settled our litigation against BBEP and received $18.0 million We also recognized gain of

$35.4 million from the conveyance of 3.6 million BBEP common units as consideration in the acquisition of

additional working interests in our Lake Arlington Project in May 2010 Gains totaling $22.2 million were

recognized in September and October from the sale of 2.05 million BBEP common units Note to the

consolidated financial statements found in this Annual Report contains additional information about these

transactions

Interest Expense

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Interest costs on debt outstanding $175877 155696 $105108

Add

Non-cash interest 17226 18410 13215

Non-cash loss on early debt extinguishment 27122

Less Interest capitalized 4750 6127 9225

Interest expense $188353 $195101 $109098

Amortization of deferred financing costs and original issue discount

Interest costs on debt outstanding for 2010 were higher than 2009 primarily because of the full year

impact of the Senior Notes Due 2016 and Senior Notes Due 2019 being outstanding Overall interest expense

was lower in 2010 than 2009 due to the absence of $27.1 million of expense related to the early retirement of

portion of our debt in 2009 We do not have practice of maintaining higher debt balances throughout the

quarter and minimizing them at quarter end for financial reporting purposes

For all of 2011 we expect interest expense to be less than the 2010 full year amount due to interest

expense attributable to KGS prior to the Crestwood Transaction

Interest costs for 2009 were higher than 2008 primarily because of higher outstanding debt balances

which included the issuance of our senior notes due 2016 in June 2009 and our senior notes due 2019 in

August 2009 The proceeds from the issuance of the Senior Notes due 2016 were used to fully repay the

Senior Secured Second Lien Credit Facility in June 2009 At that time we recognized additional interest

expense of $27.1 million for the remaining unamortized original issue discount and deferred financing costs

associated with the Senior Secured Second Lien Facility Interest rate swaps entered into in June 2009

partially offset increases of interest
expense by $13.7 million for 2009
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Income Taxes

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Income tax expense benefit $252886 291617 211455

Effective tax rate 36.2% 34.9% 36.1%

Our 2010 income tax provision increased from 2009 due primarily to higher income before taxes

including the gain recognized on the sale of KGS and gains recognized from the disposition or sale of

portion of our BBEP Units Also the impact of permanent items for non-deductible expense impact the

income tax rate applied to pre-tax income in 2010 and pre-tax loss in 2009 Additionally we recognized an

assessment of $1.0 million in Canada related to predecessors activities in 1997 The increase in our 2010

effective tax rate from the 2009 effective tax rate was primarily the result of U.S and state income tax rates

applied to the gains recognized from our sale of KGS and disposition of BBEP Units For 2010 our effective

rate in the U.S was 35.8% and in Canada excluding the $1.0 million assessment it was 40.2% Our

U.S operations generated more than 99% of our pre-tax income

Our income tax provision for 2009 changed from 2008 due to $251.8 million reduction of pre-tax

earnings that resulted primarily from higher aggregate impairment charges for our oil and gas properties

recognized during 2009 when compared to 2008 The effective tax rate for 2009 was affected by the resulting

taxable net losses in both the U.S and Canada that were taxed at 35.0% and 26.2% respectively

Quicksilver Resources Inc and its Restricted Subsidiaries

Information about Quicksilver and our restricted and unrestricted subsidiaries is included in Note 18 to

our consolidated financial statements included in Item in this Annual Report

The combined results of operations for Quicksilver and our restricted subsidiaries are substantially similar

to our consolidated results of operations which are discussed above under Results of Operations The

combined financial position of Quicksilver and our restricted subsidiaries and our consolidated financial

position are materially the same except for the property plant and equipment purchased by the unrestricted

subsidiaries which prior to October 2010 consisted of KGS and its subsidiaries The combined operating

cash flows financing cash flows and investing cash flows for Quicksilver and our restricted subsidiaries are

substantially similar to our consolidated operating cash flows financing cash flows and investing cash flows

which are discussed below in Cash Flow Activity

LIQUIDITY CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Cash Flow Activity

Operating Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Net cash provided by operating activities 397720 612303 456566

Net cash provided by operations for 2010 decreased from 2009 primarily due to our lower realized prices

including hedging effects an increase in income tax payments and an increase in cash payments for interest

These reductions of operating cash were partially offset by payment received for settlement of our BBEP

litigation and an additional $9.8 million in BBEP distributions in 2010 as compared to 2009

Cash flows provided by operating activities in 2009 increased from 2008 because of net $93.9 million

increase in production revenue including commodity derivative settlements and receipt of $41.1 million

U.S federal income tax refund as compared to income tax payments of $49.4 million in 2008 Other

components of cash flows provided by operations for 2009 decreased $40.3 million for additional interest
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payments on our outstanding debt net of interest rate derivative settlements and increased losses from third-

party natural gas purchase and sale activity of $15.8 million as compared to 2008 Additionally the cash

distributions we receive on our BBEP Units decreased $31.4 million from 2008 to $11.1 million as BBEP

eliminated 2009 quarterly distributions The remaining increase in 2009 operating cash flows was result of

lower operating and general and administrative expense and the timing of cash receipts and disbursements that

affected working capital

Investing Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Purchases of property plant and equipment 695114 693838 1286715

Alliance Acquisition 993212

Proceeds from sale of KGS LP 699973

Proceeds from sale of BBEP units 34016

Proceeds from sales of properties equipment 9953 220974 1339

Net cash provided used by investing activities 48828 472864 2278588

For each of the three years
ended December 31 2010 we have spent significant cash resources for the

development of our large acreage positions in our core areas in the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe Canyon In

addition our expenditures for gas processing and gathering assets grew significantly from the growth of KGS
We completed several significant transactions during the three years ended December 31 2010 including the

Crestwood Transaction in 2010 with net cash proceeds of $700 million after transaction costs the 2009 Eni

Transaction with net cash proceeds of $219.2 million and our 2008 Alliance Acquisition for cash of

$1.0 billion

Our purchases of property plant and equipment in 2010 continued to reflect our decision to reduce our

exploration and development activity in response to low natural gas and NGL prices Exploration and

development costs incurred were $649.5 million in 2010 Total costs incurred in 2010 of $734.8 million

included $54.4 million of BBEP Units conveyed in the Lake Arlington Project acquisition Costs incurred for

facilities and other equipment were $85.3 million which includes more than $30 million for Horn River Basin

facilities Another $45.0 million of our remaining expenditures were related primarily to expansion of

midstream facilities owned by KGS

We reduced our 2009 exploration and development activity from 2008 levels in response to lower natural

gas and NGL prices Of the $693.8 million of cash paid for property plant and equipment during 2009 79%

was invested in our oil and natural gas properties and 20% was invested in our gas gathering and processing

operations We drilled 154 93.2 net wells in the Barnett Shale and 141 36.1 net wells in Horseshoe

Canyon Our 2009 midstream capital investment of $123.0 million was primarily related to expansion of our

gas processing and gathering facilities in our Barnett Shale Asset

In 2008 we purchased 101 wells 93 producing wells and unfinished wells in the Alliance Acquisition

and drilled 296 259.7 net wells in the Barnett Shale and 373 156.9 net wells in Horseshoe Canyon

Additionally the assets purchased in the Alliance Acquisition included gathering system and we invested

$230.4 million and $4.3 million for gas gathering and processing facilities in the Barnett Shale and Horseshoe

Canyon respectively
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Financing Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Issuance of debt 690058 $1420727 2948672

Repayments of debt 1031736 1649630 1096163

Debt issuance costs 3111 32472 25219

Gas Purchase Commitment 58294

Gas Purchase Commitment repayments 44119 14175

Issuance of KGS common units 11054 80729

Distributions paid on KGS common units 13550 9925 8644
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1801 4046 1244

Taxes paid on vest of KGS equity compensation 1144 63
Excess tax benefits on exercise of stock options 3513

Purchase of treasury stock 4910 922 23137

Net cash provided used by financing activities 392144 143391 $1796753

Net financing cash flows in 2010 include $455 million used to repay all outstanding balances on our

Senior Secured Credit Facility using portion of the proceeds from the Crestwood Transaction The

completion of our obligation under the Gas Purchase Commitment during 2010 also contributed to the use of

cash by financing activities

Net financing cash flows for 2009 reflect our efforts to restructure and reduce our debt outstanding at

December 31 2008 In 2009 we received total proceeds of $873.1 million from the issuance of our senior

notes due 2016 with principal amount of $600 million and our senior notes due 2019 with principal

amount of $300 million The senior notes due 2016 bear interest at the rate of 11.75% paid semiannually on

January and July The senior notes due 2019 bear interest at the rate of 9.125% paid semiannually on

February 15 and August 15 Borrowings and repayments in 2009 under the Senior Secured Credit Facility

were $492 million and $890 million respectively which resulted in net decrease of $398 million outstanding

in 2009 KGS increased borrowings under the KGS Credit Agreement by $49.5 million in 2009 Proceeds

from the debt issuances and the Eni Transaction in 2009 were used to repay and terminate the remaining

indebtedness under our Senior Secured Second Lien Facility and to repay portion of the outstanding

borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facility The KGS Secondary Offering completed in December

2009 resulted in net proceeds of $80.3 million

Liquidity and Borrowing Capacity

During the fourth quarter of 2010 our Senior Secured Credit Facility maturity was extended by one year

and now matures on February 2013 The Senior Secured Credit Facility availability is governed by

borrowing base and determined annually by the lenders taking into consideration the estimated value of oil

and gas properties and any other relevant information all in accordance with their customary practices for oil

and gas loans in effect from time to time At December 31 2010 the borrowing base and commitments were

$1.0 billion and the aggregate letter of credit capacity was $175 million The Senior Secured Credit Facility

provides us an option to increase availability by up to $250 million with maximum of $1.45 billion with

lender consents and additional commitments We can also extend the maturity date up to two additional years

with lenders approval The facility provides for revolving loans swingline loans and letters of credit from

time to time in an aggregate amount not to exceed the lesser of the borrowing base or commitments

U.S borrowings under the facility are secured by among other things Quicksilvers and our U.S subsidiaries

oil and gas properties Canadian borrowings under the facility are secured by among other things

substantially all of our oil and gas properties We have also pledged portion of our equity interests in BBEP

to secure our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facility At December 31 2010 there was
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$930 million available under the facility Our ability to remain in compliance with the financial covenants in

our credit facilities may be affected by events beyond our control including market prices for our products

Any future inability to comply with these covenants unless waived by the requisite lenders could adversely

affect our liquidity by rendering us unable to borrow further under our credit facilities and by accelerating the

maturity of our indebtedness

Additional information about our debt and related covenants are more fully described in Note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements in Item of this Annual Report

We believe that our capital resources are adequate to meet the requirements of our existing business We

anticipate that our 2011 capital expenditure program will be substantially funded by cash flow from

operations but expect that we will also utilize the Senior Secured Credit Facility

Depending upon conditions in the capital markets and other factors we will from time to time consider

the issuance of debt or other securities other possible capital markets transactions or the sale of assets the

proceeds of which could be used to refinance current indebtedness or for other corporate purposes We will

also consider from time to time additional acquisitions of and investments in assets or businesses that

complement our existing asset portfolio Acquisition transactions if any are expected to be financed through

cash on hand and from operations bank borrowings the issuance of debt or other securities or combination

of those sources

Financial Position

The following impacted our balance sheet as of December 31 2010 as compared to our balance sheet as

of December 31 2009

Our net property plant and equipment balance increased $525.0 million from December 31 2009 to

December 31 2010 Our property plant and equipment balances increased by $694.8 million because of

costs incurred for property plant and equipment and assets recognized when retirement obligations were

established for new wells and facilities Changes for U.S-Canadian exchange rates further increased our

property plant and equipment balances $29.9 million Offsetting the increases was DDA and

impairment expense of $199.7 million

Our current and non-current derivative assets and liabilities increased $34.8 million on net basis We

received $194.0 million for settlement of commodity derivatives and $50.8 million for settlement of

interest rate derivatives The $279.3 million increase in the valuation of our open derivative positions at

December 31 2010 more than offset these decreases Our current deferred income tax liability related

to our derivatives decreased because of changes in the allocation of open derivative positions between

the U.S and Canada and the difference between U.S and Canadian statutory tax rates

Long-term debt was reduced by net repayments on the Senior Secured Credit Facility of $475.8 million

using proceeds from the Crestwood Transaction We have also classified the outstanding balance of our

contingently convertible debentures as current as the holders of the debentures can require us to repay all

or portion of the debentures on November 2011 These decreases were slightly offset by the

deferral of gains from our settled interest rate swap derivatives for $30.8 million which will continue to

be recognized as reduction of interest expense over terms of the associated debt instruments

Our net deferred income tax position changed from net asset position of $91.9 million to net liability

position of $157.0 million primarily because of deferred income tax expense recognized on the gains

from sales of KGS and BBEP Units and 2010 income

Completion of the sale of KGS reduced net assets and net liabilities for our midstream business held for

sale and noncontrolling equity At December 31 2010 net assets and net liabilities held for sale remain

only for the HCDS
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Contractual Obligations Information regarding our contractual and scheduled interest obligations at

December 31 2010 is set forth in the following table

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1-3 4-5 More than

Total Year Years Years Years

In thousands

Long-term debt $1896114 150000 21114 1425000 300000

Scheduled interest

obligations 951032 171078 501373 184775 93806

GPT contracts 414304 44315 187321 109488 73180

Drilling rig contracts 55978 31827 24151

Purchase obligations 1136 1136

Asset retirement obligations 57809 1574 756 504 54975

Unrecognized tax benefits 9219 9219

Operating lease obligations 40450 3301 11821 6930 18398

Total obligations 3426042 403231 755755 1726697 540359

Long-Term Debt As of December 31 2010 our outstanding indebtedness included $475 million of

senior notes due 2015 $600 million of senior notes due 2016 $300 million of senior notes due 2019

$350 million of senior subordinated notes $150 million of contingently convertible debentures all

before original issue discount and outstanding amounts under our Senior Secured Credit Facility Based

upon our debt outstanding and interest rates as of December 31 2010 we anticipate interest payments

including our scheduled interest obligations to be $171.1 million in 2011 Should we be required to

borrow on our Senior Secured Credit Facility and based on interest rates as of December 31 2010 each

$50 million in borrowings would result in additional annual interest payments of $0.9 million If the

current borrowing availability under our Senior Secured Credit Facility were to be fully utilized by year-

end 2011 at interest rates as of December 31 2010 we estimate that annual interest payments would

increase by $31.5 million If interest rates increase 1% on our December 31 2010 variable debt

balances of $21.1 million our annual pre-tax income would decrease or increase by $0.2 million

Scheduled Interest Obligations As of December 31 2010 we had scheduled interest payments of

$39.2 million annually on our senior notes due 2015 $70.5 million annually on our senior notes due

2016 $27.4 million annually on our senior notes due 2019 $24.9 million annually on our $350 million

of senior subordinated notes $2.8 million annually on our $150 million of contingently convertible

debentures and $6.3 million annually on our Senior Secured Credit Facility

Gathering Processing and Transportation Contracts Under contracts with various third parties we are

obligated to provide minimum daily natural gas volume for gathering processing fractionation or

transportation as determined on monthly basis or pay for any volume deficiencies at specified

reservation fee rate Our production is expected to exceed the daily volume provided in the contracts

Drilling Rig Contracts We utilize drilling rigs from third parties in our development and exploration

programs The outstanding drilling rig contracts require payment of specified day rate ranging from

$20000 to $26500 for the entire lease term regardless of our utilization of the drilling rigs

Purchase Obligations At December 31 2010 we were under contract to purchase goods and services

for use in field and
gas plant operations

Asset Retirement Obligations Our obligations result from the acquisition construction or development

and the normal operation of our long-lived assets

Unrecognized Tax Benefits We have recorded obligations that have resulted from tax benefit claims in

our tax returns that do not meet the recognition standard of more likely than not to be sustained upon
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examination by tax authorities At December 31 2010 $8.9 million of the unrecognized tax benefits if

recognized would reduce our effective tax rate

Operating Lease Obligations We lease office buildings and other property under operating leases

Commercial Commitments We had the following commercial commitments as of December 31 2010

Amounts of Commitments by Expiration Period

Less than 1-3 4-5 More than

Total Year Years Years Years

In thousands

Surety bonds 39366 39366

Standby letters of credit 49237 49237

Total 88603 88603

Surety Bonds Our surety bonds have been issued to fulfill contractual legal or regulatory requirements

Surety bonds generally have an annual renewal option

Standby Letters of Credit Our letters of credit have been issued to fulfill contractual or regulatory

requirements including $28.9 million issued to provide credit support for surety bonds All of these

letters of credit were issued under our Senior Secured Credit Facility and generally have an annual

renewal option During 2011 we expect our utilization of letters of credit to increase in support of

transportation contracts in the Horn River Basin by up to $6.5 million

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP In connection with the

preparation of our financial statements we are required to make assumptions and estimates about future

events and apply judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenue expense and the

related disclosures We base our assumptions estimates and judgments on historical experience current trends

and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time we prepare our consolidated financial

statements On regular basis management reviews the accounting policies assumptions estimates and

judgments to ensure that our financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP
However because future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty actual results could

differ materially from our assumptions and estimates

Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

included in Item of this Annual Report Management believes that the following accounting estimates are

the most critical in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results and they require

managements most difficult subjective or complex judgments resulting from the need to make estimates

about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain Management has reviewed these critical accounting

estimates and related disclosures with our Audit Committee

Oil and Gas Reserves

Policy Description

Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of oil natural gas and NGLs that geological and

engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future
years from known reservoirs

under existing economic and operating conditions Under the current rule adopted by the SEC in December

2008 we incorporated the following changes into our proved reserve process and related disclosures for 2009

and 2010 include

the use of an unweighted average of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices for

determination of proved reserve values included in calculating full cost ceiling limitations and for annual

proved reserve disclosures
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consideration of and limitations on the types of technologies that may be used to reliably establish and

estimate proved reserves

reporting of investments and progress made during the year to convert proved undeveloped reserves to

proved developed reserves and

reporting on the independence and qualifications of our personnel and independent petroleum engineers

who are responsible for the preparation of our reserve estimates

Operating costs are the period end operating costs at the time of the reserve estimate and are held

constant into future periods Our estimates of proved reserves are determined and reassessed at least annually

using available geological and reservoir data as well as production performance data Revisions may result

from changes in among other things reservoir performance prices economic conditions and governmental

restrictions Our proved reserve estimates and related disclosures for 2010 and 2009 are presented in

compliance with this new rule Our 2008 proved reserve estimates and related disclosures were prepared in

compliance with the SEC rule then in effect

The current SEC rule allows PUD reserves to be booked beyond one offset location where reliable

technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic producibility at greater distances whereas

the prior rule allowed recognizing only one offset In accordance with the current rule we recognized

incremental PUD locations in our Barnett Shale Asset In our Barnett Shale Asset we had 360 proved

undeveloped gas well locations at December 31 2010 including 104 locations that are more than one offset

Additional information regarding our proved oil and gas reserves may be found under Oil and Natural Gas

Reserves found in Item of this Annual Report

Judgments and Assumptions

All of the reserve data in this Annual Report are based on estimates Estimates of our oil natural
gas

and NGL reserves are prepared in accordance with guidelines established by the SEC Reservoir engineering

is subjective process
of estimating recoverable underground accumulations of oil natural gas

and NGLs

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating recoverable quantities of proved oil and natural gas

reserves Uncertainties include the projection of future production rates and the expected timing of

development expenditures The accuracy
of

any reserve estimate is function of the quality of available data

and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment As result reserve estimates may be different

from the quantities of oil natural gas and NGLs that are ultimately recovered

The
passage

of time provides more qualitative information regarding estimates of reserves and revisions

are made to prior estimates to reflect updated information The weighted average
annual revisions to our

reserve estimates over the last four years have been less than 2% of the weighted average previous years

estimate excluding revisions due to price changes However there can be no assurance that more significant

revisions will not be
necessary

in the future If future significant revisions are necessary
that reduce

previously estimated reserve quantities it could result in ceiling test-related impairment In addition to the

impact of the estimates of proved reserves on the calculation of the ceiling limitation estimation of proved

reserves is also significant component of the calculation of depletion expense For example if estimates of

proved reserves decline the depletion rate will increase resulting in decrease in net income

Full Cost Ceiling Calculations

Policy Description

We use the full cost method to account for our oil and
gas properties Under the full cost method all

costs associated with the acquisition exploration development and exploitation of oil and gas properties are

capitalized and accumulated in cost centers on country-by-country basis This includes any internal costs

that are directly related to development and exploration activities but does not include any costs related to

production general corporate overhead or similar activities Proceeds received from disposals are credited

against accumulated cost except when the sale represents significant disposal of reserves in which case

gain or loss is calculated and recognized The application of the full cost method generally results in higher

capitalized costs and higher depletion rates compared to its alternative the successful efforts method The
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sum of net capitalized costs and estimated future development and dismantlement costs for each cost center is

depleted on the equivalent unit-of-production basis using proved oil and gas reserves Excluded from amounts

subject to depletion are costs associated with unevaluated properties

Under the full cost method net capitalized costs are limited to the lower of unamortized cost reduced by

the related net deferred tax liability and asset retirement obligations or the cost center ceiling The cost center

ceiling is defined as the sum of estimated future net revenue discounted at 10% per annum from proved

reserves based on the unweighted average of the preceding 12-month first day-of the-month prices year-end

prices for 2008 adjusted to reflect local differentials and contract provisions unescalated year-end costs and

financial derivatives that hedge our oil and gas revenue the cost of properties not being amortized the

lower of cost or market value of unproved properties included in the cost being amortized less income tax

effects related to differences between the book and tax bases of the oil and
gas properties If the net book

value reduced by the related net deferred income tax liability and asset retirement obligations exceeds the cost

center ceiling limitation non-cash impairment charge is required

Judgments and Assumptions

The discounted present value of future net cash flows from our proved oil natural gas and NGL reserves

is the major component of the ceiling calculation and is determined in connection with the estimation of our

proved oil natural
gas

and NGL reserves Estimates of reserves are forecasts based on engineering data

projected future rates of production and the timing of future expenditures The
process

of reserve estimation

requires substantial judgment resulting in imprecise determinations particularly for new discoveries

Different reserve engineers may make different estimates of reserve quantities based on the same data

While the quantities of proved reserves require substantial judgment the associated prices of natural gas

NGL and oil reserves and the applicable discount rate that are used to calculate the discounted present value

of the reserves do not require judgment The current SEC rule requires the use of the future net cash flows

from proved reserves discounted at 10% Therefore the future net cash flows associated with the proved

reserves is not based on our assessment of future prices or costs In calculating the ceiling we adjust the

future net cash flows by the discounted value of derivative contracts in place that hedge future prices This

valuation is determined by calculating the difference between reserve pricing and the contract prices for such

hedges also discounted at 10%

Because the ceiling calculation dictates that our historical experience be held constant indefinitely and

requires 10% discount factor the resulting value is not necessarily indicative of the fair value of the reserves

or the oil and
gas properties Oil and natural gas prices have historically been volatile At any time that we

conduct ceiling test forecasted prices can be either substantially higher or lower than our historical

experience Also marginal borrowing rates may be well below the required 10% used in the calculation

Rates below 10% if they could be utilized would have the effect of increasing the otherwise calculated

ceiling amount Therefore oil and gas property ceiling test-related impairments that result from applying the

full cost ceiling limitation and that are caused by fluctuations in price as opposed to reductions to the

underlying quantities of reserves should not be viewed as absolute indicators of reduction of the ultimate

value of the related reserves

Derivative Instruments

Policy Description

We enter into financial derivative instruments to mitigate risk associated with the prices received from

our production We may also utilize financial derivative instruments to hedge the risk associated with interest

rates on our outstanding debt We account for our derivative instruments by recognizing qualifying derivative

instruments on our balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at their fair value determined by

reference to published future market prices and interest rates

For derivative instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges the effective portions of gains or losses are

deferred in other comprehensive income and recognized in earnings during the period in which the hedged
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transactions are realized Gains or losses on qualified derivative instruments terminated prior to their original

expiration date are deferred and recognized as income or expense
in the period in which the hedged

transaction is recognized If the hedged transaction becomes probable of not occurring the deferred gain or

loss is immediately recorded to earnings The ineffective portion of the hedge relationship is recognized

currently as component of other revenue

The fair values of natural gas and NGL derivatives are estimated using published market prices of natural

gas and NGLs for the periods covered by the contracts Estimates are determined by applying the net

differential between the prices in each derivative and market prices for future periods to the volume stipulated

in each contract to arrive at an estimated value of future cash flow streams These estimated future cash flow

values are then discounted for each contract at rates commensurate with federal treasury instruments with

similar contractual lives to arrive at estimated fair value

For derivative instruments that qualify as fair value hedges the gains or losses on the derivative

instruments are recognized currently in earnings and the changes in value of the hedged items are also

recognized currently in earnings Any gains or losses on the derivative instruments not offset by the gains or

losses on the hedged items are recognized as the value of ineffectiveness in the hedge relationships For

interest rate swaps that qualify as fair value hedges of our fixed-rate debt outstanding ineffectiveness is

recognized currently as component of interest expense

The fair value of all interest rate derivatives is estimated using published LIBOR interest rates for the

periods covered by the contracts The estimates are determined by applying the net differential between the

interest rate in each derivative and interest rates for future periods to the notional amount stipulated in each

contract to arrive at estimated future cash flow streams

Judgments and Assumptions

The estimates of the fair values of our commodity and interest rate derivative instruments require

substantial judgment Valuations are based upon multiple factors such as futures prices volatility data from

major oil and gas trading points length of time to maturity and interest rates We compare our estimates of

fair value for these instruments with valuations obtained from independent third parties and counterparty

valuation confirmations The values we report in our financial statements change as these estimates are

revised to reflect actual results Future changes to forecasted or realized commodity prices could result in

significantly different values and realized cash flows for such instruments

Stock-based Compensation

Policy Description

An estimate of fair value is determined for all share-based payment awards Recognition of

compensation expense
for all share-based payment awards is recognized over the vesting period for each

award

Judgments and Assumptions

Estimating the grant date fair value of our stock-based compensation requires management to make

assumptions and to apply judgment to determine the grant date fair value of our awards These assumptions

and judgments include estimating the future volatility of our stock price expected dividend yield future

employee turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise behaviors Changes in these assumptions

can materially affect the fair value estimate

We do not believe there is reasonable likelihood that there will be material change in the future

estimates or assumptions that we use to determine stock-based compensation expense However if actual

results are not consistent with our estimates or assumptions we may be exposed to changes in stock-based

compensation expense that could be material If actual results are not consistent with the assumptions used

the stock-based compensation expense reported in our financial statements may not be representative of the

actual economic cost of the stock-based compensation

56



Income Taxes

Policy Description

Deferred income taxes are established for all temporary differences between the book and the tax basis of

assets and liabilities In addition deferred tax balances must be adjusted to reflect tax rates that we expect

will be in effect during years in which we expect the temporary differences will reverse Canadian taxes are

computed at rates in effect or expected to be in effect in Canada U.S deferred tax liabilities are not

recognized on profits that are expected to be permanently reinvested in Canada and thus are not considered

available for distribution to us Net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets are reviewed

annually for recoverability and if necessary are recorded net of valuation allowance

Judgments and Assumptions

We must assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and

provide judgment on the amount of financial statement benefit that an uncertain tax position will realize upon

ultimate settlement To the extent that we believe that more than 50% probability exists that some portion

or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized we must establish valuation allowance Significant

management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets

and in determining the amount of financial statement benefit to record for uncertain tax positions We
consider all available evidence both positive and negative to determine whether based on the weight of the

evidence valuation allowance is needed and consider the amounts and probabilities of the outcomes that

could be realized upon ultimate settlement of an uncertain tax position using the facts circumstances and

information available at the reporting date to establish the appropriate amount of financial statement benefit

Evidence used for the valuation allowance includes information about our current financial position and results

of operations for the current and preceding years as well as all currently available information about future

years including our anticipated future performance the reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities and tax

planning strategies available to us To the extent that valuation allowance or uncertain tax position is

established or changed during any period we would recognize expense or benefit within our consolidated tax

expense

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements within the meaning of Item 303a4 of SEC

Regulation S-K

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The information regarding recent accounting pronouncements materially affecting our consolidated

financial statements is included in Note to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this Annual

Report which is incorporated herein by reference
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ITEM 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Commodity Price Risk

We enter into financial derivative contracts to mitigate our exposure to commodity price risk associated

with anticipated future production and to increase the predictability of our revenue As of December 31 2010

the following forecasted production has been hedged with price collars or price swaps

Production Daily Production

Year Gas NGL
MMcfd MBbld

190

2012 130

2013 70

2014-2015 30

Utilization of our financial hedging program will most often result in realized prices from the sale of our

natural gas NGL and oil that vary from market prices As result of settlements of derivative contracts our

revenue from natural gas NGL and oil production was greater by $248.9 million and $310.9 million for 2010

and 2009 respectively and $18.4 million lower for 2008

The following table details our open derivative positions at December 31 2010

Basis swaps hedge the AECO basis adjustment at deduction of $0.39 per
Mcf from NYMEX for 2011

2011

Remaining Contract

Product Type Period

Weighted Avg
Fair Value

Price Per Mcf

Volume or Shi Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

In thousands

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 10 MMcfd 6.00- 7.00 5508 5508

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 10 MMcfd 6.00- 7.00 5508 5508

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 20 MMcfd 6.00- 7.00 11016 11016

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 10 MMcfd 6.25- 7.50 6377 6377

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 10 MMcfd 6.25- 7.50 6377 6377

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2011 20 MMcfd 6.25- 7.50 12755 12755

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2012 20 MMcfd 6.50- 7.15 25470 14423 11047

Gas Collar Jan 2011-Dec 2012 20 MMcfd 6.50- 718 25577 14484 11093

Gas Collar Jan 2012-Dec 2012 20 MMcfd 6.50- 8.01 11416 11416

Gas Basis Jan2Oll-Dec2Oll lOMMcfd 615 615

Gas Basis Jan2Oll-Dec2Oll lOMMcfd 615 615

Gas Basis Jan 2011-Dec 2011 20 MMcfd 1230 1230

Gas Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2013 10 MMcfd 5.00 151 1973 353 1469

Gas Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2013 10 MMcfd 5.00 151 1973 353 1469

Gas Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2013 10 MMcfd 5.00 151 1973 353 1469

Gas Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2013 10 MMcfd 5.00 151 1973 353 1469

Gas Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2015 10 MMcfd 6.00 13743 5083 3246 2349 1788 1277

Gas Swap Jan 201 1-Dec 2015 20 MMcfd 6.00 27486 10166 6492 4698 3576 2554

NGL Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2011 MBbld 36.06 5302 5302

NGL Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2011 MBbld 36.31 3356 3356

NGL Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2011 MBbld 41.95 1123 1123

146762 94514 41882 1171 5364 3831Grand Total
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The following table summarizes derivatives entered into since January 2011

Weighted Avg

Price Per Mcf or

Product Type Contract Period Volume Bbl

NGL Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2011 1.0 MBbld 40.50

NGL Swap Jan 2011-Dec 2011 1.5 MBbld 40.42

Interest Rate Risk

In February 2010 we executed the early settlement of the 2009 interest rate swaps that were designated

as fair value hedges of our senior notes due 2015 and our senior subordinated notes We received cash of

$18.0 million in the settlement including $3.7 million for interest previously accrued and earned and

recognized the remaining $14.3 million as fair value adjustment to our debt which will be amortized over

the remaining period that the debt is outstanding

In February 2010 we entered into new interest
swaps to hedge the same debt instruments We executed

early settlement of portion of the 2010 interest rate swaps in May 2010 and the remaining 2010 interest

swaps in July 2010 for $6.8 million and $16.7 million respectively These settlements included $7.0 million

for interest previously accrued and earned The remaining cash of $16.5 million was recognized as fair

value adjustment to our debt which will continue to be recognized as reduction of interest
expense over the

life of the associated underlying debt instruments

For 2010 and 2009 interest
expense decreased $14.0 million and $13.7 million respectively because of

our interest rate swaps

The fair value of all derivative instruments included in these disclosures was estimated using prices

quoted in active markets for the periods covered by the derivatives and the value confirmed by counterparties

Estimates were determined by applying the net differential between the prices in each derivative and market

prices for future periods to the amounts stipulated in each contract to arrive at an estimated future value This

estimated future value was discounted on each contract at rates commensurate with federal treasury

instruments with similar contractual lives

Foreign Currency Risk

Our Canadian subsidiary uses the Canadian dollar as its functional currency To the extent that business

transactions in Canada are not denominated in Canadian dollars we are exposed to foreign currency exchange

rate risk For 2010 2009 and 2008 non-functional currency transactions resulted in losses of $0.5 million

$2.2 million and $3.3 million respectively included in net earnings Furthermore the Senior Secured Credit

Facility permits Canadian borrowings to be made in either U.S or Canadian-denominated amounts However the

aggregate borrowing capacity of the entire facility is calculated using the U.S dollar equivalent Accordingly

there is risk that exchange rate movements could impact our available borrowing capacity
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Quicksilver Resources Inc

Fort Worth Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Quicksilver Resources Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of

income loss and comprehensive income loss equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2010 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of Quicksilver Resources Inc and subsidiaries at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of

their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements on December 31 2009 the Company

adopted Accounting Standards Update No 2010-3 Oil and Gas Reserve Estimation and Disclosures

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based

on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 11 2011 expressed an unqualified

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Fort Worth Texas

March ii 2011
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

In thousands except for per share data

2010 2009 2008

Revenue

Natural gas NGL and oil 856349 796698 780788

Sales of purchased natural gas 64089 23654

Other 7893 12383 19853

Total revenue 928331 832735 800641

Operating expense

Lease operating expense 84836 79027 91227

Gathering processing and transportation expense 94008 48688 43075

Production and ad valorem taxes 34156 23881 18734

Costs of purchased natural gas 65321 30158

Other operating expense 4522 6684 3337

Depletion depreciation and accretion 202603 201387 188196

Impairment expense 47997 979540 633515

General and administrative expense 80107 77243 72254

Total expense 613550 1446608 1050338

Gain on sale of KGS 473204

Operating income loss 787985 613873 249697

Income from earnings of BBEP 22323 75444 93298

Impairment of investment in BBEP 102084 320387

Other income expense net 75724 1242 807

Interest expense 188353 195101 109098

Income loss before income taxes 697679 836856 585077

Income tax expense benefit 252886 291617 211455

Net income loss 444793 545239 373622

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 9724 12234 4654

Net income loss attributable to Quicksilver 435069 557473 378276

Other comprehensive income loss

Reclassification adjustments related to settlements of

derivative contracts net of income tax 164016 211863 11969

Net change in derivative fair value net of income tax 156850 125989 182472

Foreign currency translation adjustment 16017 22106 49403

Comprehensive income loss 443920 621241 233238

Earnings loss per common share basic 2.56 3.30 2.33

Earnings loss per common share diluted 2.45 3.30 2.33

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31 2010 AND 2009

In thousands except for share data

2010 2009

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 54937 1037
Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts 63380 63738
Derivative assets at fair value 89205 97957
Other current assets 30650 54652

Total current assets 238172 217384

Investments in equity affiliates
83341 112763

Property plant and equipment net

Oil and gas properties full cost method including unevaluated costs of

$314543 and $458037 respectively 2844919 2338244
Other property and equipment 222926 204601

Property plant and equipment net 3067845 2542845

Assets of midstream operations held for sale 27178 548508

Derivative assets at fair value 57557 14427
Deferred income taxes 133051
Other assets 38241 43904

3512334 3612882

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 143478

Accounts payable 167857 149766
Accrued liabilities 122904 153598
Derivative liabilities at fair value 395

Current deferred tax liability 28861 51675

Total current liabilities 463100 355434

Long-term debt 1746716 2302123

Liabilities of midstream operations held for sale 1431 148191

Asset retirement obligations 56235 48472
Other liabilities 28461 20691
Deferred income taxes 156983 41149
Commitments and contingencies Note 16

Equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 10000000 shares authorized none outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 400000000 shares authorized and

175524816 and 174469836 shares issued respectively 1755 1745
Paid in capital in excess of par value 714869 730265

Treasury stock of 5050450 and 4704448 shares respectively 41487 36363
Accumulated other comprehensive income

130187 121336
Retained earnings deficit 254084 180985

Quicksilver stockholders equity 1059408 635998

Noncontrolling interests 60824

Total equity 1059408 696822

3512334 3612882

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

In thousands except for share data

Balances at December 31 2007

Net income loss

Hedge derivative contract settlements

reclassified into earnings from

accumulated other comprehensive

income net of income tax of $6424

Net change in derivative fair value net of

income tax of $93251

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Issuance vesting of stock compensation

Stock option exercises

Issuance of common stock Alliance

Acquisition

Acquisition of treasury stock

Distributions paid on KGS common units

Balances at December 31 2008

Net income loss

Hedge derivative contract settlements

reclassified into earnings from

accumulated other comprehensive

income net of income tax of $99004

Net change in derivative fair value net of

income tax of $57007

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Issuance vesting
of stock compensation

Stock option exercises

Issuance of KGS common units

Distributions paid on KGS common units

Balances at December 31 2009

Net income

Hedge derivative contract settlements

reclassified into earnings from

accumulated other comprehensive

income net of income tax of $84835

Net change in derivative fair value net of

income tax of $78616

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Issuance vesting of stock compensation

Stock option exercises

Issuance of KGS common units

Distributions paid on KGS common units

Disposition of KGS partnership interests

Balances at December 31 2010

Quicksilver Resources Inc Stockholders Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other

Common Paid-in Treasury Comprehensive Retained Noncontrolling

Stock Capital
Stock Income Earnings Interest Total

1606 378622 12304 40066 754764 29714 1192468

378276 4654 373622

11969 11969

182472

49403

15106 3237 1013 12887

1242 1244

104 261988 262092

19900 19900

8644 8644

1717 656958 35441 185104 376488 26737 1211563

557473 12234 545239

211863 211863

125989 125989

22106 22106

22 19085 922 1645 19830

4040 4046

50182 30133

9925 ___________

1745 730265 36363 121336 180985 60824

435069 9724

164016 164016

156850

16017

23531 5124 4339 22753

2012 2015

6746 4308 11054

13550 13550

47685 65645 113330

1755 714869 41487 130187 $254084 $1059408

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

182472

49403

80315

9925

696822

444793

156850

16017
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS END DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

In thousands

2010 2009 2008

Operating activities

Net income loss 444793 545239 373622

Adjustments to reconcile net income loss to net cash provided

by operating activities

Depletion depreciation and accretion 202603 201387 188196

Impairment expense 47997 979540 633515

Deferred income tax expense benefit 179715 291414 166440
Non-cash gain loss from hedging and derivative activities 58892 6756 1139
Gain on sale of KGS 473204
Divestiture expenses 2555

Stock-based compensation 25990 20815 16128

Non-cash interest expense 17226 45532 13215

Gain on disposition of BBEP units 57584
Income from BBEP in excess of cash distributions 1417 64344 50762
Impairment of investment in BBEP 102084 320387

Other 168 747 605

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 9501 77527 53071
Derivative assets at fair value 30816 54896

Prepaid expenses and other assets 6364 3061 5448
Accounts payable 33957 12320 7602

Income taxes payable 4611 60 46561
Accrued and other liabilities 1859 33215 26039

Net cash provided by operating activities 397720 612303 456566

Investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment 695114 693838 1286715
Alliance Acquisition 993212
Proceeds from sale of KGS 699973

Proceeds from sale of BBEP units 34016

Proceeds from sale of properties and equipment 9953 220974 1339

Net cash provided used by investing activities 48828 472864 2278588

Financing activities

Issuance of debt 690058 1420727 2948672

Repayments of debt 1031736 1649630 1096163
Debt issuance costs paid 3111 32472 25219
Gas Purchase Commitment assumed 58294

Gas Purchase Commitment repayments 44119 14175
Issuance of KGS common units net offering costs 11054 80729

Distributions paid on KGS common units 13550 9925 8644
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1801 4046 1244

Excess tax benefits on exercise of stock options 3513

Taxes paid on vesting of KGS equity compensation 1144 63
Purchase of treasury stock 4910 922 23137

Net cash provided used by financing activities 392144 143391 1796753

Effect of exchange rate changes in cash 1252 2889 109

Net increase decrease in cash 53152 1063 25378
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 1785 2848 28226

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 54937 1785 2848

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2009 AND 2008

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

We are an independent oil and
gas company incorporated in the state of Delaware and headquartered in

Fort Worth Texas We engage in the acquisition exploration development exploitation production and sale

of natural gas NGLs and oil as well as the marketing processing and transportation of natural gas in North

America As of December 31 2010 our significant oil and
gas reserves and operations are located in

Texas

U.S Rocky Mountains

Alberta

British Columbia

We have offices located in

Fort Worth Texas

Glen Rose Texas

Cut Bank Montana

Steamboat Springs Colorado

Calgary Alberta

Fort Nelson British Columbia

Our results of operations are largely dependent on the difference between the prices received for our

natural gas NGL and oil products and the cost to find develop produce and market such resources Natural

gas NGL and oil prices are subject to fluctuations in
response to changes in supply market uncertainty and

variety of other factors beyond our control These factors include worldwide political instability quantities of

natural gas in storage foreign supply of natural gas and oil the price of foreign imports the level of consumer

demand and the price of available alternative fuels We actively manage portion of the financial risk relating

to natural gas NGL and oil price volatility through derivative contracts

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and all of our majority-owned subsidiaries and

companies over which we exercise control through majority voting rights We eliminate all inter-company

balances and transactions in preparing consolidated financial statements We account for our ownership in

unincorporated partnerships and companies including BBEP under the equity method when we have

significant influence over those entities but because of terms of the ownership agreements we do not meet

the criteria for control which would require consolidation of the entities

Changes in Presentation

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2009 and 2008 financial statements for presentations

adopted in 2010

Stock Split

In January 2008 our Board of Directors declared two-for-one stock split of our outstanding common

stock effected in the form of stock dividend The stock dividend was completed in January 2008 The split

had no effect on shares held in treasury The capital accounts all share data and earnings per share data

included in these consolidated financial statements for all
years presented have been adjusted to retroactively

reflect the January 2008 stock split
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires our management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expense during each reporting period Management believes its estimates and assumptions are reasonable

however such estimates and assumptions are subject to number of risks and uncertainties which may cause

actual results to differ materially from managements estimates

Significant estimates underlying these financial statements include the estimated quantities of proved

natural gas NGL and oil reserves including the associated future net cash flows from those proved reserves

used to compute depletion expense and estimates of current revenue based upon expectations for actual

deliveries and prices received Other estimates that require assumptions concerning future events and

substantial judgment include the estimated fair values of financial derivative instruments asset retirement

obligations and employee stock-based compensation Income taxes also involve the use of considerable

judgment in the estimation and evaluation of deferred income tax assets and our ability to recover operating

loss carryforwards and assessment of uncertain tax positions

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of time deposits and liquid debt investments with original maturities of three

months or less at the time of purchase

Accounts Receivable

We sell our natural gas NGL and oil production to various purchasers Each of our counterparties is

reviewed as to credit worthiness prior to the extension of credit and on regular basis thereafter Although we
do not require collateral appropriate credit ratings are required and in some instances parental guarantees are

obtained Receivables are generally due in 30-60 days When collections of specific amounts due are no

longer reasonably assured we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts During 2010 two purchasers

individually accounted for 17% and 12% of our consolidated natural gas NGL and oil sales During 2009
three purchasers individually accounted for 15% 13% and 10% of our consolidated natural gas NGL and oil

sales

Hedging and Derivatives

We enter into financial derivative instruments to mitigate risk associated with the prices received from

our natural gas NGL and oil production We may also utilize financial derivative instruments to hedge the

risk associated with interest rates on our outstanding debt All derivatives are recognized as either an asset or

liability on the balance sheet measured at their fair value determined by reference to published future market

prices and interest rates

For derivatives instruments that qualify as cash flow hedges the effective portions of gains and losses are

deferred in other comprehensive income and recognized in revenue or interest
expense in the period in which

the hedged transaction is recognized Gains or losses on derivative instruments terminated prior to their

original expiration date are deferred and recognized as earnings during the period in which the hedged

transaction is recognized If the hedged transaction is no longer probable the deferred gain or loss would be

immediately recorded to earnings Changes in value of ineffective portions of hedges if any are recognized

currently as component of other revenue

For derivative instruments that qualify as fair value hedges the gains or losses on the derivative

instruments are recognized currently in earnings while the gains or losses on the hedged items shall adjust the

carrying value of the hedged items and be recognized currently in earnings Any gains or losses on the

derivative instruments not offset by the gains or losses on the hedged items are recognized as the value of

ineffectiveness in the hedge relationships For interest rate swaps that qualify as fair value hedges of our

fixed-rate debt outstanding ineffectiveness is recognized currently as component of interest expense
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We enter into financial derivatives with counterparties who are lenders under our Senior Secured Credit

Facility The credit facility provides for collateralization of amounts outstanding from our derivative

instruments in addition to amounts outstanding under the facility Additionally default on any of our

obligations under derivative instruments with counterparty lenders could result in acceleration of the amounts

outstanding under the credit facility The credit facility and our internal credit policies require that any

counterparties including facility lenders with whom we enter into commodity financial derivatives have credit

ratings that meet or exceed BBB- or Baa3 from Standard and Poors or Moodys respectively The fair value

for each derivative takes into consideration credit risk whether it be our counterparties or our

own Derivatives are recorded in the balance sheet as current and non-current derivative assets and liabilities

as determined by the expected timing of settlements

Investments in Equity Affiliates

We account for our investment in BBEP using the equity method We review our investment for

impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the investments carrying amount may not be

recoverable We record our portion of BBEPs earnings during the quarter in which their financial statements

become publicly available Consequently our 2010 and 2009 annual results of operations include BBEPs

earnings for the 12 months ended September 30 2010 and 2009 Our 2008 results of operations reflect

BBEPs earnings from November 2007 when we acquired BBEP Units through September 30 2008 We

are not aware of any significant events or transactions subsequent to September 30 2010 that will affect

BBEPs results of operations after that date See Note for more information on our BBEP investment

Property Plant and Equipment

We follow the full cost method in accounting for our oil and gas properties Under the full cost method

all costs associated with the acquisition exploration development and exploitation of oil and gas properties

are capitalized and accumulated in cost centers on country-by-country basis This includes any internal

costs that are directly related to development and exploration activities but does not include any costs related

to production general corporate overhead or similar activities Proceeds received from disposals are credited

against accumulated cost except when the sale represents significant disposal of reserves in which case

gain or loss is recognized The sum of net capitalized costs and estimated future development and

dismantlement costs for each cost center is depleted on the equivalent unit-of-production method based on

proved oil and
gas reserves Excluded from amounts subject to depletion are costs associated with

unevaluated properties

Under the full cost method net capitalized costs are limited to the lower of unamortized cost reduced by

the related net deferred tax liability and asset retirement obligations or the cost center ceiling The cost center

ceiling is defined as the sum of estimated future net revenue discounted at 10%
per annum from proved

reserves based on the unweighted average
of the preceding 12-month of first-day-of-the-month prices adjusted

to reflect local differentials and contract provisions year end costs and financial derivatives that hedge our oil

and gas revenue the cost of properties not being amortized the lower of cost or market value of

unproved properties included in the cost being amortized less income tax effects related to differences

between the book and tax basis of the natural
gas

and oil properties If the net book value reduced by the

related net deferred income tax liability and asset retirement obligations exceeds the cost center ceiling

limitation non-cash impairment charge is required Note to these financial statements contains further

discussion of the ceiling test

All other properties and equipment are stated at original cost and depreciated using the straight-line

method based on estimated useful lives ranging from five to forty years

Inventory

Inventories were comprised of $25.3 million and $42.6 million of materials and parts and $2.1 million

and $1.6 million of NGLs as of December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively Our materials parts and supplies

inventory is primarily comprised of oil and gas drilling or repair items such as tubing casing chemicals
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operating supplies and ordinary maintenance materials and parts The materials parts and supplies inventory

is primarily acquired for use in future drilling operations or repair operations and is carried at the lower of

cost or market on first-in first-out cost basis Market in the context of inventory valuation represents

net realizable value which is the amount that we are allowed to bill to the joint accounts under joint operating

agreements to which we are party Valuation reserve allowances for materials and supplies inventories are

recorded as reductions to the carrying values of the materials and supply inventories in our consolidated

balance sheets and as lease operating expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of the liability for asset retirement obligations in the period in which it is legally

or contractually incurred Upon initial recognition of the asset retirement liability an asset retirement cost is

capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the asset by the same amount as the liability In periods

subsequent to initial measurement the asset retirement cost is recognized as expense through depletion or

depreciation over the assets useful life Changes in the liability for the asset retirement obligations are

recognized for the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or the amount of estimated cash

flows Accretion expense is recognized for the impacts of increasing the discounted fair value to its estimated

settlement value

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title to the products transfer to the purchaser We use the sales method to

account for our production revenue whereby we recognize revenue on all natural gas NGL or oil sold to our

purchasers regardless of whether the sales are proportionate to our ownership in the property receivable or

liability is recognized only to the extent that we have an imbalance on specific property greater than the

expected remaining proved reserves As of December 31 2010 and 2009 our aggregate production

imbalances were not material

Environmental Compliance and Remediation

Environmental compliance costs including ongoing maintenance and monitoring are expensed as

incurred Those environmental remediation costs which improve property are capitalized

Debt

We record all debt instruments at face value When an issuance of debt is made at other than par

discount or premium is separately recorded The discount or premium is amortized over the life of the debt

using the effective interest method As required by GAAP we have separately accounted for the liability and

equity components of our convertible debentures which results in our recognizing interest expense at our

effective borrowing rate in effect at the time of issuance

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are established for all temporary differences between the book and the tax basis of

assets and liabilities In addition deferred tax balances must be adjusted to reflect tax rates expected to be in

effect in years in which the temporary differences reverse Canadian taxes are calculated at rates expected to

be in effect in Canada U.S deferred tax liabilities are not recognized on profits that are expected to be

permanently reinvested in Canada and thus not considered available for distribution to the parent

company Net operating loss
carry

forwards and other deferred tax assets are reviewed annually for

recoverability and if
necessary are recorded net of valuation allowance

Stock-based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense
for all share-based payment awards made to employees

and directors based on their estimated fair value at the time the awards are granted Our board of directors

may elect to issue awards payable in cash For all awards we recognize the expense associated with the

69



awards over the vesting period The liability for fair value of cash awards is reassessed at every balance sheet

date such that the vested portion of the liability is adjusted to reflect revised fair value through compensation

expense

Disclosure of Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments include cash time deposits accounts receivable notes payable accounts

payable long-term debt and financial derivatives The fair value of long-term debt is estimated as the present

value of future cash flows discounted at rates consistent with comparable maturities and includes consideration

of credit risk The carrying amounts reflected in the balance sheet for financial assets classified as current

assets and the carrying amounts for financial liabilities classified as current liabilities approximate fair value

Foreign Currency Translation

Our Canadian subsidiary uses the Canadian dollar as its functional currency All balance sheet accounts

of the Canadian operations are translated into U.S dollars at the period end exchange rate and statement of

income items are translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the period The resulting translation

adjustments are made directly to component of accumulated other comprehensive income within

stockholders equity Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated

results of operations

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Subsidiaries

Noncontrolling interests reflect the fractional outside ownership of our majority-owned and consolidated

subsidiaries Until we sold all of our interests in KGS in October 2010 we included the results of operations

and financial position of KGS in our consolidated financial statements and recognized the portion of KGS
results of operations attributable to unaffiliated unitholders as component of income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Earnings per Share

We report basic earnings per common share which excludes the effect of potentially diluted securities

and diluted earnings per common share which includes the effect of all potentially dilutive securities unless

their impact is antidilutive The calculation of earnings per share is found at Note 17

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting standard-setting organizations frequently issue new or revised accounting rules We regularly

review all new pronouncements to determine their impact if any on our financial statements No

pronouncements materially affecting our financial statements have been issued since the filing of our 2009

Annual Report on Form 10-K

ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

2010 Crestwood Transaction and Midstream Operations

In October 2010 we completed the sale of all of our interests in KGS to Crestwood in October

2010 The Crestwood Transaction included our conveying

100% ownership interest in Quicksilver Gas Services Holdings LLC which owned

5696752 common units of KGS
11513625 subordinated units of KGS representing limited partner interests in KGS
100% of the outstanding membership interests in Quicksilver Gas Services GP LLC including

469944 general partner units in KGS and 100% of the outstanding incentive distribution rights

in KGS and
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subordinated promissory note issued to us by KGS with carrying value of $58 million at

September 30 2010

We received net proceeds of $700 million including $8.0 million from KGS for third quarter 2010

distributions and after transaction costs We recognized gain of $473.2 million We have the right to collect

up to an additional $72 million in future earn-out payments in 2012 and 2013 although we have recognized

no assets related to these opportunities

Under the agreements governing the Crestwood Transaction both parties agreed for two years not to

solicit employees of the other party and we agreed not to compete with KGS with respect to the gathering

treating and processing of natural
gas

and the transportation of natural gas liquids in Denton Hood

Somervell Johnson Tarrant Parker Bosque and Erath counties in Texas We appointed Thomas Darden to

KGS general partners board of directors until the later of the second anniversary of the closing and such time

as we generate less than 50% of their consolidated revenue in any fiscal
year

In connection with the closing of the Crestwood Transaction we are providing transitional services to

KGS through March 2011 on customary terms KGS and we also entered into an agreement for the joint

development of areas governed by certain of our existing commercial agreements and further we amended our

existing commercial agreements The most significant amendments include extending the terms of all

gathering agreements with KGS through 2020 and establishing fixed gathering rate of $0.55 per Mcf for the

gathering system in the Alliance Leasehold

In September 2010 our board of directors approved plan for disposal of the HCDS As result of this

decision we conducted an impairment analysis of the HCDS and recognized charge for impairment

We have continued to report our interests sold in the Crestwood Transaction and the HCDS as part of our

continuing operating results because our use of their midstream services subsequent to closing of the

Crestwood Transaction constitutes continuation of service that precludes presentation of those businesses

as discontinued operations under GAAP The assets and liabilities of these midstream operations have been

reclassified and are separately reported in our consolidated balance sheets
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The operating results of these midstream operations as classified in our statement of income are

summarized below

For the Years Ended
December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Revenue 13119 9342 12521

Lease operating expense

PGT
expense 57679 74196 47697

Ad valorem taxes 3764 3610 1672

Other operations 3444 5233 738

DDA 19732 24502 14566

General and administrative expense 5034 3229 3423

Impairment expense 28611

Operating results of midstream operations 10213 46964 39819

Interest and other expense 6916 4764 1339

Results of midstream operations before income

tax 3297 42200 38480

Income tax expense 1265 15428 12836

Results of midstream operations net of

income tax 2032 26772 25644

Our KGS operations earned revenue from processing and gathering of our natural gas and NGL

production This revenue was consolidated as reduction of processing gathering and transportation

expense for purposes
of presenting our consolidated statements of income

Details of balance sheet items for these midstream operations are summarized below

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Assets

Cash 748

Accounts receivable net 57 1515

Other current assets 291

Property plant and equipment net 27121 543095

Other assets 2859

Total 27178 548508

Liabilities

Current liabilities 11226

Long-term debt 125400

Other non-current liabilities 1431 11565

Total 1431 148191

2010 Lake Arlington Acquisition

In May 2010 we completed the acquisition of an additional 25% working interest in our company

operated Lake Arlington Project for which we conveyed $62.1 million in cash and 3619901 BBEP Units
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owned by us with market value of $54.4 million on the date of closing We recognized gain of

$35.4 million as other income for the difference between our carrying value of $5.24 per BBEP Unit and the

fair value of $15.03 per BBEP Unit on the date of the transaction

2009 Eni Transaction

In June 2009 we completed the Eni Transaction whereby we entered into strategic alliance with Eni

and sold 27.5% interest in our Alliance Leasehold The assets were sold to Eni for $279.7 million in cash

inclusive of the Gas Purchase Commitment assumed and normal post-closing adjustments We used the

proceeds generated to repay portion of the Senior Secured Second Lien Facility

In connection with the sale we entered into gas gathering agreement with Eni covering Enis production

from the Alliance Leasehold Under that agreement and subsequent agreements KGS will gather treat and

deliver Enis Alliance Leasehold production Eni also committed to pay $19.2 million to us for construction

and installation of the facilities required to gather Enis production from future Alliance Leasehold

wells KGS is now the sole owner of these facilities and is entitled to recognize gathering revenue for the

volume of gas that are gathered

Also as part of the sale we entered into joint development agreement with Eni The joint development

agreement includes schedule of wells that we agreed to drill and complete with participation by Eni during

the development period In connection with the scheduled drilling of these wells we have committed to drill

and complete minimum number of lateral feet each year Eni agreed to pay us turnkey drilling and

completion cost of $994 per
linear foot attributable to Eni Through December 31 2010 we had cumulatively

completed 89327 linear feet under the agreement compared with contractual minimum of 86663 feet The

prospective net linear footage requirements to be drilled and completed attributable to Eni are summarized

below

Total Aggregate

Year Linear Feet

2011 41416

2012 26974

2013 34102

Under the joint development agreement we may be subject to pay Eni for damages at the end of the

development period should we fail to meet the linear footage requirements and certain production

requirements have not been satisfied We currently expect to satisfy these requirements and have recognized

no liability related to non-performance

2008 Alliance Acquisition

In August 2008 we completed the $1.3 billion Alliance Acquisition that consisted of producing and non

producing leasehold royalty and midstream assets in the Barnett Shale Consideration in the transaction was

$1 billion in cash and $262 million of our common stock
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DERIVATIVES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table details the estimated fair value of all derivative instruments where Level inputs

are the basis of our fair value estimates at December 31 2010 and 2009

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Commodity contracts $146762 $107881

Interest rate contracts 4108

Gas Purchase Commitment 6625

Total $146762 $105364

The fair value of all derivative instruments included in these disclosures was estimated using prices

quoted in active markets for the periods covered by the derivatives and the value reported by

counterparties Estimates were determined by applying the net differential between the prices in each

derivative and market prices for future periods to the amounts stipulated in each contract to arrive at an

estimated future value This estimated future value was discounted on each contract at rates commensurate

with federal treasury instruments with similar contractual lives

Commodity Price Derivatives

As of December 31 2010 we had price collars and swaps hedging our anticipated natural
gas

and NGL
production as follows

Production Daily Production

Year Gas NGL
MMcfd MBbld

2011 190

2012 130

2013 70

2014-2015 30

Since January 2011 we have entered into two NGL price swaps for total of 2.5 MBbld at weighted

average price of $40.45 per
Bbl for 2011

Interest Rate Derivatives

In June 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps on our $475 million senior notes due 2015 and our

$350 million senior subordinated notes effectively converting the interest on those issues from fixed to

floating rate indexed to one-month LIBOR The maturity dates and all other significant terms are the same

as those of the underlying debt Under these swaps we paid variable interest rate and received the fixed rate

applicable to the underlying debt The interest income or expense was accrued as earned and recorded as an

adjustment to the interest expense accrued on the fixed-rate debt The interest rate swaps were designated as

fair value hedges of the underlying debt The value of the contracts excluding the net interest accrual

amounted to net asset of $4.1 million and $4.1 million offsetting fair value adjustment to the debt hedged

as of December 31 2009 No ineffectiveness was recorded in connection with the fair value hedges The

2010 and 2009 average effective interest rates on the 2015 Senior Notes were 6.5% and 5.1%

respectively The 2010 and 2009 average effective interest rates on the Senior Subordinated Notes were 5.4%

and 3.7% respectively

In February 2010 we executed the early settlement of the 2009 interest rate swaps that were designated

as fair value hedges of our senior notes due 2015 and our senior subordinated notes We received cash of

$18.0 million in the settlement including $3.7 million for interest previously accrued and earned and

recognized the remaining $14.3 million as fair value adjustment to our debt
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In February 2010 we entered into new interest swaps to hedge the same debt instruments We executed

early settlement of portion of the 2010 interest rate swaps in May 2010 and the remaining 2010 interest

swaps in July 2010 for $6.8 million and $16.7 million respectively These settlements included $7.0 million

for interest previously accrued and earned The remaining cash of $16.5 million was recognized as fair

value adjustment to our debt

The remaining deferral of these early settlements from all interest rate swaps will continue to be

recognized as reduction of interest
expense over the life of the associated underlying debt instruments

currently scheduled as follows

In thousands

2011 4897

2012 5315

2013 5769

2014 6261

2015 4824

2016 569

27635

Gas Purchase Commitment

Based on information available on June 19 2009 we recognized liability pursuant to the Gas Purchase

Commitment based on the estimated production volume attributable to Eni through December 31 2010 which

then totaled 22.2 Bcf The Gas Purchase Commitment contained an embedded derivative that was adjusted to

fair value throughout the period of the commitment which expired on December 31 2010 The following

summarizes activity to the Gas Purchase Commitment

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Beginning liability at fair value 50744 58294

Decrease due to gas volumes purchased 35057 14175

Decrease due to changes in gas volumes 9062
Embedded derivative 6625 6625

Ending liability at fair value 50744

Ii Initial valuation of the Gas Purchase Commitment was estimated using estimated Eni production

volume from June 19 2009 through December 2010 and published future market prices and risk

adjusted interest rates as of June 19 2009
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The estimated fair value of our derivative instruments at December 31 2009 and 2010 were as follows

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

As of December 31 As of December 31

2010 2009 2010 2009

In thousands In thousands

Derivatives designated as hedges

Commodity contracts reported in

Current derivative assets 97863 97883 8658 638

Noncurrent derivative assets 63419 11031 5862

Current derivative liabilities 243 638

Interest rate contracts reported in

Current derivative assets 712

Noncurrent derivative assets 3396

Total derivatives designated as hedges 161282 113265 14520 1276

Derivatives not designated as hedges

Gas Purchase Commitment reported in

accrued liabilities 6625

Total derivatives not designated as hedges 6625

Total derivatives 161282 113265 14520 7901

The increase in carrying value of our commodity price derivatives since December 31 2009 principally

resulted from the overall decline in market prices for natural gas relative to the prices in our open derivative

instruments at December 31 2010 These increases were partially offset by monthly settlements received

during 2010
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The changes in the carrying value of our derivatives for 2010 and 2009 are presented below

Derivative fair value at January 2009

Change in amounts receivable/payable-net

Net settlements

Net settlements reported in revenue

Net settlements reported in interest expense

Unrealized change in fair value of Gas Purchase

Commitment reported in costs of purchased gas

Change in fair value of effective interest swaps

Ineffectiveness reported in other revenue

Cash settlement reported in OCI

Unrealized gains reported in OCI

Derivative fair value at December 31 2009

Change in amounts receivable/payable-net

Net settlements reported in revenue

Net settlements reported in interest expense

Cash settlements reported in long-term debt

Unrealized change in fair value of Gas Purchase

Commitment reported in costs of purchased gas

Change in fair value of effective interest swaps

Ineffectiveness reported in other revenue

Unrealized gains reported in OCI

Derivative fair value at December 31 2010

Reported in accrued liabilities

For the Two Years Ended December 31 2010

Michigan Gas Purchase Fair Value Cash Flow

Contract Commitment Derivatives Derivatives Total

In thousands

290719 277818

9180 5662

16479

310868 310868

13724 13724

6625

18796 18796

54896

182997

6625 4108 107881

9180 3451

190504

10848

30816

6625 6625

46736 46736

2629 2629

235465 235465

146762 146762

Gains and losses from the effective portion of derivative assets and liabilities held in AOCI expected to

be reclassified into earnings during 2011 would result in gain of $59.9 million net of income taxes Hedge

derivative ineffectiveness resulted in net losses of $2.6 million and $0.1 million for 2010 and 2009

respectively and $1.6 million of net gains for 2008

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consisted of the following

Accrued production receivables

Joint interest receivables

Income tax receivable

Interest rate swap settlement receivable

Accrued production tax receivable

Other receivables

Allowance for doubtful accounts

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

36144 31979

8172

17368

1776

80

63380

12636

7018

9180

2120

1254

449

63738

12901

3518

16479

60

6625

71 131

54896

182997

105364

12631

190504

10848

30816
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OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets consisted of the following

As of December 31
2010 2009

In thousands

Inventories 27388 44258

Prepaid production taxes 5071

Deposits 597 2758

Other prepaid expense 2665 2565

30650 54652

INVESTMENT IN BBEP

At December 31 2010 we owned 15.7 million BBEP Units or 29% of BBEP whose price closed at

$20.14 per unit as of that date Note contains additional information regarding the use of 3.6 million BBEP

Units as partial consideration in the acquisition of oil and gas properties in May 2010 We further reduced our

ownership September 2010 when we sold 1.4 million BBEP Units at unit price of $16.22 net of fees

paid We recognized gain of $14.4 million as other income for the difference between our carrying value at

the time of the sale of $5.82 per
BBEP unit and the net sales proceeds In October 2010 we sold an

additional 650000 BBEP Units at unit price of $17.72 and recognized gain of $7.7 million

We initially received 21.4 million BBEP Units as partial consideration of portion of our U.S oil and gas

properties in November 2007 On June 17 2008 BBEP announced that it had repurchased and retired

14.4 million BBEP Units which represented 22% of the units previously outstanding The resulting reduction

in the number of BBEP Units outstanding increased our ownership at the time from 32% to 41%

After obtaining our BBEP Units we evaluated our investment for impairment in
response to decreases in

both prevailing commodity prices and the BBEP Unit price We considered numerous factors in evaluating

whether this was an other-than-temporary decline As result of the period during which BBEP Units traded

below our net carrying value per unit prevailing petroleum prices and broad limitations on available capital

resulted in the determination that this was an other-than-temporary decline Accordingly the impairment

analysis at December 31 2008 utilized price of $7.05 per BBEP Unit or an aggregate fair value of

$150.5 million for our investment in BBEP The estimated fair value of $150.5 million was then compared to

our carrying value of $470.9 million The difference of $320.4 million was recognized as an impairment

charge during 2008

At March 31 2009 an additional charge for impairment of $102.1 million was recognized as the closing

price of $6.53 per BBEP Unit or an aggregate fair value of $139.4 million exceeded our carrying value of

$241.5 million No subsequent impairment of our investment has occurred although additional impairment of

our investment in BBEP could occur in the future depending upon the performance of the BBEP Unit price

which itself is dependent upon numerous factors

78



We account for our investment in BBEP Units using the equity method utilizing one-quarter lag from

BBEPs publicly available information Summarized estimated financial information for BBEP is as follows

For the

Eleven Months
For the Twelve Months Ended Ended

September 30 September 30
2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Revenue 375446 609846 420321

Operating expense 285394 380197 251618

Operating income 90052 229649 168703

Interest and other 24903 45714 27795

Income tax benefit expense 939 323 593

Noncontrolling interests 146 27 206

Net income available to BBEP 65942 183585 140109

Net income available to

common unitholders 65942 183585 141660

For the twelve months ended September 30 2010 and 2009 unrealized losses of $12.1 million and

unrealized gains of $181.9 million on commodity derivatives were recognized The eleven months of

ended September 30 2008 included $39.4 million of unrealized gains on commodity

derivatives Realized gains on commodity derivatives of $70.6 million for the early settlement of

derivative positions were included for the twelve months ended September 30 2009

An impairment of BBEPs oil and gas properties of $86.4 million was included for the twelve

months ended September 30 2009

The twelve months ended September 30 2010 and 2009 included $5.2 million and $11.1 million

respectively for unrealized losses on interest rate swaps The eleven months ended September 30

2008 included $2.3 million for unrealized losses on interest rate swaps

As of September 30

2010 2009

In thousands

Current assets 145233 121207

Property plant and equipment 1728256 1754174

Other assets 98113 114673

Current liabilities 85035 64573

Long-term debt 516000 585000

Other non-current liabilities 64715 72519

Partners equity 1305852 1267962
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Changes in the balance of our investment in BBEP for 2010 and 2009 were as follows

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Beginning investment balance 112763 150503

Equity income in BBEP 22323 75444

Distributions from BBEP 20905 11100

Disposal of BBEP Units 30840

Non-cash impairment of BBEP 102084

Ending investment balance 83341 112763

Item 15 in this Annual Report contains BBEPs financial statements which have been included pursuant

to SEC Rule 3-09

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment consisted of the following

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Oil and gas properties

Subject to depletion 4805161 3947676

Unevaluated costs 314543 458037

Accumulated depletion 2274785 2067469

Net oil and gas properties 2844919 2338244

Other plant and equipment

Pipelines and processing facilities 225402 201880

General properties 70267 64893

Accumulated depreciation 72743 62172

Net other property and equipment 222926 204601

Property plant and equipment net of

accumulated depletion and depreciation 3067845 2542845

Ceiling Test Analysis and Impairment

As described in Note we are required to perform quarterly ceiling test for impairment of our oil and

gas properties in each of our cost centers The charge for impairment in 2010 was recognized as result of

significant changes in our Canadian cost center for the initial producing wells in our Horn River Asset and

associated field costs while proved reserves recognized were limited because of the short production history

for the area We recognized charges for impairment of both our U.S and Canadian cost centers during 2009

and our U.S cost center during 2008 due to significant decreases in natural gas and NGL market prices The

2008 charge for impairment of our U.S cost center was also due in part to our determination that the
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exploration costs for the Delaware Basin of west Texas would become part of the U.S full-cost pool and no

longer remain excluded from depletion The charges for impairment are summarized below

Pre-tax Charges for Impairment

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

U.S 786867 624315

Canada 19386 192673

19386 979540 624315

In September 2010 our board of directors approved plan for disposal of the HCDS As result of the

decision we conducted an impairment analysis of the HCDS and recognized $28.6 million charge for

impairment

We also conducted an analysis of our midstream assets in West Texas for impairment in 2008 in

conjunction with our evaluation of our exploration of the Delaware Basin in West Texas and recorded an

impairment charge of $9.2 million to reduce those midstream assets to their estimated fair values

Because of the volatility of oil and natural gas prices no assurance can be given that we will not

experience charge for impairment in future periods

Unevaluated Natural Gas and Oil Properties Not Subject to Depletion

Under full cost accounting we may exclude certain unevaluated property costs from the amortization

base pending determination of whether proved reserves have been discovered or impairment has occurred

summary of the unevaluated properties not subject to depletion at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the
year

in which they were incurred follows

December 31 2010 Costs Incurred During December 31 2009 Costs Incurred During

2010 2009 2008 Prior Total 2009 2008 2007 Prior Total

In thousands In thousands

Acquisition costs 42117 7482 111929 76192 237720 12175 275611 54511 63089 405386

Exploration costs 36383 21531 7616 65530 29029 16470 45499

Capitalized interest 4874 2866 3553 11293 3598 3554 7152

Total 83374 31879 123098 76192 314543 44802 295635 5451 63089 458037

The following table summarizes the regions where we have unevaluated property costs not subject to

depletion

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Barnett Shale 121854 312892

Horn River 160663 117565

Greater Green River Basin 30688 27131

Other 1338 449

Total 314543 458037

Costs are transferred into the amortization base on an ongoing basis as projects are evaluated and proved

reserves established or impairment determined Pending determination of proved reserves attributable to the

above costs we cannot assess the future impact on the amortization rate Unevaluated acquisition costs will

require an estimated eight to ten years of exploration and development activity before evaluation is complete
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Other Matters

Capitalized overhead costs that directly relate to exploration and development activities were

$17.7 million $17.1 million and $16.8 million for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Depletion per Mcfe was

$1.27 $1.36 and $1.68 for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of the following

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Deferred financing costs 60233 57122

Less accumulated amortization 22222 13451

Net deferred financing costs 38011 43671

Other 230 233

38241 43904

Costs related to the acquisition of debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the debt

10 ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Interest payable 69394 71107

Gas Purchase Commitment liability 50744

Accrued operating expenses 34136 18790

Prepayments from partners 4490 5224

Revenue payable 5563 4141

Accrued state income and franchise taxes 4497 60

Accrued production and property taxes 2448 2157

Environmental liabilities 235 659

Accrued product purchases 345 483

Current asset retirement obligations 1574 109

Other 222 124

122904 153598
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11 LONG-TERJ\T DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following

21114

470866

583605

293496

350000

143478

1862559

27635

143478

1746716

467569

469964

581359

293004

350000

136119

2298015

4108

Maturities are as follows

Senior

2012

2013

2014

2015

Thereafter

Total Senior Secured

Indebtedness Credit Facility

Senior Notes Senior Notes

due in 2015 due in 2016

In thousands

Senior Notes Subordinated Convertible

due in 2019 Notes Debentures

150000

Senior Secured Credit Facility

During the fourth quarter of 2010 our Senior Secured Credit Facility maturity was extended by one year

and now matures on February 2013 The Senior Secured Credit Facility availability is govemed by

borrowing base and determined annually by the lenders taking into consideration the estimated value of oil

and
gas properties and

any other relevant information all in accordance with their customary practices for oil

and
gas loans in effect from time to time At December 31 2010 the borrowing base and commitments were

$1.0 billion and the aggregate letter of credit capacity was $175 million The Senior Secured Credit Facility

provides us an option to increase availability by up to $250 million with maximum of $1.45 billion with

lender consents and additional commitments We can also extend the maturity date up to two additional years

with lenders approval The facility provides for revolving loans swingline loans and letters of credit from

time to time in an aggregate amount not to exceed the lesser of the borrowing base or commitments

U.S borrowings under the facility are secured by among other things Quicksilvers and our U.S subsidiaries

oil and gas properties Canadian borrowings under the facility are secured by among other things

substantially all of our oil and
gas properties We have also pledged portion of our equity interests in BBEP

to secure our obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facility At December 31 2010 there was

$930 million available under the facility Our ability to remain in compliance with the financial covenants in

our credit facilities may be affected by events beyond our control including market prices for our products

Any future inability to comply with these covenants unless waived by the requisite lenders could adversely

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Senior Secured Credit Facility

Senior notes due 2015 net of unamortized discount of $4134 and $5036

Senior notes due 2016 net of unamortized discount of $16395 and $18641

Senior notes due 2019 net of unamortized discount of $6504 and $6996

Senior subordinated notes due 2016

Convertible debentures net of unamortized discount of $6522 and $13881

Total debt

Unamortized deferred gain terminated interest rate swaps

Fair value of interest rate swaps

Current portion of long-term debt

Long-term debt

2011 150000

2302123

21114 21114

475000 475000

1250000 600000 300000 350000

1896114 21114 475000 600000 300000 350000 150000
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affect our liquidity by rendering us unable to borrow further under our credit facilities and by accelerating the

maturity of our indebtedness

Senior Notes Due 2015

In June 2008 we issued $475 million of senior notes due 2015 which are unsecured senior obligations

of Quicksilver The notes were issued at 98.66% of par Interest at the rate of 8.25% is payable semiannually

on February and August

Senior Notes Due 2016

In June 2009 we issued $600 million of senior notes due 2016 which are unsecured senior obligations

The notes were issued at 96.72% of par which resulted in proceeds of $580.3 million that were used to repay

portion of the Senior Secured Second Lien Facility Interest at the rate of 11.75% is payable semiannually

on January and July

Senior Notes Due 2019

In August 2009 we issued $300 million of senior notes due 2019 which are unsecured senior

obligations The notes were issued at 97.61% of par which resulted in proceeds of $292.8 million that were

used to repay portion of our Senior Secured Credit Facility Interest at the rate of 9.125% is payable

semiannually on February 15 and August 15

Senior Subordinated Notes

In 2009 we issued $350 million of senior subordinated notes due 2016 The senior subordinated notes

are unsecured senior subordinated obligations and bear interest at the rate of 7.125% which is payable

semiannually on April and October

Convertible Debentures

The convertible debentures due November 2024 are contingently convertible into shares of our common

stock The debentures bear interest at an annual rate of 1.875% payable semi-annually on May and

November Additionally holders of the debentures can require us to repurchase all or portion of their

debentures on November 2011 2014 or 2019 at price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued and

unpaid interest The debentures are convertible into our common stock at rate of 65.4418 shares for each

$1000 debenture subject to adjustment Generally except upon the occurrence of specified events including

certain changes of control holders of the debentures are not entitled to exercise their conversion rights unless the

closing price of our stock is at least $18.34 120% of the conversion price per share for at least 20 trading days

during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the preceding fiscal quarter

Upon conversion we have the option to deliver
any

combination of our common stock and cash Should all

debentures be converted to our common stock an additional 9816270 shares would become outstanding

however as of January 2011 the debentures were not convertible based on share prices for the quarter ended

December 31 2010 In addition upon conversion in connection with certain changes in control additional

shares may be issuable if the transaction price is between $10.72 and $37.03 per share

Because we may be required to repurchase these obligations at the option of the holders on November

2011 we have reported them as current obligations in our December 31 2010 balance sheet To the extent

that the holders of these obligations do not elect to put them on November 2011 any remaining obligations

will be reclassified to long-term after that date
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Summary of All Outstanding Debt

The following table summarizes significant aspects of our long-term debt

Priority ass
Collateral assd Structural Sessiorilyte

Highest priority Lowest priority

Scheduled maturity date

Interest rate on outstanding

borrowings at

December 31 2010 4.l25 0.25% 1.75o 9.125s 7.125 l.875

Base interest rate options LIBOR ABR or N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

specifiect5t

Financial covenants -Minimum Current ratio N/A N/A N/A N/A
of 1.0

-Minimum EBITDA to

interest expense ratio of

2.5

Significant restrictive tncurrence of debt Incurrenee of debt Incarrence of debt Incurrence of debt tncurrence of debt N/A

covenants lncurrence of liens lacurrence of liens Incarrence of liens Incurrence of lieos -Incurrence of liens

-Payment of dividends Payment of dividends Payment of dividends Payment of dividends Payment of dividends

Equity purchases Equity purchases Equity purchases Equity purchases Equity purchases

Asset sales Asset sales Asset sales Asset sales Assel sales

Affiliate transactions Affiliate transactions Affiliate transactions Affiliate transactions Affiliate transactions

Limitations on

derivatives

Optional redemption Any time
Aagust July August 15 April November 2011

2012 103.875 2013 105.875 2014 104.563 2011 103.563 and thereafter

2013 101.938 20t4 102.938 2015 103.042 2012 102.375

2014 par 2015
par 2016 tOl.521 2013 tot.188

2017 par 2014 par

Make-whole redemption Callable prior to Callable prior to Callable prior to Callable prior to N/A

Angusl 2012 at July 2013 at August 15 2014 at April 2011 at

make-whole call
price

make-whole call
price make-whole call price make-whole call price

of Treasury 50 bps of
Treasury 50 bps of Treasury 50 bps of Treasury 50 bps

Change of control Event of default Put at l0ls of Pat at 101% of Put at 101% of Pat at 10tr0 of Put at 100% of

principal plus accrued
principal plus accrued principal plus accrued principal plus accrnecl principal plus accraed

interest interest interest interest interest

Eqaity elawback N/A Redeemable until Redeemable until Redeemable until N/A

August 2011 at July 2012 at Augast 15 2012 at

107.75% plus accrued 111.75% plus accrued 109.125% plus accrued

interest far up to 35% interest for up to 35% interest for
up to 35%

Subsidiary guarantors Cowtown
Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline Cowlown Pipeline Cowlown

Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline N/A
Funding Inc Fanding Inc Funding Inc

Funding Inc Funding tnc

Cowlown Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline Cowtown Pipeline

Management Inc Maoagenseot Inc Management Inc Management Inc Management Inc

Cowtown Pipeline L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P

Cowtown Gas Cowtown Gas Cowlown Gas Cowtown Gas Cowtown Gas

Processing L.P Processing L.P Processing L.P Processing L.P Processing L.P

Qaicksilver Resoarces

Canada Inc

Estimated fair value $21.1 million $490.4 million $699.0 million $327.0 million $332.5 million $165.2 millian

As discussed in Convertible Debentures above holders of the convertible debentures can require us

to repurchase all or part of the debentures on November 2011

The Senior Secured Credit Facility is secured by first perfected lien on substantially all our assets

including portion of our BBEP Units The other debt presented is based upon structural seniority

and priority of payment

Principal amount

Senior Secured

Credit
Facility

$1.0 billion13

February 92013

2015

Senior Notes

$475 million

August 12015

2016

Senior Notes

$600 million

January 2016

2019

Senior Notes

5300 million

August 15 2019

Senior

Subordinated Notes

$350 million

April 12016

Convertible

Debeninres

$150 million

November 12024

The principal amount for the Senior Secured Credit Facility represents the borrowing base and

commitments as of December 31 2010

Represents the weighted average borrowing rate payable to lenders and excludes effects of interest

rate derivatives
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Amounts outstanding under the Senior Secured Credit Facility bear interest at our election at

LIBOR plus an applicable margin between 2.00% to 3.00% ii ABR which is the greatest of

the prime rate announced by JPMorgan the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and the

Adjusted Eurodollar Rate as defined in the credit facilities plus 1.0% plus in each case under

scenario ii an applicable margin between 1.125% to 2.125% or iii the specified rate as defined

in the credit facilities plus an applicable margin between 2.00% to 3.00%

The information presented in this table is qualified in all respects by reference to the full text of the

covenants provisions and related definitions contained in the documents governing the various

components of our debt

The estimated fair value is determined based on market quotations on the balance sheet date for

fixed rate obligations We consider debt with market-based interest rates to have fair value equal

to its carrying value

12 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The following table provides reconciliation of the changes in the estimated asset retirement obligation

from January 2009 through December 31 2010

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Beginning asset retirement obligations 48581 29960

Additional liability incurred 2440 1420

Change in estimates 2042 12916

Accretion expense 2568 1909

Sale of properties 380

Asset retirement costs incurred 1184 379

Gain on settlement of liability 1264 132

Currency translation adjustment 2098 3003

Ending asset retirement obligations 57809 48581

Less current portion 1574 109

Long-term asset retirement obligation 56235 48472
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13 INCOME TAXES

Our current and deferred tax positions were significantly impacted by the 2008 and 2009 impairments of

our oil and gas properties and our investment in BBEP Significant components of our deferred tax assets and

liabilities as of December 31 2010 and 2009 are as follows

As of December 31

2010 2009

Deferred tax assets In thousands

Net operating loss carry forwards 98870 290894

AMT tax credit 67633

Cash flow hedge settlements 19214

Interest rate swap settlements 9672

Deferred compensation expense 8401 10654

Other 7028 8712

Deferred tax assets 191604 329474

Deferred tax liabilities

Property plant and equipment 292146 185889
Cash flow hedge gains 49153 55372

BBEP investment 16545 29398

Convertible debenture interest 19604 18588

Deferred tax liabilities 377448 289247

Total deferred tax asset liability 185844 40227

Reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as

Non-current deferred income tax asset 133051

Current deferred income tax liability 28861 51675

Non-current deferred income tax liability 156983 41149

185844 40227

No rate changes occurred in any taxing jurisdiction for 2008 2009 or 2010 For 2011 and beyond we
have utilized rate of 25% in Canada and federal rate of 35% and state rate of 1% in the U.S to value our

deferred tax positions with the U.S federal and state future rates mirroring existing applicable rates

The components of income tax expense for 2010 2009 and 2008 are as follows

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Current state income tax expense benefit 4501

Current U.S federal income tax expense benefit 67632 202 45210
Current Canadian income tax expense 1038 199

Total current income tax expense benefit 73171 204 45015

Deferred state income tax expense benefit 3674 4928 1939

Deferred U.S federal income tax expense benefit 173748 262217 190938

Deferred Canadian income tax expense benefit 2293 24268 22559

Total deferred income tax expense benefit 179715 291413 166440

Total income tax expense benefit 252886 291617 211455
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2008

35.00%

0.33%

0.22%

0.09%

1.3 8%

___________ __________ 0.40%

__________ __________
36 14%

We incurred net operating tax losses of $336 million and $656 million in 2009 and 2008 respectively of

which $138 million of this loss was carried back to 2007 portion of the remaining $854 million has been

applied to our 2010 taxable income and the remainder is included in deferred tax assets at December 31

2010 Our net operating losses will expire in 2029 and 2030 In December 2009 newly enacted federal

legislation allowed us to carry back 2008 alternative minimum tax losses of $35 million to 2004 and 2007

The net operating losses have not been reduced by valuation allowance because we believe that future

taxable income would more likely than not be sufficient to utilize substantially all of our operating loss tax

carry
forwards prior to their expiration

During October 2009 the IRS commenced an audit of our 2007 and 2008 consolidated U.S federal

income tax returns No significant adjustments have been proposed by the IRS for those years The Joint

Committee of Taxation is required to review the net operating loss carrybacks we filed in 2009 which may

delay the completion of the 2007 and 2008 audits until the third quarter of 2011 We remain subject to

examination by the IRS for the years 2001 through 2006 except for 2004 An audit was completed by the IRS

for 2004 and the statute of limitations has now expired for that year

The following schedule reconciles the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2010 and 2009

Beginning unrecognized tax benefits

Gross amounts of decreases in unrecognized tax benefits as

result of tax positions taken during the current year __________ __________

Unrecognized tax benefits 9219 9219

At December 31 2010 $8.9 million of these unrecognized tax benefits if recognized would impact the

effective tax rate We do not expect that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly

increase or decrease over the next twelve months

The following table reconciles the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective tax rate for 2010

2009 and 2008

2010 2009

U.S federal statutory tax rate 35.00% 35.00%

Permanent differences 0.79% 0.18%

Noncontrolling interest benefit expense 0.49% 0.71%

State income taxes net of federal deduction 0.77% 0.38%

Recognition of uncertain tax position

Foreign income taxes 0.19% 0.98%

Other 0.01% 0.08%

Effective income tax rate 36.25% 34.85%

As of December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

9219 9255

36
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14 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contractual Obligations

Information regarding our contractual obligations at December 31 2010 is set forth in the following

table

GPT Drilling Rig Operating Purchase

Contracts Contracts Leases 3j
Obligations

In thousands

2011 44315 31827 3301 1136

2012 59005 23360 4388

2013 68980 791 3752

2014 59336 3681

2015 57119 3686

Thereafter 125549 21642

Total 414304 55978 40450 1136

Under contracts with various third parties we are obligated to provide minimum daily natural
gas

volume for gathering processing fractionation and transportation as determined on monthly basis

or pay for any deficiencies at specified reservation fee rate Our available production committed to

third parties is expected to exceed the daily volume required under the contracts Our gathering and

transportation contracts with KGS have no minimum volume requirement and therefore are not

reported in the above amounts

We lease drilling rigs from third parties for use in our development and exploration programs The

outstanding drilling rig contracts require payment of specified day rate ranging from $20000 to

$26500 for the entire lease term regardless of our utilization of the drilling rigs

We lease office buildings and other property under operating leases Rent expense for operating

leases with terms exceeding one month was $4.3 million in 2010 $4.1 million in 2009 and

$5.0 million in 2008

At December 31 2010 we were under contract to purchase goods and services related to field

operations and construction of midstream assets in the Hom River Basin

Commitments

At December 31 2010 we had $39.4 million in surety bonds issued to fulfill contractual legal or

regulatory requirements and $49.2 million in letters of credit outstanding against the credit facility including

$28.9 million issued to provide credit support for surety bonds Surety bonds and letters of credit generally

have an annual renewal option

Contingencies

Our lawsuit filed October 13 2006 against Eagle Drilling LLC Eagle as well as Eagle Domestic

Drilling Operations LLC EDDO regarding three contracts for drilling rigs is currently pending in

U.S District Court for the Southern District of Texas in Houston Texas We assert claims against Eagle for

among other things breach of contract breach of express and implied warranties fraud and negligence in

connection with Eagles obligation to provide three drilling rigs We also seek declaratory relief actual

damages and recovery of our attorney fees EDDO is no longer party in this case In September 2008 we
entered into settlement agreement with EDDO and its parent Blast Energy Services Inc Blast that was

approved in the court in October 2008 Under the settlement agreement we agreed to pay EDDO/Blast

$10 million over three-year period including $5 million on the settlement date In the still pending suit

Eagle filed counter claims against us and our Executive Vice President Operations our Chairman and our

Chief Executive Officer for among other things alleged breach of contract bad faith breach of contract
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tortious interference with business relationships false representation conspiracy and invasion of privacy

Eagles current complaint seeks an unspecified amount of actual and exemplary damages interest costs and

attorney fees On October 19 2010 the Court granted our motion for summary judgment directed to Eagles

breach of contract claims and denied Eagles motions to strike Currently our motions for summary judgment

on Eagles other claims remain pending with the Court who vacated its October 29 2010 docket call for trial

in order to have additional time to consider such motions We will continue to assert vigorous defense to

Eagles claims in addition to actively prosecuting our claims

On September 17 2007 Eagle and Rod and Richard Thornton sued Quicksilver and our Executive Vice

President Operations in the District Court of Cleveland County Oklahoma the Eagle Oklahoma Case for

damages including an unspecified amount of punitive damages resulting from Quicksilvers repudiation of

three rig contracts In October 2009 jury awarded $22 million to the plaintiffs We are actively seeking an

appeal in this matter On September 2010 our Executive Vice President Operations was charged with

perjury in Cleveland County Oklahoma based upon an affidavit Mr Cook executed in lawsuit brought

against us in Cleveland County that was later dismissed and an affidavit Mr Cook subsequently executed in

the Eagle Oklahoma suit We and our Executive Vice President Operations deny the allegations of perjury

Mr Cook will plead not guilty and will vigorously defend himself against the charges

Environmental Compliance

Our operations are subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations pertaining to health safety and

the environment As an owner or operator of these facilities we are subject to laws and regulations at the

federal state provincial and local levels that relate to air and water quality hazardous and solid waste

management and disposal and other environmental matters The cost of planning designing constructing and

operating our facilities must incorporate compliance with environmental laws and regulations and safety

standards Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may trigger variety of administrative civil and

potentially criminal enforcement measures At December 31 2010 we had recorded $0.2 million for

liabilities for environmental matters

15 NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS AND KGS

KGS issued 4000000 newly issued common units in December 2009 in the KGS Secondary Offering

and received $80.3 million net of underwriters discount and other offering costs The portion of these

proceeds related to our initial ownership interests $50.2 million was recognized as an increase to Additional

Paid-in Capital on our consolidated balance sheet In January 2010 the underwriters exercised their option

to purchase an additional 549200 newly issued common units for $11.1 million which further reduced our

ownership of KGS to 61.2% As result we recognized an additional $6.7 million to Additional Paid-in

Capital in January 2010 KGS offered additional units to the public to provide funding for its acquisition of

the Alliance Midstream Assets from us which was completed in January 2010 for $95.2 million

With the closing of the Crestwood Transaction we no longer consolidate the KGS operations or financial

position in our financial statements Accordingly we no longer have noncontrolling interests within our

financial statements either

16 QUICKSILVER STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common Stock Preferred Stock and Treasury Stock

We are authorized to issue 400 million shares of common stock with $0.01 par value per share and

10 million shares of preferred stock with $0.01 par value per
share At December 31 2010 we had

170.5 million shares of common stock outstanding
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The following table shows common share and treasury share activity since January 2008

Common Treasury
Shares Issued Shares Held

Balance at January 2008 160633270 2616726

Stock issuance 10400468

Stock repurchase 1885600

Stock options exercised 249732

Restricted stock activity 459229 70469

Balance at December 31 2008 171742699 4572795

Stock options exercised 610000

Restricted stock activity 2117137 131653

Balance at December 31 2009 174469836 4704448

Stock options exercised 336629 16908

Restricted stock activity 718351 329094

Balance at December 31 2010 175524816 5050450

Quicksilver Stockholder Rights Plan

In 2003 our Board of Directors declared dividend distribution of one preferred share purchase right for

each outstanding share of common stock then outstanding Each right when it becomes exercisable entitles

stockholders to buy one one-thousandth of share of Quicksilvers Series Junior Participating Preferred

Stock at an exercise price of $90 after adjustments to reflect the two-for-one stock split in January 2008

The rights will be exercisable only if such person or group acquires 15% or more of our common stock

or announces tender offer the consummation of which would result in ownership by such
person or group

an Acquiring Person of 15% or more of common stock This 15% threshold does not apply to certain

members of the Darden family and affiliated entities which collectively owned directly or indirectly

approximately 32% of our common stock at February 16 2011

If an Acquiring Person acquires 15% or more of our outstanding common stock each right will entitle its

holder to purchase at the rights then-current exercise price number of our common shares having market

value of twice such price If we are acquired in merger or other business combination transaction after an

Acquiring Person has acquired 15% or more of our outstanding common stock each right will entitle its

holder to purchase at the rights then-current exercise price number of the acquiring companys common
shares having market value of twice such price

Prior to the acquisition by an Acquiring Person of beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our common
stock the rights are redeemable for $0.01 per right at the option of our Board of Directors

Stock-Based Compensation

2006 Equity Plan

In 2006 our Board of Directors and our shareholders approved the 2006 Equity Plan under which

14 million shares of common stock were reserved for issuance as grants of stock options appreciation rights
restricted shares restricted stock units performances shares performance units and senior executive plan
bonuses In May 2009 stockholders approved an amendment to the 2006 Equity Plan which increased the

number of shares available for issuance to 15 million Our executive officers other employees consultants

and non-employee directors are eligible to participate in the 2006 Equity Plan Under the 2006 Equity Plan
options reflect an exercise price of no less than the fair market value on the date of grant and have life of

10 years At December 31 2010 and 2009 14.1 million shares and 15.1 million shares including 0.6 million

shares and 0.2 million shares respectively surrendered to us to satisfy participants tax withholding
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obligations which then became available for future issuance under the 2006 Equity Plan respectively were

available for issuance under the 2006 Equity Plan

Stock Options

The following summarizes the values from and assumptions for the Black-Scholes option pricing model

2010 2009 2008

Wtd avg grant date fair value $9.88 $3.36 $13.67

Wtd avg grant date Jan 2010 Jan 2009 Jan 2008

Wtd avg risk-free interest rate 3.00% 1.90% 3.41%

Expected life in years 6.0 6.0 6.0

Wtd avg volatility
66.76% 56.76% 40.2%

Expected dividends

The following table summarizes our stock option activity for 2010

Wtd Avg

Wtd Avg Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Life Value

In thousands

Outstanding at January 2010 3014441 8.97

Granted 901887 15.88

Exercised 336629 5.99

Cancelled 231057 9.48

OutstandingatDecember3l2010 3348642 11.10 8.1 $18511

Exercisable at December 31 2010 981418 12.25 7.5 6069

We estimate that total of 3281902 stock options will become vested including those options already

exercisable These unexercised options have weighted average exercise price of $11.13 and weighted

average remaining contractual life of 8.1 years

Compensation expense
related to stock options of $6.7 million $4.5 million and $1.6 million was

recognized for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively Cash received from the exercise of stock options totaled

$1.8 million $4.0 million and $1.2 million for the years 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively The total intrinsic

value of options exercised during 2010 2009 and 2008 was $2.8 million $4.3 million and $6.7 million

respectively
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Restricted Stock

The following table summarizes our restricted stock and stock unit activity for 2010

Payable in shares Payable in cash

Wtd Avg Wtd Avg
Grant Date Grant Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Outstanding at January 2010 2722875 10.33 328695 6.22

Granted 892069 15.58 217244 14.40

Vested 1115293 12.32 109602 6.22

Cancelled 170562 11.98 63704 10.20

Outstanding at December 31 2010 2329089 11.27 372633 10.31

At December 31 2009 we had unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding unvested restricted

stock of $15.1 million As of December 31 2010 the unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding

unvested restricted stock was $13.9 million which is expected to be recognized in expense over the next

years Grants of restricted stock and stock units during 2010 had an estimated grant date fair value of

$13.1 million The fair value of RSUs settled in cash was $5.5 million and $4.9 million at December 31
2010 and 2009 respectively For 2010 2009 and 2008 compensation expense of $13.3 million $14.6 million

and $13.5 million respectively was recognized The total fair value of shares vested during 2010 2009 and

2008 was $16.4 million $11.0 million and $15.1 million respectively

17 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used for the computation of basic and

diluted net income per common share Total per share amounts may not add due to rounding

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands except per share data

Net income loss attributable to Quicksilver $435069 $557473 $378276
Basic income allocable to participating securities 5563
Basic net income loss attributable to Quicksilver $429506 $557473 $378276
Impact of assumed conversions interest on 1.875%

convertible debentures net of income taxes 7194
____________

Income loss available to stockholders assuming

conversion of convertible debentures $436700 $557473 $378276

Weighted average common sharesbasic 168010 169004 162004

Effect of dilutive securities

Share-based compensation awards 801

Contingently convertible debentures 9816

Weighted average common shares diluted 178628 169004 162004

Earnings loss per common share basic 2.56 3.30 2.33
Earnings loss per common share diluted 2.45 3.30 2.33

Unvested restricted share awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends are participating

securities and therefore should be included in computing earnings using the two-class method

Participating securities however do not participate in undistributed net losses because there is no

contractual obligation to do so

For 2010 no outstanding options were excluded from the diluted net income
per

share calculation

however 0.1 million restricted shares were excluded from the diluted net income
per

share calculation
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as they were antidilutive For 2009 and 2008 the effects of convertible debt of 9.8 million shares and

all shared-based compensation awards were antidilutive and therefore excluded from the diluted share

calculations

18 CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables provide information about the entities that guarantee our senior notes and senior

subordinated notes The guarantees are full and unconditional and joint and several

Under SEC rules we are required to present financial information segregated between our guarantor and

non-guarantor subsidiaries The indentures under both our senior notes and our senior subordinated notes

distinguish between restricted subsidiaries and unrestricted subsidiaries and further specify supplemental

information that is not required under GAAP The following table illustrates our subsidiaries and their status

pursuant to the senior notes due 2015 senior notes due 2016 senior notes due 2019 and the senior

subordinated notes

Guarantor Subsidiaries
Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries

Restricted Restricted Unrestricted

Cowtown Pipeline Funding Inc Quicksilver Resources Canada Inc Quicksilver Gas Services Holdings LLC

Cowtown Pipeline Management Inc Cowtown Drilling
Inc Quicksilver Gas Services GP LLC

Cowtown Pipeline L.P Quicksilver Resources Horn River Inc Quicksilver Gas Services LP

Cowtown Gas Processing L.P Quicksilver Gas Services Operating LLC

Quicksilver Gas Services Operating GP

LLC

Cowtown Pipeline Partners L.P

Cowtown Gas Processing Partners L.P

This entity was inactive for the three-year period ended December 31 2010

This entity was amalgamated into Quicksilver Resources Canada Inc on January 2009

We sold all our interests in this entity to Crestwood on October 2010

We own 100% of each of the restricted subsidiaries

Quicksilver and the restricted subsidiaries conduct all of our exploration and production activities and the

unrestricted subsidiaries only conduct midstream operations Neither the restricted non-guarantor subsidiaries

nor the unrestricted non-guarantor subsidiaries guarantee the obligations under the senior notes and the senior

subordinated notes

However the restricted non-guarantor subsidiaries like the restricted guarantor subsidiaries are limited in

their activity by the covenants in the indentures for such matters as

incurring additional indebtedness

paying dividends

selling assets

making investments and

making restricted payments

Subject to restrictions set forth in the indentures we may in the future designate one or more additional

subsidiaries as unrestricted
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The following tables present financial information about Quicksilver and our restricted subsidiaries for

the annual periods covered by the consolidated financial statements The 2010 2009 and 2008 condensed

consolidating financial information includes changes in the financial information of our unrestricted non-

guarantor subsidiaries to present the 2010 2009 and 2008 financial information including the effects of the

purchase of Alliance Midstream Assets by KGS and the Crestwood Transaction where we sold all of our

interests in the unrestricted subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

December 31 2010

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted
Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor

Consolidating Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

ASSETS

Current assets 210652 86582 49424 108486 238172 238172

Property and equipment 2417680 68390 581775 3067845 3067845

Assets of midstream
operations 27178 27178 27178

Investment in subsidiaries equity

method 611465 243620 284504 83341 83341

Other assets 95607 191 95798 95798

Total assets 3335404 182150 $387770 392990 $3512334 $3512334

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 411586 $106627 53373 108486 463100 463100

Long-term liabilities 1864410 20346 103639 1988395 1988395

Liabilities of midstream

operations 1431 1431 1431

Quicksilver stockholders
equity 1059408 53746 230758 284504 1059408 1059408

Total liabilities and

equity $3335404 182150 $387770 392990 $3512334 $3512334

December 31 2009

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted
Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor
Consolidating Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

ASSETS

Current assets 296233 109 42622 121580 217384 217384

Property and equipment 1980053 71264 491528 2542845 2542845

Assets of midstream
operations 55717 291104 346821 502401 300714 548508

Investment in subsidiaries

equity method 549200 436437 112763 112763

Other assets 182062 3112 185174 6208 191382

Total assets 3063265 362477 537262 558017 3404987 508609 300714 3612882

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities 334638 117055 25321 121580 355434 355434

Long-term liabilities 2092629 9966 309840 2412435 2412435

Liabilities of midstream

operations 1120 1120 217564 70493 148191

Quicksilver stockholders

equity 635998 234336 202101 436437 635998 230221 230221 635998

Noncontrolling interests
60824 60824

Total liabilities and

equity 3063265 362477 537262 558017 3404987 508609 300714 3612882
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Income

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

788714 6863 126322 3197 918702 82299 72670 928331

489773 37508 113768 3197 637852 48368 72670 613550

473204 473204 473204

7666 15228 7666 15228 15228

764479 15417 12554 7666 769282 33931 15228 787985

22323 22323 22323

103821 8808 112629

254780 5396 3331 252715 171 252886

435069 10021 2355 7666 435069 24952 15228 444793

9724 9724

Net income loss attributable to

Quicksilver 435069 10021 2355 7666 435069 15228 15228 435069

Revenue

Operating expenses

Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries

Operating
income loss

Income from earnings of BBEP

Impairment of investment in BBEP

Interest expense and other

Income tax expense benefit

Discontinued operations

Net income loss

Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

Net income loss attributable to

Quicksilver

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor Consolidated Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

75444

102084

180980

270593

In thousands

Revenue

Operating expenses

Gain on sale of subsidiary

Equity in net earnings of subsidiaries

Operating income loss

Income from earnings
of BOEP

Interest expense
and other

Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss

Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests

96953 6868

For the Year Ended December 31 2009

634321 4395 188769 2014 825471 91706 84442 832735

1202124 9413 273969 2014 1483492 47610 84494 1446608

52643 27161 52643 27161 27161

620446 22143 85200 52643 630860 44096 27109 613873

75444 75444

102084 102084

3725 8526 185781 8518 2044 196343

9054 24269 285808 5809 291617

1992 1992

557473 16814 69457 52643 557473 39395 27161 545239

12234 12234

557473 16814 69457 52643 557473 27161 27161 557473
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For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

Revenue 600906 514 187126 426 788120 76084 63563 800641

Operating expenses 976984 11157 86937 426 1074652 38659 62973 1050338

Equity in net earnings of

subsidiaries 74331 21762 74331 21762 21762

Operating income loss 301747 11119 100189 74331 264770 37425 22352 249697

Income from earnings of BBEP 93298 93298 93298

Impairment of investment in BBEP 320387 320387 320387

Interest expense and other 89657 6023 14491 98125 8426 1740 108291

Income tax expense benefit 240217 6000 22509 211708 253 211455

Discontinued operations 2330 2330

Net income loss 378276 11142 63189 74331 378276 26416 21762 373622

Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 4654 4654

Net income loss attributable to

Quicksilver 378276 11142 63189 74331 378276 21762 21762 378276

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

Net cash flow provided by operations 44544 651 322579 367774 44816 14870 397720

Purchases of
property plant and

equipment 534404 651 100183 635238 52470 7406 695114

Distribution to
parent 80276 80276 80276

Proceeds from sale of KGS 699973 699973 699973

Proceeds from sale of BBEP units 34016 34016 34016

Proceeds from sale of properties and

equipment 9953 9953 9953

Net cash flow used for investing activities 289814 651 100183 188980 132746 7406 48828

Issuance of debt 478500 68358 546858 143200 690058

Repayments of debt 712000 289636 1001636 30100 1031736

Debt issuance costs 2211 900 3111 3111

Gas Purchase Commitment repayments 44119 44119 44119

Issuance of KGS common units 11054 11054

Distributions to parent 22276 22276

Distributions to noncontrolling interests 13550 13550

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1801 1801 1801

Excess tax benefits on exercise of

stock options 3513 3513 3513

Taxes paid on vested KGS equity

compensation 1144 1144

Purchase of
treasury

stock 4910 4910 4910

Net cash flow provided by used for

financing activities 279426 222178 501604 87184 22276 392144

Effect of exchange rates on cash 1252 1252 1252

Net decrease in cash and equivalents 54932 1034 53898 746 53152

Cash and equivalents at
beginning

of

period 1034 1039 746 1785

Cash and equivalents at end of period 54937 54937 54937
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For the Year Ended December 31 2009

Net cash flow provided by operating activities

Purchases of
property plant and equipment

Proceeds from sale of properties and

equipment

Net cash flow used for investing activities

Issuance of debt

Repayments of debt

Debt issuance coats

Repayments to parent

Gas Purchase Commitment net

Issuance of KGS common units

Distributions to parent

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Taxes paid on vested KGS equity

compensation

Purchase of
treasury

stock

Net cash flow provided by used for financing

activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash

Net decrease in csoh and equivalents

Cash and equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and equivalents at end of period

220974

3050 472864

1420727

1649630

32472

5645 5645

44119

80729

9925

4046

Net cash flow provided by operations

Purchases of
property plant and equipment

Proceeds from sale of equipment to

subsidiaries

Proceeds from sale of properties and

equipment

Net cash flow used for investing activities

Issuance of debt

Repayments of debt

Debt issuance costs

Payments to parent

Distributions to
parent

Distributions to noncontrolling interests

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Purchase of
treasury

stock

Net cash flow provided by used for financing

activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash

Net decrease in cash and equivalents

Cash and equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and equivalents at end of period

618

135439

208161

209734

For the Year Ended December 31 2008

Restricted Quicksilver

Subsidiary and Restricted

Eliminations Subsidiaries

In thousands

42914

1339

2087595

2778772

1096163

24733

42914

1339

42914 2278588

2948672

1096163

25219

42914

23282

8644

1244

Restricted Restricted Restricted Quicksilver Unrestricted Quicksilver

Quicksilver Guarantor Non-Guarantor Subsidiary and Restricted Non-Guarantor Resources Inc

Resources Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

In thousands

358405 73202 148280 579887 68133 35717 612303

474659 73202 94209 642070 54818 3050 693838

220206 768 220974

254453 73202 93441 421096 54818

1305137 59590 1364727 56000

1428105 116025 1544130 105500

29901 1125 31026 1446

44119

4046

44119

4046

80729

27022 27022

9925

63 63

922 922 922

105626 57560 163186 12872 32667 143391

2889 2889 2889

1674 168 1506 443 1063

1679 866 2545 303 2848

1034 1039 746 1785

Restricted

Quicksilver Guarantor

Resources Inc Subsidiaries

290160

1995791

42914

Restricted

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries

137005

136057

Unrestricted

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries

Quicksilver

Resources Inc

Eliminations Consolidated

427165 52683 23282 456566

2131848 148079 2279927

721

1952156

2570611

886429

24733

148079

169900

486

42914

23282

8644

1244 1244

23137 23137 23137

1637556 1573 1635983 94574 66196 1796753

893 784 109 109

25333 777 24556 822 25378

27012 89 27101 1125 28226

1679 866 2545 303 2848
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19 SEGMENT INFORMATION

We operate in two geographic segments the U.S and Canada where we are engaged in the exploration

and production segment of the oil and gas industry Additionally prior to the Crestwood Transaction we

operated in the midstream segment in the U.S where we provided natural gas gathering and processing

services predominantly through KGS Revenue earned by KGS prior to the Crestwood Transaction for the

gathering and processing of our gas have been eliminated on consolidated basis as is the GPT recognized by

our producing properties We evaluate performance based on operating income and property and equipment

costs incurred

Exploration Production
Processing Quicksilver

U.S Canada Gathering Corporate Elimination Consolidated

In thousands

2010

Revenue 788714 126322 87426 74131 928331

DDA 131761 45335 23523 1984 202603

Impairment expense 19386 28611 47997

Operating income loss 841021 16765 12290 82091 787985

Investment in equity affiliates 83341 83341

Property plant and equipment

net 2403039 581775 68389 14642 3067845

Property and equipment costs

incurred 452044 123348 154271 5146 734809

2009

Revenue 634321 188770 99817 90173 832735

DDA 134066 38965 26682 1674 201387

Impairment expense 786867 192673 979540

Operating income loss 500164 81529 46737 78917 613873

Investment in equity affiliates 112763 112763

Property plant and equipment

net 1968430 491528 71264 11623 2542845

Property and equipment costs

incurred 391916 91949 115655 2161 601681

2008

Revenue 600292 187740 78572 65963 800641

DDA 127010 44948 15134 1104 188196

Impairment expense 624315 9200 633515

Operating income 321756 104131 34879 66951 249697

Investment in equity affiliates 150503 150503

Property plant and equipment

net 2716754 550413 20562 11101 3298830

Property and equipment costs

incurred 2173469 138360 265222 7984 2585035

20 SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid received for interest and income taxes is as follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Interest 136459 128217 83400

Income taxes 78083 41267 49433
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Other significant non-cash transactions are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Working capital related to capital expenditures 100587 118294 230624

Issuance of common stock as consideration for

the

Alliance Acquisition 262092

Conveyance of 3619901 BBEP common units

for producing properties 54407

Quicksilver common shares received for

cashless exercise of 34415 stock options 214

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Quicksilver has 401k retirement plan available to all U.S full time employees who are at least

21 years of age We make matching contributions and fixed annual contribution and have the ability to

make discretionary contributions to the plan Expense associated with company contributions was

$2.5 million $2.3 million and $2.4 million for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

We have retirement plan available to all Canadian employees The plan provides for match of

employees contributions by us and fixed annual contribution Expense associated with company

contributions for 2010 2009 and 2008 was $0.8 million for each year

We maintain self-funded health benefit plan that covers all eligible U.S employees The plan has been

reinsured on an individual claim and total group claim basis We are responsible for payment of the first

$75000 for each individual claim and also purchased aggregate level reinsurance for payment of claims up to

$1 million over the estimated maximum claim liability For 2010 2009 and 2008 we recognized expense of

$3.5 million $4.6 million and $4.4 million respectively for this plan

22 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

As of February 16 2011 members of the Darden family and entities controlled by them beneficially own

approximately 32% of our outstanding common stock Thomas Darden Glenn Darden and Anne Darden Self

are officers and directors of Quicksilver

We paid $0.6 million in 2010 $0.7 million in 2009 and $1.9 million in 2008 for rent on buildings owned

by entities controlled by members of the Darden family Rental rates were determined based on comparable

rates charged by third parties In October 2008 we completed the purchase of building located in

Fort Worth Texas for $6.4 million the estimated fair value of the building from an entity controlled by

members of the Darden family Subsequently we entered into property management agreement with an

affiliate of the seller to which we paid $0.1 million in both 2010 and 2009 and $14000 during 2008 Annual

lease payments on the purchased building prior to its acquisition had been $1.1 million

During 2010 2009 and 2008 we paid $0.8 million $0.2 million and $0.9 million for use of an airplane

owned by an entity controlled by members of the Darden family Usage rates were determined based upon

comparable rates charged by third parties

We paid $0.2 million in 2009 primarily for delay rentals under leases for over 5000 acres held by

related entity The lease terms were determined based on comparable prices and terms granted to third parties

with respect to similar leases in the area No payments were made in 2010 or 2008

Payments received in 2010 2009 and 2008 from Mercury for sublease rentals employee insurance

coverage and administrative services were $0.3 million for each year
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In October 2008 we paid $19.9 million for the purchase of 1885600 shares of our common stock from

an entity controlled by members of the Darden family

In May 2008 we signed settlement agreement with Mercury in which Mercury agreed to make

payment of $0.4 million in connection with issues related to the ownership and operation of certain oil and gas

properties acquired from Mercury in 2001 including audit claims received with respect to certain of the

acquired properties and the administration of employee benefits

An entity affiliated with Mercury received $1.4 million commission from the lessor in connection with

office space leased as of August 2010
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SUPPLEMENTAL SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

The following table presents selected quarterly financial data derived from our consolidated financial

statements This summary should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and

related notes also contained in this Item to our Annual Report on Form 10-K

Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

In thousands except per share data

2010 12

Operating revenue 222158 228570 237700 239903

Operating income 75845 108867 65092 538181

Net income 10600 90744 26569 316880

Net income attributable to Quicksilver 8188 86803 21803 318275

Basic net earnings per share 0.05 0.51 0.13 1.87

Diluted net earnings per share 0.05 0.49 0.13 1.77

2009 345

Operating revenue 185932 206041 206657 234105

Operating income loss 825692 10573 103703 97543

Net income loss 567309 20450 2159 34154

Net income loss attributable to

Quicksilver 568979 21762 730 32538

Basic net earnings loss per share 3.37 0.13 0.19

Diluted net earnings loss per share 3.37 0.13 0.19

Operating income for the third quarter of 2010 includes charge of $28.6 for impairment of the

HDCS to net realizable value

Operating income for the fourth quarter of 2010 includes gain on sale of $473.2 million for the

sale of all of our interests in KGS and charge of $19.4 million for the impairment of our Canadian

oil and gas properties

Operating loss for the first quarter of 2009 includes charge of $896.5 million for the impairment of

our U.S and Canadian oil and gas properties Net loss for the first quarter of 2009 also includes

$102.1 million for income attributable to our proportionate ownership of BBEP and charge of

$102.1 million for impairment of the related investment respectively

Operating income for the second quarter of 2009 includes charge of $70.6 million for the

impairment of our Canadian oil and
gas properties Net loss for the second quarter of 2009 also

includes $19.0 million of income attributable to our proportionate ownership of BBEP

Operating income for the fourth quarter of 2009 includes charge of $12.4 million for the

impairment of our Canadian oil and gas properties Net income for the fourth quarter of 2009 also

includes $1.9 million loss attributable to our proportionate ownership of BBEP
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SUPPLEMENTAL OIL AND GAS INFORMATION UNAUDITED

Proved oil and
gas reserves estimates for our properties in the U.S and Canada were prepared by

independent petroleum engineers from Schlumberger Data and Consulting Services and LaRoche Petroleum

Consultants Ltd respectively The reserve reports were prepared in accordance with guidelines established

by the SEC Natural gas NGL and oil prices used in the 2010 and 2009 reserve reports are the unweighted

average of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices as of the date of the reserve reports without

any escalation except in those instances where the sale of production was covered by contract in which case

the applicable contract prices including fixed and determinable escalations were used for the duration of the

contract and thereafter the unweighted 12-month
average price was used The prices used in the 2008 reserve

reports used end-of-year prices adjusted for local differentials and applicable contract prices which conformed

to the SEC guidelines then in effect For all years operating costs production and ad valorem taxes and

future development costs were based on year-end costs with no escalation

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and in projecting

the future rates of production and timing of development expenditures The following reserve data represents

estimates only and should not be construed as being exact Moreover the present values should not be

construed as the current market value of our natural gas and oil reserves or the costs that would be incurred to

obtain equivalent reserves

As required by GAAP we have also included separate disclosure and presentation of our share of BBEPs

proved reserve because we account for BBEP by the equity method
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Consolidated Quicksilver Excluding BBEP Reserves

The changes in our proved reserves for the three years ended December 31 2010 were as follows

December 31 2007

Revisions

Extensions and discoveries

Purchases in place

Sales in place

Production

December 31 2008

Revisions

Extensions and discoveries

Purchases in place

Sales in place

Production

December 31 2009

Revisions

Extensions and discoveries

Purchases in place

Production

December 31 2010

Proved developed reserves

December 31 2008

December 31 2009

December 31 2010

Proved undeveloped reserves

December 31 2008

December 31 2009

December 31 2010

Natural Gas_MMCI
Canada

328381

4923

22363

4196 483

2914

205

165

2010 are 100% attributable to the Barnett Shale of which 40% were proved developed

2009 are 99% attributable to the Barnett Shale of which 42% were proved developed

2008 are 100% attributable to the Barnett Shale of which 49% were proved developed and

Canadian extensions and discoveries for

2010 are 69% attributable to Horn River Basin and 31% are attributable to Horseshoe Canyon

2009 are 53% attributable to Horn River Basin and 47% are attributable to Horseshoe Canyon

and

2008 are 100% attributable to Horseshoe Canyon

Revisions for each period presented reflect upward downward changes in previous estimates

attributable to changes in operating and development costs new information gained primarily from

development drilling activity and production history and changes to development plans Revisions

U.S

662408

171009

560205

299952

Total

990789

166086

582568

299952

27

68128

1639068

96040

472367

3075

106

4194

91927

4178

15487

91935

4171

15487

314

4977

13 98274

4847

13695

425

2859

606

146

NGL MBbl Oil MEbI
U.S Canada Total U.S Canada Total

90055 10 90065 3075

25596 25596 106

31662 31662 428 428

27

45059 23069 483

1306497 332571 2914

28833 67207 206

460214 12153 165

314

120539 44 120583

61619 24420 86039 4975 426

1556034 253053 1809087 98261 2859

13389 1224 12165 4845 606

323713 17309 341022 13695 146

124996 22005 147001

76409 25255 101664 4357 4360 303 303

1941723 265888 2207611 112444 12 112456 3308 3308

756191 278668 1034859 56181 56189 2509 2509

1044140 223300 1267440 60997 13 61010 2467 2467

1312777 242941 1555718 64908 12 64920 2775 2775

550306 53903 604209 35746 35746 405 405

511894 29753 541647 37264 37264 392 392

628946 22947 651893 47536 47536 533 533

Purchases of U.S reserves in place during 2010 and 2008 relate principally to the acquisition of

additional working interest in our company-operated Lake Arlington Project and the Alliance

Transaction respectively These transactions are more fully described in Note to our consolidated

financial statements The 2010 purchase of Canadian reserves in place relates to the acquisition of

additional working interests in company-operated field located in the Horseshoe Canyon

Sales of reserves in place during 2009 relate principally to the Eni Transaction which is more fully

described in Note to our consolidated financial statements

Extensions and discoveries for each period presented represent extensions to reserves attributable to

additional drilling activity subsequent to discovery U.S extensions and discoveries for
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include 73096 MMcfe 132846 MMcfe and 166198 MMcfe for such matters in 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively Revisions also include 117975 MMcfe 251676 MMcfe and 154100 MMcfe

for changes in sales price in 2010 2009 and 2008

The carrying value of our oil and gas assets as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 were as follows

U.S Canada Consolidated

In thousands

2010

Proved properties 3965585 839576 4805161

Unevaluated properties 153880 160663 314543

Accumulated DDA 1796164 478621 2274785

Net capitalized costs 2323301 521618 2844919

2009

Proved properties 3218796 728880 3947676

Unevaluated properties 340707 117330 458037

Accumulated DDA 1670923 396546 2067469

Net capitalized costs 1888580 449664 2338244

2008

Proved properties 3068326 553505 3621831

Unevaluated properties 462943 80590 543533

Accumulated DDA 902281 120475 1022756

Net capitalized costs 2628988 513620 3142608
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Our consolidated capital costs incurred for acquisition exploration and development activities during each

of the three years ended December 31 2010 were as follows

U.S Canada Consolidated

In thousands

2010

Proved acreage 125647 19271 144918

Unproved acreage 44271 827 45098

Development costs 378056 14182 392238

Exploration costs 9385 57896 67281

Total 557359 92176 649535

2009

Proved acreage 118 118

Unproved acreage 11300 2658 13958

Development costs 341658 24179 365837

Exploration costs 32798 59402 92200

Total 385874 86239 472113

2008

Proved acreage 787172 787172

Unproved acreage 484770 54048 538818

Development costs 836032 68629 904661

Exploration costs 30161 10280 40441

Total 2138135 132957 2271092

Consolidated results of operations from our producing activities for each of the three years ended

December 31 2010 are set forth below

U.S Canada Consolidated

In thousands

2010

Natural gas NGL and oil revenue 732456 123893 856349

Operating expense 168164 44836 213000

Depletion depreciation and accretion 125243 38825 164068

Impairment expense 19386 19386

439049 20846 459895

Income tax expense 153667 6045 159712

Results from producing activities 285382 14801 300183

2009

Natural gas NGL and oil revenue 608013 188685 796698

Operating expense 112935 38661 151596

Depletion depreciation and accretion 127888 33783 161671

Impairment expense 786867 192673 979540

419677 76432 496109

Income tax benefit 146887 22165 169052

Results from producing activities 272790 54267 327057
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U.S Canada Consolidated

In thousands

2008

Natural gas NGL and oil revenue 597889 182899 780788

Operating expense 114374 38662 153036

Depletion depreciation and accretion 120845 40337 161182

Impairment expense 624315 624315

261645 103900 157745

Income tax expense benefit 91576 30131 61445

Results from producing activities 170069 73769 96300

The Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows and Changes Therein Relating to Proved

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves Standardized Measure do not purport to present the fair market value of the

our natural gas and oil properties An estimate of such value should consider among other factors anticipated

future prices of natural gas and oil the probability of recoveries in excess of existing proved reserves the

value of probable reserves and acreage prospects estimated future capital and operating costs and perhaps

different discount rates It should be noted that estimates of reserve quantities especially from new

discoveries are inherently imprecise and subject to substantial revision

Under the Standardized Measure future cash inflows for 2010 were estimated by applying the unweighted

average
of the preceding 12-month first-day-of-the-month prices adjusted for contracts with price floors but

excluding hedges and unescalated year-end costs to the estimated future production of the year-end reserves

These prices have varied widely and have significant impact on both the quantities and value of the proved

reserves as reduced prices cause wells to reach the end of their economic life much sooner and also make

certain proved undeveloped locations uneconomical both of which reduce reserves The following

representative prices were used in the Standardized Measure and were adjusted by field for appropriate

regional differentials

At December 31

2010 2009 2008

Natural gas Henry Hub 4.38 3.87 5.71

Natural gas AECO 4.08 3.76 5.44

NGLMont Belvieu Texas 37.56 24.94 21.65

OilWTI Cushing 79.43 61.18 44.60

The prices used for 2008 proved reserve estimates were year-end spot prices which were

previously required by the SEC guidelines then in effect

Future cash inflows were reduced by estimated future production and development costs based on year

end costs to determine pre-tax cash inflows Future income taxes were computed by applying the statutory tax

rate to the excess of pre-tax cash inflows over our tax basis in the associated proved natural gas and oil

properties Tax credits and net operating loss carry forwards were also considered in the future income tax

calculation Future net cash inflows after income taxes were discounted using 10% annual discount rate to

arrive at the Standardized Measure
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The Standardized Measure at December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was as follows

U.S Canada Total

In thousands

December 31 2010

Future revenue 12057094 1047106 13104200

Future production costs 5636375 458187 6094562
Future development costs 1253546 93668 1347214
Future income taxes 1254255 62370 1316625

Future net cash flows 3912918 432881 4345799

10% discount 2377166 182255 2559421

Standardized measure of discounted future

cash flows relating to proved reserves 1535752 250626 1786378

December 31 2009

Future revenue 7787422 916765 8704187

Future production costs 4169783 403874 4573657
Future development costs 938675 93588 1032263
Future income taxes 222576 47125 269701

Future net cash flows 2456388 372178 2828566

10% discount 1492469 153418 1645887

Standardized measure of discounted future

cash flows relating to proved reserves 963919 218760 1182679

December 31 2008

Future revenue 8783936 1764268 10548204

Future production costs 4162737 551395 4714132
Future development costs 1140466 113800 1254266
Future income taxes 504753 215212 719965

Future net cash flows 2975980 883861 3859841

10% discount 1623862 441717 2065579

Standardized measure of discounted future

cash flows relating to proved reserves 1352118 442144 1794262

The primary changes in the Standardized Measure for 2010 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Sales of oil and gas net of production costs 643349 645102 628333
Net changes in price and production cost 1080136 715484 2368940
Extensions and discoveries 274255 561544 1630418

Development costs incurred 208613 205781 373124

Changes in estimated future development costs 341612 81754 413097
Purchase and sale of reserves net 103865 144279 722662

Revision of estimates 182772 248681 618527
Accretion of discount 124644 192325 324064

Net change in income taxes 392275 196691 509854

Timing and other differences 6650 96132 93834

Net increase decrease 603699 611583 374941
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Quicksilvers Share of BBEP Reserves

The following disclosures required under GAAP represent our share of BBEPs reserves and BBEPs oil

and gas operations which are all located in the U.S Note in our consolidated financial statements contains

additional information regarding our relationship with BBEP In addition this Annual Report contains BBEPs

financial statements which are in Item 15 and have been included pursuant to SEC Rule 3-09

The following provides information regarding ownership percentages utilized to apply toward BBEPs

gross reported amounts as applicable

2010 2009 2008

Ownership in BBEP at December 31 29.44% 40.45% 40.56%

Annualized weighted average ownership of BBEP 34.62% 40.45% 40.56%

The changes in our share of BBEPs oil and gas reserves were as follows

For the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Total Gas Oil Total Gas Oil Total Gas Oil

Mboe MMCI MBbI Mboe MMcI MBbl Mboe MMcI MBbI

Beginning balance 45027 175869 15715 42038 189176 10509 45314 160864 18503

Revision of previous estimates 4438 14371 2043 6191 4203 6891 12903 6591 11805

Purchase of reserves in place 515 2943 24 12389 43982 5060

5ale of reserves in place 12652 49363 4424 566 543 476

Production 2319 7357 1093 2636 8561 1209 2762 9079 1249

Ending balance 35009 136463 12265 45027 175869 15715 42038 189176 10509

Proved developed reserves

Beginning balance 40847 161491 13931 38791 175933 9469 40877 145696 16595

Ending balance 31881 122887 11399 40847 161491 13931 38791 175933 9469

Proved undeveloped reserves

Beginning balance 4180 14378 1784 3247 13243 1040 4437 15168 1908

Ending balance 3128 13576 866 4180 14378 1784 3247 13243 1040

The following representative prices were used in BBEPs Standardized Measure

Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Representative prices

Natural gas Henry Hub 4.38 3.87 5.71

OilWTI Cushing 79.40 61.18 44.60

Amounts are included as needed to reconcile Quicksilvers portion of beginning reserves to ending

reserves that result from changes in Quicksilvers proportionate ownership of BBEP

During 2010 capital expenditures of $11.3 million were incurred and 16 wells drilled to convert

922 MMcf of natural gas and 959 MBb1 of oil from proved undeveloped to proved developed

During 2009 capital expenditures of $2.3 million were incurred and 11 wells drilled to convert

196 MMcf of natural gas and 230 MBb1 of oil from proved undeveloped to proved developed

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 no material proved undeveloped reserves have remained

undeveloped for more than five years

The prices used for 2008 proved reserve estimates were year-end spot prices which were previously

required by guidance from the SEC and FASB then in effect
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The following table summarizes the carrying value of our portion of BBEPs consolidated oil and gas

assets as of December 31 2010 and 2009

At December 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Proved properties and related producing assets 551573 698541

Pipeline and processing facilities 43171 55243

Unproved properties 33291 79166

Accumulated depreciation depletion and amortization 122295 130204

Net capitalized costs 505740 702746

The following table summarizes our share of the capital costs incurred by BBEP during the three
years

ended December 31 2010

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Proved properties 580

Unproved properties 996

Development costs 22487 11598 52524

Asset retirement costs 3504 1975 553

Total 27567 13573 53077

The following table summarizes our share of BBEPs results of operations from its producing activities

for each of the three years ended December 31 2010

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Oil natural gas and NGL sales 110003 103126 189560

Gain loss on commodity derivative instruments 12156 20808 134694

Operating costs 49343 56029 65706

Depreciation depletion amortization 34684 42194 72460

Income tax expense benefit 71 618 786

Results from producing activities 38203 15287 185302

The following table summarizes our share of BBEPs Standardized Measure at December 31 2010 2009

and 2008

At December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Future revenues 1500867 1552493 1429072

Future development costs 73954 79983 86369

Future production costs 770940 850917 747884

Future net cash flows 655973 621593 594819

10% discount 342435 314290 354610

Standardized measure of discounted

future

cash flows relating to proved reserves 313538 307303 240209
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The following table summarizes our share of the primary changes in BBEPs Standardized Measure for

2010 2009 and 2008

At December 31

2010 2009 2008

In thousands

Beginning balance 307303 240209 609120

Sales net of production costs 51587 47097 123854

Net changes in sales and transfer prices net of

production expense 90185 88093 529993

Previously estimated development costs incurred 14053 11748 23400

Changes in estimated future development costs 30975 14969 39773

Purchase of reserves in place 493 166538

Sale of reserves in place 83651 2231
Revision of quantity estimates and timing of production 45353 7590 57205

Accretion of discount 22365 23960 77566

Ending balance 313539 307303 240209

Amounts are included as needed to reconcile our portion of beginning value to ending value that

result from changes in our proportionate ownership of BBEP
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ITEM Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants or Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

ITEM 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures as defined in SEC literature are controls and other procedures that

are designed to ensure that the information that we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or

submit to the SEC is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SECs rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to allow timely decisions regarding

required disclosure

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K our management under the

supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer carried

out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as

of December 31 2010

Based on this evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our

disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31 2010

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting as such term is defined in Rules 3a- 5f under the Exchange Act Because of its inherent

limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with existing

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer our management conducted an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Based on this assessment

our management has concluded that as of December 31 2010 our internal control over financial reporting

was effective

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has been

audited by Deloitte Touche LLP our independent registered public accounting firm and they have issued an

attestation report expressing an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reports as stated in their report included herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal

control over financial reporting
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Quicksilver Resources Inc

Fort Worth Texas

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Quicksilver Resources Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting

and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing

the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of

internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision

of the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions

and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records

that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and

directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the

financial statements

Because of the iiTherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not

be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the

internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures

may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31 2010

of the Company and our report dated March 11 2011 an unqualified opinion on those financial statements

Is Deloitte Touche LLP

Fort Worth Texas

March 11 2011

113



ITEM 9B Other Information

None

PART III

ITEM 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information concerning our directors set forth under Corporate Governance Matters in the proxy

statement for our May 18 2011 annual meeting of stockholders 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated

herein by reference The information concerning any changes to the procedure by which security holder

may recommend nominees to the board of directors set forth under Corporate Governance Matters

Committees of the Board in the 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference Certain

information concerning our executive officers is set forth under the heading Business Executive Officers of

the Registrant in Item of this Annual Report The information concerning compliance with Section 16a
of the Exchange Act set forth under Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in the 2011

Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

The information concerning our audit committee set forth under Corporate Governance Matters

Committees of the Board in the 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

The information regarding our Code of Ethics set forth under Corporate Governance Matters Corporate

Governance Principles Processes and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics in the 2011 Proxy Statement is

incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 11 Executive Compensation

The information set forth under Executive Compensation Corporate Governance Matters

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation Corporate Governance Matters Director

Compensation for 2010 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions in our 2011 Proxy Statement is

incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and

Related Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Holders in

the 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference The information regarding our equity plans

under which shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance as set forth under Equity Compensation

Plan Information in the 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information set forth under Certain Relationships and Related Transactions in the 2011 Proxy

Statement is incorporated herein by reference

Information regarding our directors independence set forth under Corporate Governance Matters

Independent Directors in the 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under Independent Registered Public Accountants in the 2011 Proxy

Statement is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15

The following are filed as part of this Annual Report

Financial Statements

See the index to the consolidated financial statements and related footnotes and other supplemental

information included in Item of this Annual Report which identifies the financial statements filed herewith

Financial Statement Schedules

The audited financial statements and related footnotes of BBEP our equity method investment are being

filed in accordance with SEC Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X

The management of BBEP is solely responsible for the form and content of the BBEP financial

statements We have no responsibility for the form or content of the BBEP financial statements since we do

not control BBEP and are not involved in the management of BBEP In addition the consents of

Schlumberger Data and Consulting Services Netherland Sewell Associates and PricewaterhouseCoopers

LLP are filed as exhibits under Item 15 of this Annual Report

All other schedules are omitted from this item because the information is inapplicable or is presented in

the consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item of this Annual Report
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Exhibits

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of July 2008 among Nortex Minerals L.P Petrus

Investment L.P Petrus Development L.P and Perot Investment Partners Ltd as sellers and

Quicksilver Resources Inc as Purchaser filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Form 8-K filed

July 2008 and included herein by reference

2.2 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of July 2008 among Hillwood Oil Gas L.P Burtex

Minerals L.P Chief Resources LP Hiliwood Alliance Operating Company L.P Chief

Resources Alliance Pipelilie LLC Chief Oil Gas LLC Berry Barnett L.P Collins and Young
L.L.C and Mark Rollins as sellers and Quicksilver Resources Inc as Purchaser filed as

Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Form 8-K filed July 2008 and included herein by reference

2.3 Purchase Agreement dated as of July 22 2010 among First Reserve Crestwood Holdings LLC
Cowtown Gas Processing L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P and Quicksilver Resources Inc filed as

Exhibit 2.1 to the Companys Form 8-K filed on July 23 2010 and included herein by reference

2.4 Purchase Agreement Amendment No dated as of September 17 2010 among First Reserve

Crestwood Holdings LLC Cowtown Gas Processing L.P Cowtown Pipeline L.P and Quicksilver

Resources Inc filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Companys Form 10-Q filed on November 2010 and

included herein by reference

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Quicksilver Resources Inc filed with the

Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on May 21 2008 filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Form S-3 File No 333-151847 filed June 23 2008 and included herein by

reference

3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation of Series Junior Participating Preferred

Stock of Quicksilver Resources Inc filed as Exhibit 3.3 to the Companys Form 10-Q filed

May 2006 and included herein by reference

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Quicksilver Resources Inc filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the

Companys Form 8-K filed November 16 2007 and included herein by reference

4.1 Indenture Agreement for 1.875% Convertible Subordinated Debentures Due 2024 dated as of

November 2004 between Quicksilver Resources Inc as Issuer and The Bank of New York

as trustee as successor in interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association filed as

Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Form 8-K filed November 2004 and included herein by

reference

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated July 31 2009 between Quicksilver Resources Inc and The

Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company NA as trustee filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the

Companys Form 10-Q filed August 10 2009 and included herein by reference

4.3 Indenture dated as of December 22 2005 between Quicksilver Resources Inc and The Bank of

New York as trustee as successor in interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association

filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Companys Form S-3 File No 333-130597 filed December 22 2005

and included herein by reference

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 16 2006 among Quicksilver Resources Inc
the subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York as trustee as successor in

interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys
Form 8-K filed March 21 2006 and included herein by reference

4.5 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 31 2006 among Quicksilver Resources Inc
the subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York as trustee as successor in

interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Companys
Form 10-K filed on March 15 2010 and included herein by reference

4.6 Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 26 2006 among Quicksilver Resources

Inc the subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York as trustee as
successor in interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the

Companys Form 10-Q filed November 2006 and included herein by reference

4.7 Fourth Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 31 2007 among Quicksilver Resources Inc
the subsidiary guarantors named therein and The Bank of New York as trustee as successor in

interest to JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Companys
Form 10-K filed on March 15 2010 and included herein by reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

Quicksilver Resources Inc

Dated March 11 2011

By Is Glenn Darden

Glenn Darden

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the following persons on behalf of

the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report below

Is Thomas Darden

Thomas Darden

Chairman of the Board Director March 11 2011

Is Glenn Darden

Glenn Darden

President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer Director

March 11 2011

Is Philip Cook

Philip Cook

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

March 11 2011

Is John Regan

John Regan

Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting

Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

March 11 2011

Is Anne Darden Self

Anne Darden Self

/s/ Byron Dunn

Byron Dunn

Director March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011

Is/ Steven Morris

Steven Morris

Is Yandell Rogers III

Yandell Rogers III

Is Mark Warner

Mark Warner

Director March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011

Director March 11 2011

Signature Title Date
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QUICKSILVER RESOURCES INC

2010 Finding Development and Acquisition Cost

Unaudited

The following schedule reflects reconciliation of 2010 Finding Development and Acquisition

Cost FDA to the information required by Financial Accounting Standards Codification

FASC Topic 932 Extractive Activities Oil Gas FDA cost is calculated by dividing

exploration development exploitation and acquisition capital expenditures for the period

plus asset retirement obligation additions and unevaluated capital expenditures as of the

beginning of the period less unevaluated capital expenditures as of the end of the period by

reserve additions for the period including acquired reserves

2010 FDA Cost Dollars in millions reserves in billions of cubic feet of natural as efluivalent

Total Proved

Proved Developed

Reserves Reserves

Total exploration development exploitation and acquisition

capital expenditures
649.5 649.5

Asset retirement obligation additions 3.9 3.9

Adjustments

Unevaluated costs as of December 31 2009 458.0 458.0

Unevaluated costs as of December 31 2010 314.5 314.5

Adjusted capital expenditures related to reserve additions 796.9 796.9

Reserve extensions discoveries revisions and acquisitions Bcfe 616.0 443.2

Finding development acquisition cost $/Mcfe 1.29 1.80

Management believes that providing measure of FDA cost is useful to assist in an evaluation

of Quicksilvers costs on per thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent Mcfe basis to add

proved reserves However the reader is cautioned that these measures are provided in addition

to and not as an alternative for and should be read in conjunction with the information

contained in Quicksilvers financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP including the

notes thereto The reader is further cautioned that due to various factors including timing

differences FDA cost does not necessarily reflect precisely the cost associated with particular

reserves For example exploration costs may be recorded in periods prior to the period in which

related increases in reserves are recorded and development costs may be recorded in periods

subsequent to the period in which related increases in reserves are recorded In addition changes

in commodity prices can affect the magnitude of recorded increases in reserves independent of

the related costs of such increases

As result of the foregoing factors and various factors that could materially affect the timing and

amounts of future increases in reserves and the timing and amounts of future costs including

factors disclosed in Quicksilvers filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission we

cannot assure you that Quicksilvers future FDA costs will not differ materially from those set

forth above

The methods used by Quicksilver to calculate its FDA cost may differ significantly from

methods used by other companies to compute similar measures As result Quicksilvers FDA
cost may not be comparable to similar measures provided by other companies



Quicksilver Resources Inc

Calculation of 2010 Production Replacement Ratio

The production replacement ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of reserve additions from all sources

extensions discoveries revisions and acquisitions for period by the actual production for the period

Additions to our reserves are proved developed and proved undeveloped reserves We expect to continue

to add to our total proved reserves through these activities but various factors could impede our ability to

do so including factors disclosed in Quicksilvers filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

We use the production replacement ratio as an indicator of our ability to replenish annual production

volumes and grow reserves We believe that production replacement is relevant and useful information that

is commonly used by parties interested in the oil and gas industry as means of evaluating the operational

performance and prospects of entities engaged in the production and sale of depleting natural resources

However the reader is cautioned that the production replacement ratio is statistical indicator that has

limitations As an annual measure the ratio is limited because it typically varies widely based on the extent

and timing of new discoveries and may increase or decrease due to increases or decreases in the prices of

the related commodities Its predictive and comparative value is also limited for the same reasons In

addition since the ratio does not consider the cost or timing of future production of new reserves it cannot

be used as measure of value creation Moreover the ratio does not distinguish between changes in

reserve quantities that are developed and those that will require additional time and funding to develop

Million cubic feet of natural gas equivalents

Reserve additions

Extensions discoveries revisions 468951

Acquisitions 147001

Total additions 615.952

Production 129642

Production replacement 4i%

Quicksilver Resources Inc

Calculation of Total Debt per Proved Reserve

As of December 31 2010

Debt in thousands

Current portion of long-term debt 143478

Long-term debt 1746716
Total debt 1890.194

Total reserves MMcfe 2902195

Total debt per Mcfe 0.65
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